NEW MILFORD BOARD OF EDUCATION

Focus

New Milford Public Schools @
25 Sunny Valley Road, Suite A
New Milford, Connecticut 06776
aae
BOARD OF EDUCATION e
MEETING NOTICE
) B
DATE: November 18, 2025 = = L/
TIME: 6:30 P.M. = .. -
PLACE: Sarah Noble Intermediate School — Library Media Center ‘
o
AGENDA = -,
New Milford Public Schools Mission Statement S & i
‘o

The mission of the New Milford Public Schools, a collaborative partnership of students,
educators, family, and community, is to prepare each and every student to compete and
excel in an ever-changing world, embrace challenges with vigor, respect and appreciate the
worth of every human being, and contribute to society by providing effective instruction
and dynamic curriculum, offering a wide range of valuable experiences, and inspiring
students to pursue their dreams and aspirations.

1. CALL TO ORDER
A. Pledge of Allegiance

2. PUBLIC COMMENT

An individual may address the Board concerning any item on the agenda for the meeting subject to the

following provisions:

A. A three-minute time limit may be allocated to each speaker with a maximum of twenty minutes
being set aside per meeting. The Board may, by a majority vote, cancel or adjust these time limits.

B. If a member of the public comments about the performance of an employee or a Board member,
whether positive, negative, or neutral, and whether named or not, the Board shall not respond to
such comments unless the topic is an explicit item on the agenda and the employee or the Board
member has been provided with the requisite notice and due process required by law. Similarly, in
accordance with federal law pertaining to student confidentiality, the Board shall not respond to or
otherwise discuss any comments that might be made pertaining to students.

PTO REPORT

STUDENT REPRESENTATIVES’ REPORT

5. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
A. Approval of the following Board of Education Meeting Minutes:

1. Regular Meeting Minutes October 21, 2025

P

6. SUPERINTENDENT’S REPORT
7. BOARD CHAIRPERSON’S REPORT

8. SUBCOMMITTEE REPORTS
A. Policy
B. Committee on Learning
C. Facilities
D. Operations
9. DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION
A. Monthly Reports
1. Budget Position dated October 31, 2025
2. Purchase Resolution D-800
3. Request for Budget Transfers



B. Policy Revisions for First Read:

1. 1105
2. 4111.

4211.
3. 4118.

4218.
4. 5000
5. 5145.
6. 9125

Non-Discrimination (Community)

1 Non-Discrimination (Personnel)
1
113 Prohibition of Sex Discrimination and Sexual Harassment (Personnel)
113 '
Non-Discrimination (Students)
7 Prohibition of Sex Discrimination and Sexual Harassment (Students)
Attorney

C. New Milford Representatives to Shepaug Agriscience

D. Leave of Absence Request: Michelle Mott Saldana, paraeducator at Hill and Plain School, until
February 18, 2026 for medical reasons.

E. Leave of Absence Request: Alyson Drahota, paraeducator at the Litchfield Hills Transition Center,
until January 10, 2026, for medical reasons.

10. ITEMS OF INFORMATION

A.

B.

C.

m o

™

ZEE R TEQ

1105 R
4111.1 R
4211.1 R
4118.113 R

4218.113 R
5000 R
5145.7R

9125R

Administrative Regulations Regarding Non-Discrimination (Community)
Administrative Regulations Regarding Non-Discrimination (Personnel)

Administrative Regulations Regarding Prohibition of Sex Discrimination and
Sexual

Harassment (Personnel)

Administrative Regulations Regarding Non-Discrimination (Students)
Administrative Regulations Regarding Sex Discrimination and Sexual Harassment
(Students)

Administrative Regulations Regarding Selection and Appointment of Board
Council

Update on Transportation

2024-2025 Student Performance
RFP’s for Facilities projects
Northville Elementary School Roof
Employment Report - November 2025
Enrollment Report - November 2025

. November Fundraising Report

Field trip Report

11. ADJOURN



New Milford Board of Education
Meeting Motions and Minutes

October 21,

2025 RECEIVED

Sarah Noble Intermediate School Library Media Center TOWS 1 Faw Op

Present:

Mrs. Leslie Sarich, Chairperson

Mr. Eric Hansell, Vice Chairperson
Mrs. Tammy Mclnerney, Secretary
Mrs. Sarah Herring, Assistant Secretary
Mr. Dean Barile arrived 6:39pm

Mrs. Wendy Faulenbach

Mr. Brian McCauley

Mr. Tom O’Brien

Absent:

Mr. Randall Scofield

Also Present:

Dr. Janet Parlato, Superintendent of Schools

Mr. Jeffrey Turner, Director of Technology

Mr. Anthony Giovannone, Director of Fiscal Services and Operations
Mr. Matthew Cunningham, Director of Facilities

Dr. Kimberly Culkin, Director of Student Services

Ms. Penelope Morrissey, Student Representative

Mr. Mark Porter, Student Representative

1. Call to Order Call to Order
A. | Pledge of Allegiance A. Pledge of Allegiance
The meeting of the New Milford Board of
Education was called to order at 6:30 p.m. by Mrs.
Leslie Sarich, Chairperson. The Pledge of
Allegiance immediately followed the call to order.
Dr. Parlato called for a moment of silence for two
members of the New Milford Public School’s
community. Noelia Camacho, a 12th grade student
at New Milford High School, and Carlton Ryder, a
PE teacher for nearly 40 years.
2 A. | Public Comment Public Comment
There was none.
3. IDEAL STUDENT RECOGNITION: IDEAL STUDENT
HAGHTICOKE MIDDLE SCHOOL RECOGNITION:
SCHAGHTICOKE MIDDLE
Dr. Parlato stated the Ideal Student Recognition SCHOOL
award is given to those that operate with focus,




New Milford Board of Education

Meeting Motions and Minutes

October 21, 2025

Sarah Noble Intermediate School Library Media Center

heart, creativity, and collaboration. Dr. Parlato
thanked and distributed awards to each recognized
student:

Emma Herrera
Jeremy Torres-Pulla
Maggie McQueen
Isabella Espino
Ashley Brambhall
Matias Campoverde-Zarate
Sarah Muckerman
Lucinda Chapman
Avery Gray

Pamela Porowski
Stella DeGregorio
Eiryn Zeller

4. PTO REPORT
There was none.

PTO REPORT

5. STUDENT REPRESENTATIVE’S REPORT
Ms. Morrissey stated there was no update from
Northville Elementary School.

Mr. Porter stated Hill and Plain Elementary School
had an all school assembly to show the students core
values. They had their 3rd annual Spooky Reading
Night which included math games. The school
garden has been doing extremely well. Hill & Plain
wanted to thank the Litchfield Hills Transition
Center for collecting plastic that was turned into a
bench. Principal Calabrese has been doing a
read-aloud every week for the students. There was
no update from Sarah Noble Intermediate School.

Ms. Morrissey stated that Schaghticoke Middle
School had a presentation on healthy friendship.
They were visited by Abbot Tech, Shepaug Valley
School, and the National Honor Society (NHS) to
learn about opportunities for high school. The 7th
grade went to the Beardsley Zoo and the 8th grade
went to the Litchfield Historical Society.

STUDENT
REPRESENTATIVE’S
REPORT




New Milford Board of Education

Meeting Motions and Minutes

October 21, 2025

Sarah Noble Intermediate School Library Media Center

The NHS at New Mllford High School has 83 new
members. The NHS students tutor fellow students
and volunteer at food banks. Juniors and seniors
attended a college and career fair at the University
of New Haven. Field hockey and soccer are
advancing to the semi-finals. The Math Honor
Society inducted its newest members. Students took
the PSAT’s last week.

6. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
Approval of the following Board of Education
Meeting Minutes:

1. Regular Meeting Minutes September 16,
2025

Mrs. Herring moved to approve the Regular
Meeting Minutes, September 16, 2025. Seconded by
Mr. McCauley. Motion passed unanimously.

APPROVAL OF MINUTES
A. Approval of the following
Board of Education
Meeting Minutes:
1. Regular Meeting
Minutes September 16,
2025

Motion made and passed to
approve the Regular Meeting
Minutes, September 16, 2025.
Motion passed.

7. SUPERINTENDENT’S REPORT

Dr. Parlato stated October is one of her favorite
months of the school year. All the planning that is
done over the summer comes into full view. The
district is now using Bookworms and is in its third
year of a new math program. High impact
instructional strategies have been implemented.
Everything works to support student learning and
create consistency across the district.

SUPERINTENDENT’S
REPORT

8. BOARD CHAIRPERSON’S REPORT

Mrs. Sarich stated the Capital Reserve withdrawal
has been completed. Mrs. Sarich stated the Board
and district send their condolences to the friends and
family of those recently lost.

BOARD CHAIRPERSON’S
REPORT

9. SUBCOMMITTEE REPORT’S

A. Policy
Mrs. Mclnerney stated there were no policies on the
agenda and the October meeting was cancelled.

B. Committee on Learning

SUBCOMMITTEE REPORT’S
A. Policy
B. Committee on Learning
C. Facilities
D. Operations




New Milford Board of Education

Meeting Motions and Minutes

October 21, 2025

Sarah Noble Intermediate School Library Media Center

Mrs. Herring stated there are 15 course proposals to
review. Mrs. Herring thanked administrators for
continually thinking outside the box to meet
students' needs. Dr. Parlato added that the changes
being made do not require additional staff.

C. Facilities
Mr. O’Brien stated Mr. Cunningham will update the
Board on projects. There was not much to report
since the October meeting was cancelled.

D. Operations
Mrs. Faulenbach stated the reports would be
reviewed in the meeting. The October meeting was
cancelled so the Board could attend the town
meeting.

10.

DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION

Monthly Reports
1. Budget Position dated September 16, 2025
2. Purchase Resolution: D-799
3. Request for Budget Transfers

Mrs. Faulenbach asked if the Capital Reserve
account reflects the dollar amount approved. Mr.
Giovannone stated no, it will be reflected in the
November report. Mrs. Faulenbach noted the turf
field account has to be updated to reflect the
$100,000 deposit, which should be matched by the
town. Once that is complete the account will be close
to $1,100,000. Mr. Giovannone stated that it will be
updated after the January audit.

Mrs. Faulenbach asked how the ESG revenue line is
adjusted. Mr. Giovannone stated the savings from
electricity and oil will fall to the bottom line. We
don’t have an offsetting revenue. Whatever we don’t
pay to any vendor that provides the commodity, the
balance falls to the bottom line and is used to pay the
Bank of America payment each year in December.

DISCUSSION AND
POSSIBLE ACTION
A. Monthly Reports
1. Budget Position dated
September 16, 2025
2. Purchase Resolution:
D-799
3. Request for Budget
Transfers




New Milford Board of Education

Meeting Motions and Minutes

October 21, 2025

Sarah Noble Intermediate School Library Media Center

Mrs. Faulenbach stated the budget transfer savings is
great but questioned when it was discussed by the
Board. Dr. Parlato stated it was discussed over the
summer. The rate the state set for Agriscience tuition
came in lower than expected, and that savings will be
used towards the architectural and engineering study
for the NMHS culinary program.

Mrs. Faulenbach asked how athletic transportation
invoices are different from actual anticipated athletic
transportation. Mr. Giovannone stated those have
already occurred and they had to sub out Allstar
because they could not fulfill those runs. There’s
anticipated payments as well for Liberty. It’s the
same service, but different vendors. Some of
Liberty’s billing has been delayed. Allstar may be
able to provide transportation for the remainder of
the year and athletic trips are not encumbered.

Mr. Barile asked where the money goes if it’s not
used. Mr. Giovannone stated it falls to the bottom

line.

Mr. McCauley moved to approve the Budget Position | Moton made to approve the

dated September 16, 2025, Purchase Resolution Budget Position dated September
D-799; and Request for Budget Transfers. Seconded | 16, 2025; Revised Purchase
by Mr. Hansell. Motion passed unanimously. Resolution D-799; and Request

for Budget Transfers. Motion
passed unanimously.

Course Proposals B. Course Proposals

B. 1. Intro to Career Readiness
2. Draft and Design 2 1. glet;':)“:ltlsiareer
3. Intro to Drafting and Design 2. Draft and Design 2
4, AP Business with Personal Finance 3. Intro to Drafting and
5. EC.E-Human Geography - SCSU Design
6. sze'fsmp 4. AP Business with
7. Summft Math I1I Personal Finance
8. Summit Health and Wellness 5. ECE-Human
9. Summit English III: Identity,

Geography - SCSU

Society and Capstone




New Milford Board of Education

Meeting Motions and Minutes

October 21, 2025

Sarah Noble Intermediate School Library Media Center

Mrs. Herring moved to approve the the following
course proposals: Intro to Career Readiness, Draft
and Design 2, Intro to Drafting and Design, AP
Business with Personal Finance, ECE-Human
Geography - SCSU, Citizenship, Summit Math I1I,
Summit Health and Wellness, Summit English 111:
Identity, Society and Capstone, Math Lab,
Explorations in Physical Science 1 and 2, Nets and
Recreational Games, Group Fitness, Yoga and
Pilates and Team Sports. Seconded by Mr. Barile.
Motion passed unanimously.

Leave of Absence Request: Ms. Vilma Alonso,
C. | NMHS secretary, from October 14 through the
end of the 2025-26 school year for personal
reasons.

6
10. Math Lab 6. Citizenship
11. Explorations in Physical Science 1 7. Summit Math III
and 2 8. Summit Health and

12.  Nets and Recreational Games Wellness
13.  Group Fitness 9. Summit English III:
14.  Yoga and Pilates Identity, Society and
15.  Team Sports Capstone

10. Math Lab

11. Explorations in Physical
Science 1 and 2

12. Nets and Recreational
Games

13. Group Fitness

14. Yoga and Pilates

15. Team Sports

Motion made and passed to
approve the following course
proposals: Intro to Career
Readiness, Draft and Design 2,
Intro to Drafting and Design, AP
Business with Personal Finance,
ECE-Human Geography - SCSU,
Citizenship, Summit Math III,
Summit Health and Wellness,
Summit English III: Identity,
Society and Capstone, Math Lab,
Explorations in Physical Science
1 and 2, Nets and Recreational
Games, Group Fitness, Yoga and
Pilates and Team Sports. Motion
passed unanimously.

C. Leave of Absence Request:
Ms. Vilma Alonso, NMHS
secretary, from October 14
through the end of the 2025-26
school year for personal
reasons.




New Milford Board of Education

Meeting Motions and Minutes

October 21, 2025

Sarah Noble Intermediate School Library Media Center

Mpr. O’Brien moved to approve the Leave of Absence
Request for Ms. Vilma Alonso, NMHS secretary, from
October 14 through the end of the 2025-26 school
year for personal reasons. Seconded by Mr.
McCauley. Motion passed unanimously.

Moton made to approve the
Leave of Absence Request for
Ms. Vilma Alonso, NMHS
secretary, from October 14
through the end of the 2025-26
school year for personal reasons.
Motion passed unanimously.

11.

ITEMS OF INFORMATION

Registration and Residency Update

Dr. Parlato stated they added a secretarial position
for the 25/26 school year. The position is meant to
streamline and standardize the registration process.
Having one person input info into the state reporting
system will ensure cleaner data. The position also
determines if someone's address needs to be
updated. This secretary does research and initial
steps in residency investigation by looking at
property transfers, etc. This year all incoming 6th
grade families had to resubmit proof of residency.

Mrs. Faulenbach asked what proof needed to be
provided. Dr. Parlato stated it needed to be a utility
bill and mortgage statement or rental agreement.

Mrs. Sarich suggested having incoming 3rd grade
families have to re-register as well. Dr. Parlato
stated the person began in August and they did not
have the time to expand beyond 6th grade. Now that
they are fully onboard it will be expanded. Mrs.
Sarich asked who was monitoring the Danbury city
bus that stops in front of the high school. Dr. Parlato
stated they have an administrator there checking
names as they get off the bus.

Mrs. Sarich asked how the 6th grade families
responded to the re-registration process. Dr. Parlato
stated it went very well.

ITEMS OF INFORMATION
A. Registration and
Residency Update




New Milford Board of Education

Meeting Motions and Minutes

October 21, 2025

Sarah Noble Intermediate School Library Media Center

Mrs. Sarich asked what the district does now that
there aren’t as many hard copy mailings that get
returned, a clear indicator someone has moved. Dr.
Parlato stated they look at property transfers. Mrs.
Mclnermey asked how many mailings go out. Dr.
Parlato stated there are still a few mailings a year.
Mr. Barile suggested having all families in the
district submit proof of residency. Dr. Parlato stated
they are not doing it for every grade as it would be a
giant task.

Mrs. Faulenbach asked what percentage of kids
were not residents. Dr. Parlato stated there were
some that had to be investigated. Mrs. Faulenbach
asked if the job is quantified. Dr. Parlato stated it is.
It is % registration and the other % supports Ms.
Hollander’s office. It is also avoidance and the data
is cleaner.

B. | Pathways Explorations at SMS

Dr. Parlato stated that a STEM teacher at the middle
school resigned. It’s a position that is hard to hire
for, so they had to pivot and create a course called
Pathways Explorations. This course enables the
district to hire a school counselor to teach the course
and school counselors are in more abundance. This
helps ensure kids are not in study halls. They will
try and recruit for STEM. Mrs. Herring asked if it
was a graded class. Dr. Parlato stated yes.

C. | Facilities Ongoing Projects

Mr. Cunningham reviewed the various facilities
projects, which includes RFPs for Central Office
spaces, locations at the high school for a culinary
program, swapping out for pressurized fire hydrants
at Northville, and the replacement of the tennis
courts at the high school.

Mrs. Sarich asked if the district was going to replace
the tennis courts without assistance from the town.
Mr. Cunningham stated they were. Mrs. Sarich
asked if they would be locked when not in use by

B. Pathways Explorations
at SMS

C. Facilities Ongoing
Projects

10




New Milford Board of Education

Meeting Motions and Minutes

October 21, 2025

Sarah Noble Intermediate School Library Media Center

the school. Dr. Parlato stated that would have to be
discussed.

Mr. O’Brien asked if there was a location identified
for the culinary program. Mr. Cunningham stated it
is still being looked into. Utility access, egress and
other factors have to be considered. Mr. O’Brien
stated he is happy to hear the project is moving
along, Mrs. Herring agreed.

D. | Employment Report - October 2025 D. Employment Report -
Mrs. Herring asked how many positions are open for October 2025

para professionals and student care workers, and if it
is affecting the student’s IEP’s and 504’s. Dr. Parlato
replied that the staff is doing their best and the
students with significant disabilities are covered. Dr.
Culkin added that they are working with staffing
agencies to fill vacancies. There has been an influx
of applicants over the last few weeks. Mrs. Herring
asked how many they were short. Dr. Culkin stated
she would send it to the Board.

Mrs. Herring asked if the position for the language
teacher had been filled. Dr. Parlato stated that it has
been filled but they are starting later so it will be
reflected on the November report.

Mrs. McInerney commented on the woodworking
teacher resigning and how it is a difficult position to
fill. Mrs. McInemey asked what will happen since
the course has already started. Dr. Parlato stated she
is able to hold the teacher for 30 days so the students
currently in class will receive a half credit. The
projects can be done with a substitute, but they are
working on finding a replacement. The position is
currently posted. Mrs. Mclnerney noted it is a hard
area to find a teacher with such a skill set since they
can make more money elsewhere. It is important to
provide opportunities for students to do things with
their hands.

11




New Milford Board of Education

Meeting Motions and Minutes

October 21, 2025

Sarah Noble Intermediate School Library Media Center

10

Mr. Barile asked what the specific qualifications are,
and if it can be a non-certified position. Mrs.
MclInerney stated a teacher has to be certified. Dr.
Parlato stated it can be taught by someone who is
familiar with wood working as long as a certified
teacher oversees the work and it has to be the right
certification. Someone who is not certified can do
up to 20 hours but has to be attached to a certified
teacher.

Mrs. Faulenbach asked Mr. Giovannone if filling the
school nurse position would be a savings over a
contractual service. Mr. Giovannone stated yes.

Enrollment Report - October 2025

Dr. Parlato stated October is the gold standard. The
projections are still good even though they’re older
and the change in the starting age for Kindergarten
has had an effect on the numbers. Mrs. McInerney
asked if the high school numbers include the
students who may go off to Shepaug or Abbot Tech.
Dr. Parlato stated no.

Mrs. Faulenbach stated it is a good time to do a new
enrollment study. Dr. Parlato stated they looked into
it last year but the bids came back with a wide range
of prices and they decided to hold off on doing one.
Mrs. Herring asked if the bids included the company
that did the previous enrollment study. Mr.
Giovannone stated no, they did not submit for the
RFP.

October Fundraising Report
No discussion.

Field trip Report
No discussion.

E. Enrollment Report -
October 2025

F. October Fundraising
Report

G. Field trip Report

12.

DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION

DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE
ACTION

12




New Milford Board of Education

Meeting Motions and Minutes

October 21, 2025

Sarah Noble Intermediate School Library Media Center

11

Discussion and possible action regarding
ratification of successor collective bargaining
agreement between the New Milford Board of
Education and New Milford School
Administrators Association. Executive session
anticipated.

Mprs. Sarich moved that the Board enter into
executive session for the purpose of review and
consideration of the proposed successor collective
bargaining agreement between the New Milford
Board of Education and the New Milford School
Administrators Association and that the Board
further invite into the executive session
Superintendent Parlato and Anthony Giovannone,
Director of Fiscal Services and Operations.
Seconded by Mrs. Faulenbach. Motion passed
unanimously.

The Board entered Executive Session at 7:33pm.

The Board returned from Executive Session at
7:51pm.

Mprs. Sarich moved that the Board ratify the
proposed successor collective bargaining agreement
between the New Milford Board of Education and
the New Milford School Administrators Association
and authorize the Board Chairperson to execute
such collective bargaining agreement subject to any
necessary legal review and non-substantive changes.
Seconded by Mrs. Faulenbach. Motion passed
unanimously.

Discussion and possible action
regarding ratification of
successor collective bargaining
agreement between the New
Milford Board of Education and
New Milford School
Administrators Association.
Executive session anticipated.

Motion made and approved that
the Board enter into executive
session for the purpose of review
and consideration of the proposed
successor collective bargaining
agreement between the New
Milford Board of Education and
the New Milford School
Administrators Association and
that the Board further invite into
the executive session
Superintendent Parlato and
Anthony Giovannone, Director of
Fiscal Services and Operations.
Motion passed unanimously.

Motion made to approve that the
Board ratify the proposed
successor collective bargaining
agreement between the New
Milford Board of Education and
the New Milford School
Administrators Association and
authorize the Board Chairperson
to execute such collective
bargaining agreement subject to
any necessary legal review and
non-substantive changes. Motion
passed unanimously.

13.

DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION

DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE
ACTION

13




New Milford Board of Education

Meeting Motions and Minutes

October 21, 2025

Sarah Noble Intermediate School Library Media Center

12

Discussion and possible action regarding
ratification of successor collective bargaining
agreement between the New Milford Board of
Education and New Milford Board of Education
Nurses Local 1303-154 of Council 4 AFSCME,
AFL-CIO and proposed memoranda of
agreement between the Board and Union relating
to the same. Executive session anticipated.

Mrs. Sarich moved that the Board enter into
executive session for the purpose of review and
consideration of the proposed successor collective
bargaining agreement between the New Milford
Board of Education and the New Milford Board of
Education Nurses Local 1303-154 of Council 4
AFSCME, AFL-CIO and proposed memoranda of
agreement between the Board and the Union
relating to the same and that the Board further invite
into the executive session Superintendent Parlato
and Mr. Anthony Giovannone, Director of Fiscal
Services and Operations. Seconded by Mr. Hansell.
Motion passed unanimously.

The Board entered Executive Session at 7:52pm.

The Board returned from Executive Session at
8:03pm.

Mprs. Sarich moved that the Board ratify the
proposed successor collective bargaining agreement
between the New Milford Board of Education and
New Milford Board of Education Nurses Local
1303-154 of Council 4 AFSCME, AFL-CIO and
authorize the Board Chairperson to execute such
collective bargaining agreement subject to any

Discussion and possible action
regarding ratification of
successor collective bargaining
agreement between the New
Milford Board of Education and
New Milford Board of
Education Nurses Local
1303-154 of Council 4
AFSCME, AFL-CIO and
proposed memoranda of
agreement between the Board
and Union relating to the same.
Executive session anticipated.

Motion made to approve that the
Board enter into executive session
for the purpose of review and
consideration of the proposed
successor collective bargaining
agreement between the New
Milford Board of Education and
the New Milford Board of
Education Nurses Local 1303-154
of Council 4 AFSCME, AFL-CIO
and proposed memoranda of
agreement between the Board and
the Union relating to the same and
that the Board further invite into
the executive session
Superintendent Parlato and Mr.
Anthony Giovannone, Director of
Fiscal Services and Operations.
Motion passed unanimously.

Motion made to approve that the
Board ratify the proposed
successor collective bargaining
agreement between the New
Milford Board of Education and
New Milford Board of Education
Nurses Local 1303-154 of Council
4 AFSCME, AFL-CIO and

14




New Milford Board of Education

Meeting Motions and Minutes

October 21, 2025

Sarah Noble Intermediate School Library Media Center

13

Seconded by Mr. Barile. Motion passed
unanimously.

Mrs. Sarich moved that the Board approve the
proposed memoranda of agreement between the
New Milford Board of Education and New Milford
Board of Education Nurses Local 1303-154 of
Council 4 AFSCME, AFL-CIO and authorize the
Board Chairperson to execute such memoranda of
understanding subject to any necessary legal review
and non-substantive changes. Seconded by Mr.
O’Brien. Motion passed unanimously.

necessary legal review and non-substantive changes.

authorize the Board Chairperson
to execute such collective
bargaining agreement subject to
any necessary legal review and
non-substantive changes. Motion
passed unanimously.

Motion made to approve that the
Board approve the proposed
memoranda of agreement between
the New Milford Board of
Education and New Milford
Board of Education Nurses Local
1303-154 of Council 4 AFSCME,
AFL-CIO and authorize the Board
Chairperson to execute such
memoranda of understanding
subject to any necessary legal
review and non-substantive
changes. Motion passed
unanimously.

14. ADJOURN

Mprs. Faulenbach moved to adjourn the meeting at
8:04 p.m. Seconded by Mr. Hansell. Vote passed
unanimously.

ADJOURN

Motion made to adjourn the
meeting at 8:04 p.m. Motion
passed unanimously.

Respectfully Submitted,

Mrs. Tammy Mclnemey
Secretary
New Milford Board of Education

15




BUDGET POSITION DATED 10/31/25

AGENDA ITEM 3A-1
NOVEMBER 2025 MEETING

RANGE [MAJOR OBJECT CODE DESCRIPTION ORIGINAL BUDGET| TRANSFERS| REVISED BUDGET| YTD ACTUAL| ENCUMBRANCES|  BALANCE| % USED
100'S  [SALARIES - CERTIFIED 33,811,945 0 33,811,945 7,398,841 25,848,746 564,359 98.33%
100'S  |SALARIES - NON CERTIFIED 11,041,245 0 11,041,245 3,028,579 5,917,287 2,095,379 81.02%
200'S  |BENEFITS 13,426,487 0 13,426,487 6,730,097 5,352,210 1,344,179 89.99%
300'S |PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 4,447,179 30,000 4,477,179 1,264,429 1,809,021 1,403,729 |  68.65%
400'S  |PROPERTY SERVICES 1,003,348 0 1,003,348 349,229 249,179 404,940 |  59.64%
500'S |OTHER SERVICES 12,302,511 -30,000 12,272,511 2,704,136 8,622,589 945,786 |  92.29%
600'S |SUPPLIES 2,956,759 0 2,956,759 847,197 1,396,479 713,083 | 75.88%
700'S  |CAPITAL 97,216 0 97,216 49,240 14,452 33,524 | 65.52%
800'S |DUES AND FEES 98,510 0 98,510 52,686 5,633 40,191| 59.20%
900'S |REVENUE -2,852,613 0 -2,852,613 -69,850 0 -2,782,763|  2.45%
GRAND TOTAL 76,332,587 0 76,332,587] 22,354,584 49,215,597|  4,762,406] 93.76%
SALARIES - NON CERTIFIED BREAKOUT
OBJECT [ACCOUNT DESCRIPTION ORIGINAL BUDGET| TRANSFERS| REVISED BUDGET| YTD ACTUAL| ENCUMBRANCES|  BALANCE[ % USED
51180 |SALARIES - NON CERT - STIPENDS 577,620 0 577,620 6,470 0 571,150, 1.12%
51201 |SALARIES - NON CERT - PARA EDUCATORS 2,325,860 0 2,325,860 551,837 1,678,338 95,685 95.89%
51202 |SALARIES - NON CERT - SUBSTITUTES 1,056,108 0 1,056,108 351,506 0 704,602  33.28%
51210 |SALARIES - NON CERT - SECRETARY 2,557,666 0 2,557,666 762,036 1,545,038 250,592| 90.20%
51225 |SALARIES - NON CERT - TUTORS 154,755 0 154,755 21,067 0 133,688 13.61%
51240 |SALARIES - NON CERT - CUSTODIAL 2,130,677 0 2,130,677 721,708 1,408,969 0| 100.00%
51250 |SALARIES - NON CERT - MAINTENANCE 1,063,194 0 1,063,194 341,712 666,465 55,017  94.83%
51285 |SALARIES - NON CERT - TECHNOLOGY 566,189 0 566,189 155,844 359,590 50,756] 91.04%
51336 |SALARIES - NON CERT - NURSES 609,176 0 609,176 116,399 258,888 233,889  61.61%
TOTAL 11,041,245 0 11,041,245 3,028,579 5,917,287 2,095,379 81.02%
BENEFIT BREAKOUT
OBJECT [ACCOUNT DESCRIPTION ORIGINAL BUDGET| TRANSFERS| REVISED BUDGET| YTD ACTUAL| ENCUMBRANCES|  BALANCE| % USED
52200 |BENEFITS - FICA 641,382 0 641,382 189,912 0 451,470]  29.61%
52201 |BENEFITS - MEDICARE 608,966 0 608,966 145,809 0 463,157| 23.94%
52300 |BENEFITS - PENSION 1,320,333 0 1,320,333 1,320,333 0 0| 100.00%
52600 |BENEFITS - UNEMPLOYMENT COMP 35,000 0 35,000 21,545 13,455 0| 100.00%
52810 |BENEFITS - HEALTH INSURANCE 10,147,190 0 10,147,190 4,762,014 4,978,461 406,715/  95.99%
52820 |BENEFITS - DISABILITY INSURANCE 105,000 0 105,000 40,201 59,812 4,987|  95.25%
52830 |BENEFITS - LIFE INSURANCE 144,000 0 144,000 45,860 96,464 1,676] 98.84%
52900 |BENEFITS - OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 424,616 0 424,616 204,424 204,017 16,174 96.19%
TOTAL 13,426,487 0 13,426,487 6,730,097 5,352,210  1,344,179] 89.99%

16




AGENDA ITEM 3A-1
NOVEMBER 2025 MEETING

BUDGET POSITION DATED 10/31/25

EXPENDITURES

OBJECT |[ACCOUNT DESCRIPTION ORIGINAL BUDGET| TRANSFERS| REVISED BUDGET| YTD ACTUAL| ENCUMBRANCES BALANCE| % USED
51110 | CERTIFIED SALARIES 33,811,945 0 33,811,945 7,398,841 25,848,746 564,359 98.33%
51200 | NON-CERTIFIED SALARIES 11,041,245 0 11,041,245 3,028,579 5,917,287 2,095,379 81.02%
52000 | BENEFITS 13,426,487 0 13,426,487 6,730,097 5,352,210 1,344,179 89.99%
53010 | LEGAL SERVICES 285,478 0 285,478 7,168 0 278,310 2.51%
53050 | CURRICULUM DEVELOPMENT 80,000 0 80,000 25,563 1,400 53,037 33.70%
53200 | PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 2,291,248 0 2,291,248 765,923 761,844 763,482 66.68%
53201 | MEDICAL SERVICES - SPORTS 2,700 0 2,700 997 0 1,703 36.92%
53210 | TIME & ATTENDANCE SOFTWARE 7,500 0 7,500 394 4,606 2,500 66.67%
53220 | IN SERVICE 149,150 0 149,150 2,974 1,412 144,764 2.94%
53230 | PUPIL SERVICES 801,857 0 801,857 181,238 618,795 1,823 99.77%
53300 | OTHER PROF/ TECH SERVICES 73,792 30,000 103,792 28,180 11,263 64,350 38.00%
53310 | AUDIT/ACCOUNTING 48,000 0 48,000 48,000 0 0| 100.00%
53500 | TECHNICAL SERVICES 264,475 0 264,475 110,141 60,574 93,760 64.55%
53530 | SECURITY SERVICES 321,993 0 321,993 16,580 305,413 0| 100.00%
53540 | SPORTS OFFICIALS SERVICES 120,986 0 120,986 77,271 43,715 0| 100.00%
54101 | CONTRACTUAL TRASH PICK UP 87,288 0 87,288 26,777 45,963 14,548 83.33%
54301 | REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 505,667 0 505,667 186,981 74,837 243,849 51.78%
54303 | GROUNDS MAINTENANCE 12,200 0 12,200 3,831 2,107 6,261 48.68%
54310 | GENERAL REPAIRS 44,970 0 44,970 31,171 3,544 10,254 77.20%
54320 | TECHNOLOGY RELATED REPAIRS 66,021 0 66,021 13,423 497 52,101 21.08%
54411 | WATER 66,830 0 66,830 15,583 48,414 2,833 95.76%
54412 | SEWER 19,949 0 19,949 12,723 7,226 0| 100.00%
54420 | LEASE/RENTAL EQUIP/VEH 200,423 0 200,423 58,740 66,590 75,093 62.53%
55100 | PUPIL TRANSPORTATION - OTHER 198,700 0 198,700 73,756 45,704 79,240 60.12%
55101 | PUPIL TRANS - FIELD TRIP 53,500 0 53,500 3,660 0 49,840 6.84%
55110 | STUDENT TRANSPORTATION 6,670,572 0 6,670,572 782,054 5,500,909 387,609 94.19%
55200 | GENERAL INSURANCE 359,946 0 359,946 359,935 11 0| 100.00%
55300 | COMMUNICATIONS 41,396 0 41,396 11,069 13,069 17,257 58.31%
55301 | POSTAGE 27,200 0 27,200 4,468 22,220 512 98.12%
55302 | TELEPHONE 48,192 0 48,192 41,542 6,650 0| 100.00%

17




BUDGET POSITION DATED 10/31/25

AGENDA ITEM 3A-1
NOVEMBER 2025 MEETING

EXPENDITURES
OBJECT |[ACCOUNT DESCRIPTION ORIGINAL BUDGET| TRANSFERS| REVISED BUDGET| YTD ACTUAL|, ENCUMBRANCES BALANCE| % USED
55400 | ADVERTISING 11,450 0 11,450 2,771 1,262 7,418 35.22%
55505 | PRINTING 24,785 0 24,785 1,635 5,824 17,326 30.10%
55600 | TUITION - TRAINING 30,000 0 30,000 4,240 0 25,760 14.13%
55610 | TUITION - PUBLIC PLACEMENTS 1,655,537 -30,000 1,625,537 535,042 1,090,495 0| 100.00%
55630 | TUITION - PRIVATE PLACEMENTS 3,141,768 0 3,141,768 878,602 1,936,299 326,867 89.60%
55800 | TRAVEL 39,465 0 39,465 5,363 145 33,957 13.96%
56100 | GENERAL INSTRUCTIONAL SUPPLIES 197,263 0 197,263 60,073 19,774 117,416 40.48%
56110 | INSTRUCTIONAL SUPPLIES 489,145 0 489,145 170,279 22,374 296,493 39.39%
56120 | ADMIN SUPPLIES 34,563 0 34,563 7,755 2,155 24,653 28.67%
56210 | NATURAL GAS 221,263 0 221,263 24,905 196,358 0| 100.00%
56220 | ELECTRICITY 1,096,947 0 1,096,947 270,600 820,276 6,071 99.45%
56230 | PROPANE 4,251 0 4,251 310 0 3,941 7.30%
56240 | OIL 241,840 0 241,840 10,474 231,366 0| 100.00%
56260 | GASOLINE 38,405 0 38,405 5,706 23,536 9,163 76.14%
56290 | FACILITIES SUPPLIES 328,874 0 328,874 152,551 68,890 107,433 67.33%
56291 | MAINTENANCE COMPONENTS 16,475 0 16,475 2,953 130 13,392 18.71%
56292 | UNIFORMS/ CONTRACTUAL 13,622 0 13,622 1,716 0 11,906 12.60%
56293 | GROUNDSKEEPING SUPPLIES 25,445 0 25,445 9,186 1,400 14,859 41.60%
56410 | TEXTBOOKS 40,020 0 40,020 12,015 1,375 26,630 33.46%
56411 | CONSUMABLE TEXTS 77,823 0 77,823 65,776 0 12,047 84.52%
56420 | LIBRARY BOOKS 60,426 0 60,426 20,489 6,957 32,980 45.42%
56430 | PERIODICALS 18,923 0 18,923 13,008 1,708 4,207 77.77%
56460 | WORKBOOKS 1,000 0 1,000 0 0 1,000 0.00%
56500 | SUPPLIES - TECH RELATED 50,474 0 50,474 19,400 182 30,892 38.80%
57340 | COMPUTERS 50,000 0 50,000 24,874 13,557 11,569 76.86%
57345 | INSTRUCTIONAL EQUIPMENT 32,200 0 32,200 17,295 895 14,010 56.49%
57400 | GENERAL EQUIPMENT 10,516 0 10,516 2,571 0 7,945 24.45%
57500 | FURNITURE & FIXTURES 4,500 0 4,500 4,500 0 0| 100.00%
58100 | DUES & FEES 98,510 0 98,510 52,686 5,633 40,191 59.20%
EXPENDITURE TOTAL 79,185,200 0 79,185,200 22,424,434 49,215,597 7,545,169 90.47%

18




BUDGET POSITION DATED 10/31/25 AGENDA ITEM 3A-1
NOVEMBER 2025 MEETING

REVENUES
OBJECT |ACCOUNT DESCRIPTION ORIGINAL BUDGET| TRANSFERS| REVISED BUDGET| YTD ACTUAL| ENCUMBRANCES BALANCE % USED
43103 |EXCESS COSTS -2,473,363 0 -2,473,363 0 0 -2,473,363 0.00%
43105 |MEDICAID REIMBURSEMENT -88,017 0 -88,017 -21,838 0 -66,179 24.81%
44705 |BUILDING USE FEES (BASE RENTAL) -43,765 0 -43,765 -8,347 0 -35,418 19.07%
49102 |BUILDING USE FEES (CUSTODIAL) -36,758 0 -36,758 -9,193 0 -27,565 25.01%
44800 |REGULAR ED TUITION -136,800 0 -136,800 -30,472 0 -106,328 22.27%
44822 |SPECIALED TUITION -34,660 0 -34,660 0 0 -34,660 0.00%
44860 |ADMISSIONS/ATHLETIC GATE RECEIPTS -18,400 0 -18,400 0 0 -18,400 0.00%
44861 |PARKING PERMIT FEES -20,850 0 -20,850 0 0 -20,850 0.00%
REVENUE TOTAL -2,852,613 0 -2,852,613 -69,850 0 -2,782,763 2.45%
| GRAND TOTAL 76,332,587 0 76,332,587| 22,354,584 49,215,597| 4,762,406 93.76%|
BOE Capital Reserve Acct #43020000-10101 Turf Field Replacement Acct Contributions #43020000-10130
MUNIS Balance as of 7/1/22 3,039,825 FROM BOE 17/18 FYE BALANCE 50,000
Contribution Towards NMHS Roof Replacement -450,000 FROM BOE 18/19 FYE BALANCE 50,000
5 year Capital Withdraw 22/23 -980,030 FROM BOE TEAM FEE'S & BANNER SALES - 16/17, 17/18, 18/19 10,225
Close and return of Security Grant Set-Asside 201,875 FROM TOWN DATED 6/4/20 50,000
Wastewater Management Plan - SMS -17,562 FROM TOWN DATED 6/16/21 50,000
NMHS Woodshop -233,980 FROM BOE TEAM FEE'S & BANNER SALES - 19/20 3,765
Central Office to SNIS Move -100,000 FROM BOE TEAM FEE'S & BANNER SALES - 20/21 1,890
Fiscal Year End 21/22 Deposit 2,816,025 FROM BOE 20/21 FYE BALANCE 100,000
New Security Grant Set-Asside -139,800 FROM TOWN DATED 6/9/22 50,000
1/2 of NMHS Fire Insurance Claim Shortfall -28,538 CONTRIBUTION - FROM BOE 21/22 FYE BALANCE 50,000
5 year Capital Withdraw 23/24 -984,078 FROM BOE TEAM FEE'S & BANNER SALES - 21/22 & 22/23 12,960
Observatory Contribution -12,500 CONTRIBUTION - FROM BOE 22/23 FYE BALANCE 100,000
Additional HVAC FUNDS -150,000 CONTRIBUTION - FROM TOWN 22/23 FYE BALANCE 100,000
Fiscal Year End 22/23 Deposit 1,568,696 FROM TOWN DATED 4/18/24 50,000
Energy Systems Group 2023 & 2024 Payments -895,443 CONTRIBUTION - FROM BOE 23/24 FYE BALANCE 100,000
5 year Capital Withdraw 24/25 -1,424,000 CONTRIBUTION - FROM TOWN 23/24 FYE BALANCE 100,000
Fiscal Year End 23/24 Deposit 1,420,700
5 year Capital Withdraw 23/24 2,586,000 FROM TOWN DATED 6/9/25 50,000
TOTAL AS OF 10/31/25 1,045,189 TOTAL AS OF 10/31/25| 928,840

19



PURCHASE RESOLUTION D - 800

AGENDA ITEM 3A-2

NOVEMBER 2025 MEETING

WHEREAS, the equipment, supplies and/or services for which the following Purchase Orders have been issued and deemed necessary by the Superintendent of Schools, and the cost, thereof, are
within the budget appropriations approved by the voters of the Town, NOW, BE IT RESOLVED, that the said purchase orders and all disbursements in connection, thereof, are hereby approved.

Funding Location Vendor Name Description Amount Object
GENERAL SPED EDADVANCE 25/26 YEARLY - TUITION (8 STUDENTS) S 932,000.00 55610
5 YEAR CAPITAL FACILITIES AMERICAN PETROLEUM REMOVAL & REPLACEMENT OF U.S.T. AT SMS S 279,800.00 57200
5 YEAR CAPITAL IT CDW LAPTOPS (93 UNITS) & DESKTOPS (110 UNITS) WITH DOCKS (48 UNITS) S 248,989.40 57340
GENERAL SPED SOLIANT HEALTH 25/26 YEARLY - PARA STAFFING FOR SMS (3 STAFF) S 144,090.00 53230
GENERAL SPED SOLIANT HEALTH 25/26 YEARLY - PARA STAFFING FOR SNIS (1 STAFF) S 47,565.00 53230
5 YEAR CAPITAL FACILITIES WESTON & SAMPSON ENGINEERS, INC. A&E FOR REMOVAL & REPLACEMENT OF U.S.T. AT SMS S 36,700.00 57200
GENERAL IT SHI INTERNATIONAL MICROSOFT USER LICENSE RENEWAL S 35,588.12 53500
GENERAL DISTRICT ADMINISTRATOR, UNEMPLOYMENT COMP 25/26 YEARLY - UNEMPLOYMENT FEES S 35,000.00 52600
GENERAL IT BASE TECHNOLOGIES CONTRACTED BASE RATE CHARGE FOR COPIERS - OCT 1 TO JUNE 30 S 22,082.94 54420
GENERAL SPED CENTER FOR CHILDREN W/SPECIAL NEEDS 25/26 YEARLY - EVALUATIONS AND CONSULTING S 20,000.00 53230
5 YEAR CAPITAL IT CDW NEWLINE 65" DISPLAY (11 UNITS) S 19,580.00 57340
5 YEAR CAPITAL IT DELL MARKETING POWEREDGE R760 SERVER (3 UNITS) S 28,388.55 57340
5 YEAR CAPITAL FACILITIES SIEMENS INDUSTRY NEW MODULE TO EXPAND AUTOMATION SYSTEM TO RTU 10 AT SMS S 16,239.33 53204
GENERAL NMHS IMAGINE LEARNING LLC EDGENUITY USER LICENSE RENEWAL S 15,840.00 53200
5 YEAR CAPITAL IT CDW NEWLINE PANEL INSTALLATION (24 UNITS) S 14,400.00 57340
GENERAL IT CDW DELL PRO SMART DOCKING STATION (44 UNITS) S 12,113.20 57340
GENERAL FACILITIES HOME DEPOT 25/26 YEARLY - MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES ALL SCHOOLS S 11,642.00 56290
GENERAL NMHS SEVERIN (POWERSCHOOL) NAVIANCE USER LICENSE RENEWAL S 8,021.18 53200
GENERAL NMHS SANDY HOOK PROMISE FOUNDATION WINGMAN PROGRAM STUDENT LEADER TRAINING AT NMHS S 7,200.00 53200
5 YEAR CAPITAL FACILITIES SID HARVEY HVAC UPGRADE WORK AT SMS S 6,921.64 57200
5 YEAR CAPITAL FACILITIES FIRE PROTECTION TESTING FIRE SPRINKLER & FLEX HEAD INSTALL AT SMS S 6,249.94 57200
GENERAL FACILITIES SIEMENS INDUSTRY REPLACEMENT OF AUTOMATION SENSORS AT SNIS S 5,040.00 54301

ITEMS LISTED IN BOLD AND ITALIC FONT ABOVE WERE FUNDED VIA GRANT(S)

Page 1 of 1

20



Requesting Approval

Across MOC

DETAIL FROM (-) TO (+)
REASON AMOUNT || LOCATION ORG OBJECT LOCATION | ORG OBIJECT
NONE AT THIS TIME

REASON

AMOUNT

LOCATION

LOCATION

OBJECT

NONE AT THIS TIM

21




Note: Passed during the 2025 legislative session, Public Act 25-139 adds sexual
assault victim and human trafficking victim as protected classes under
Connecticut’s non-discrimination laws. This policy has been revised to reflect these
additions. S & G also updated the location and contact information for the U.S.
Department of Education’s Office for Civil Rights, as the Boston office has closed.
In addition, the appeal timeline for complaints involving the Superintendent or a
member of the Board has been aligned with the timeline applicable to other
respondents. Finally, we have made technical revisions throughout.

Series 1000 1105
Community/Board Operation

POLICY AND ADMINISTRATIVE REGULATIONS
REGARDING NON-DISCRIMINATION (COMMUNITY)

Protected Class Discrimination Prohibited:

It is the policy of the New Milford Board of Education (the “Board”) that any
form of discrimination or harassment on the basis of race, religion, color, national origin,
ancestry, alienage, sex, sexual orientation, marital status, age, disability, pregnancy,
gender identity or expression, veteran status, status as a victim of domestic violence,
sexual assault, or human trafficking, or any other basis prohibited by state or federal law
(“Protected Class™) is prohibited in the New Milford Public Schools (the “District”),
whether by students, Board employees, Board members or third parties subject to the
control of the Board, subject to the conditions and limitations established by law. The
Board’s prohibition of discrimination or harassment in its educational programs or
activities expressly extends to academic, nonacademic and extracurricular activities,
including athletics, school-sponsored activities, as well as the District website. When the
Board has created a limited public forum, the Board shall provide equal access to the Boy
Scouts and other groups as required by law.

Retaliation Prohibited:

The Board further prohibits reprisal or retaliation against any individual who
reports incidents in good faith that may be a violation of this policy, or who participates
in the investigation of such reports.

Discrimination on the Basis of Protected Class Association Prohibited:

Discrimination and/or harassment against any individual on the basis of that
individual’s association with someone in a Protected Class may also be considered a form
of Protected Class discrimination and/or harassment, and is therefore prohibited by this
policy.

22



Scope and Applicability:

Students, Board employees, Board members and community members (e.g., other
individuals affiliated with the District, accessing or seeking access to District facilities)
are expected to adhere to a standard of conduct that is respectful of the rights of all
members of the school community.

Definitions:

The following definitions apply for purposes of this policy:

A. Discrimination: Discrimination in violation of this policy occurs when an
individual is denied participation in, or the benefits of, a program or activity of the Board
because of such individual’s actual or perceived membership in a Protected Class.

B. Harassment: Harassment is a form of Protected Class discrimination that is
prohibited by law and by this policy. Harassment constitutes unlawful discrimination
when it creates a hostile environment, which occurs when the harassment is sufficiently
severe, pervasive, or persistent so as to interfere with or limit an individual’s ability to
participate in or benefit from the services, activities, or opportunities offered by the
District.

The following non-exhaustive list provides examples of the types of prohibited conduct
that may be considered Protected Class harassment that can lead to a hostile environment:

e objectively offensive racial, ethnic, or religious epithets (or epithets commonly
associated with any Protected Class membership, including but not limited to
epithets relating to sex, sexual orientation, and/or gender identity or expression);

e other words or phrases considered demeaning or degrading on the basis of
Protected Class membership;

e display of images or symbols commonly associated with discrimination against
individuals on the basis of their membership in a Protected Class;

e graphic, written or electronic communications that are harmful or humiliating
based on Protected Class membership;

e bigoted conduct or communications; or

e physical, written, electronic or verbal threats based on Protected Class
membership.

Harassment does not have to involve intent to harm, be directed toward a specific person,
or involve repeated incidents.

Sexual harassment is a form of harassment that is prohibited by law and Board policy.
For more information regarding harassment based on sex, sexual orientation, pregnancy,
or gender identity or expression, contact the District’s Title IX Coordinator at:

Holly Hollander, Assistant Superintendent

New Milford Public Schools
25 Sunny Valley Road, Suite A

23



New Milford, CT 06776
Telephone: 860-354-3235
e-mail: hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

C. Gender identity or expression: Gender identity or expression refers to a
person's gender-related identity, appearance or behavior, whether or not that gender-
related identity, appearance or behavior is different from that traditionally associated with
the person's physiology or assigned sex at birth, which gender-related identity can be
shown by providing evidence including, but not limited to, medical history, care or
treatment of the gender-related identity, consistent and uniform assertion of the gender-
related identity or any other evidence that the gender-related identity is sincerely held,
part of a person's core identity or not being asserted for an improper purpose.

D. Sexual orientation: Sexual orientation refers to a person’s identity in
relation to the gender or genders to which they are romantically, emotionally or sexually
attracted, inclusive of any identity that a person (i) may have previously expressed, or (ii)
is perceived by another person to hold.

E. Veteran: A veteran is any person honorably discharged from, released
under honorable conditions from or released with an other than honorable discharge
based on a qualifying condition from active service in the United States Army, Navy,
Marine Corps, Coast Guard, Air Force, and Space Force and any reserve component
thereof, including the Connecticut National Guard. “Qualifying condition” means (i) a
diagnosis of post-traumatic stress disorder or traumatic brain injury made by an
individual licensed to provide health care services at a United States Department of
Veterans Affairs facility, (ii) an experience of military sexual trauma disclosed to an
individual licensed to provide health care services at a United States Department of
Veterans Affairs facility, or (iii) a determination that sexual orientation, gender identity
or gender expression was more likely than not the primary reason for an other than
honorable discharge, as determined in accordance with Conn. Gen. Stat. §§ 27-103(c),

().

F. Race: The term race is inclusive of ethnic traits historically associated
with race, including but not limited to, hair texture and protective hairstyles. “Protective
hairstyles” includes, but is not limited to, wigs, headwraps and hairstyles such as
individual braids, cornrows, locs, twists, Bantu knots, afros and afro puffs.

G. Domestic violence: Domestic violence means (1) a continuous threat of
present physical pain or physical injury against a family or household member, as defined
in Conn. Gen. Stat. § 46b-38a; (2) stalking, including but not limited to, stalking as
described in Conn. Gen. Stat. § 53a-181d, of such family or household member; (3) a
pattern of threatening, including but not limited to, a pattern of threatening as described
in Conn. Gen. Stat. § 53a-62, of such family or household member or a third party that
intimidates such family or household member; or (4) coercive control of such family or
household member, which is a pattern of behavior that in purpose or effect unreasonably
interferes with a person's free will and personal liberty. “Coercive control” includes, but
is not limited to, unreasonably engaging in any of the following: (a) isolating the family
or household member from friends, relatives or other sources of support; (b) depriving
the family or household member of basic necessities; (¢) controlling, regulating or

24


mailto:hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

monitoring the family or household member's movements, communications, daily
behavior, finances, economic resources or access to services; (d) compelling the family or
household member by force, threat or intimidation, including, but not limited to, threats
based on actual or suspected immigration status, to (i) engage in conduct from which
such family or household member has a right to abstain, or (ii) abstain from conduct that
such family or household member has a right to pursue; (€) committing or threatening to
commit cruelty to animals that intimidates the family or household member; or (f) forced
sex acts, or threats of a sexual nature, including, but not limited to, threatened acts of
sexual conduct, threats based on a person's sexuality or threats to release sexual images.

Alleged Discrimination/Harassment of Students or Employees:

Complaints of alleged discrimination and/or harassment of students and/or
employees will be investigated in accordance with the non-discrimination policies
applicable to students and/or personnel respectively. Complaints pertaining to specific
forms of discrimination and/or harassment, such as sexual harassment or disability- based
harassment, have specific policies and procedures applicable to these forms of
harassment and will be investigated in accordance with the specific procedures for such
issues. If a complaint involves allegations of discrimination or harassment of an
employee or of a student based on sex, such complaints will be handled in accordance
with the procedures set forth in the applicable Board policy regarding sex discrimination
and sexual harassment. Complaints involving allegations of discrimination or harassment
of an employee or of a student based on disability will be addressed in accordance with
the procedures set forth in the applicable Board policy regarding Section 504/ADA.

Alleged Discrimination/Harassment of Community Members on the Basis of
Sex:

In the event the District receives a complaint alleging discrimination or
harassment of a community member (e.g., an individual affiliated with the District,
accessing or seeking access to District facilities who is not a student or an employee) on
the basis of sex, the complaint shall be referred to the District’s Title IX Coordinator,
who shall take steps designed to ensure that applicable state and federal law are followed.

Alleged Discrimination/Harassment of Community Members on the Basis of
Disability:

In the event the District receives a complaint alleging discrimination or
harassment of a community member (e.g., an individual affiliated with the District,
accessing or seeking access to District facilities who is not a student or an employee)
based on disability, the complaint shall be referred to the District’s Section 504/ADA
Coordinator, who shall take steps designed to ensure that applicable state and federal law
are followed.

Reporting to District Officials:

It is the policy of the Board to provide for the prompt and equitable resolution of
complaints alleging Protected Class discrimination or harassment. The District will

25



investigate both formal and informal complaints of discrimination, harassment or
retaliation.

Any individual who believes a community member has experienced Protected
Class discrimination or harassment or an act of retaliation or reprisal in violation of this
policy should report such concern in writing to Holly Hollander, Assistant
Superintendent, in accordance with the Board’s complaint procedures included in the
Board’s Administrative Regulations Regarding Non-Discrimination/Community, which
accompany this policy, and are available online at New Milford Board of Education
Policies or upon request from the main office of any District school.

Reporting to State and Federal Agencies:

In addition to reporting to District officials in accordance with this policy,
individuals also may file a complaint with the following agencies:

Office for Civil Rights, U.S. Department of Education (“OCR”):

Office for Civil Rights, Washington DC Office

U.S. Department of Education

400 Maryland Avenue, SW

Washington, DC 20202-1475

(202 453-6020)
http://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/docs/howto.html

Connecticut Commission on Human Rights and Opportunities:

Connecticut Commission on Human Rights and Opportunities

450 Columbus Blvd.

Hartford, CT 06103-1835

(860-541-3400 or Connecticut Toll Free Number 1-800-477-5737)

Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (employees only):

Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, Boston Area Office
John F. Kennedy Federal Building

475 Government Center

Boston, MA 02203

(800-669-4000)

Questions/Requests for Accommodation:

Any parent, student, staff member, Board member or community member (e.g.,
other individual affiliated with the District, accessing or seeking access to District
facilities) who:

1. has questions or concerns about this policy or its accompanying regulations;
OR
2. wishes to request or discuss accommodations based on religion; OR


https://www.newmilfordps.org/policies-additional-resources/
https://www.newmilfordps.org/policies-additional-resources/

3. who would like a copy of the Board’s complaint procedures or complaint
forms related to claims of discrimination or harassment:

may contact any District administrator or the following District official:

Holly Hollander, Assistant Superintendent
New Milford Public Schools

25 Sunny Valley Road, Suite A

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-354-3235

e-mail: hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

Any parent, student, staff member, Board member or community member (e.g.,
other individual affiliated with the District, accessing or seeking access to District
facilities) who has questions or concerns about the Board’s policies regarding
discrimination or harassment on the basis of sex may contact the District’s Title [X
Coordinator:

Holly Hollander, Assistant Superintendent
New Milford Public Schools

25 Sunny Valley Road, Suite A

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-354-3235

e-mail: hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

Any parent, student, staff member, Board member or community member (e.g.,
other individual affiliated with the District, accessing or seeking access to District
facilities) who has questions or concerns about the Board’s policies regarding
discrimination or harassment on the basis of disability, and/or who may wish to request
or discuss accommodations for a disability, may contact the District’s Section 504/ADA
Coordinator:

Holly Hollander, Assistant Superintendent
New Milford Public Schools

25 Sunny Valley Road, Suite A

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-354-3235

e-mail: hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

Legal References:

Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000d et seq.

Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq.

Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, 20 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq.
Boy Scouts of America Equal Access Act, 20 U.S.C. § 7905

Age Discrimination in Employment Act, 29 U.S.C. § 621 et seq.
Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. § 12101

27


mailto:hollanderh@newmilfordps.org
mailto:hollanderh@newmilfordps.org
mailto:hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, 29 U.S.C. § 794

Connecticut General Statutes § 1-1n, “Gender Identity or Expression”
defined

Connecticut General Statutes § 27-103

Connecticut General Statutes § 46a-51, Definitions

Connecticut General Statutes § 46a-58, Deprivation of rights

Connecticut Fair Employment Practices Act, Connecticut General Statutes
§ 46a-60

Connecticut General Statutes § 46a-81c, Sexual orientation discrimination:
Employment

Connecticut General Statutes § 46b-1, Family relations matters and
domestic violence defined

Public Act No. 25-139, “An Act Concerning Human Trafficking and
Sexual Assault Victims”

Approved: December 19, 2023 NEWMILFORD PUBLIC SCHOOLS
Revised: New Milford, Connecticut



Series 1000 1105R
Community/Board Operations

ADMINISTRATIVE REGULATIONS REGARDING DISCRIMINATION
COMPLAINTS (COMMUNITY MEMBERS)

Protected Class Discrimination Prohibited:

It is the policy of the New Milford Board of Education (the “Board”) that any form of
discrimination or harassment on the basis of race, religion, color, national origin,
ancestry, alienage, sex, sexual orientation, marital status, age, disability, pregnancy,
gender identity or expression, veteran status, status as a victim of domestic violence,
sexual assault, or human trafficking, or any other basis prohibited by state or federal law
(“Protected Class™) is prohibited in the New Milford Public Schools (the “District™),
whether by students, Board employees, Board members or third parties subject to the
control of the Board, subject to the conditions and limitations established by law. When
the Board has created a limited public forum, the Board shall provide equal access to the
Boy Scouts and other groups as required by law.

Retaliation Prohibited:

The Board further prohibits reprisal or retaliation against any individual who reports
incidents in good faith that may be a violation of this policy, or who participates in the
investigation of such reports.

The District will not tolerate any reprisals or retaliation that occur as a result of the good
faith reporting of charges of Protected Class harassment or discrimination. Any such
reprisals or retaliation will result in disciplinary action against the retaliator, and other
corrective actions as appropriate.

Discrimination on the Basis of Protected Class Association Prohibited:

Discrimination and/or harassment against any individual on the basis of that individual’s
association with someone in a Protected Class may also be considered a form of
Protected Class discrimination and/or harassment.

Scope and Applicability:

Students, Board employees, Board members and community members (e.g., other
individuals affiliated with the District, accessing or seeking access to District facilities)
are expected to adhere to a standard of conduct that is respectful of the rights of all
members of the school community.

The following non-exhaustive list provides examples of the types of prohibited conduct
that may be considered Protected Class harassment that can lead to a hostile environment:

29



e objectively offensive racial, ethnic, or religious epithets (or epithets commonly
associated with any Protected Class membership, including but not limited to
epithets relating to sex, sexual orientation, and/or gender identity or expression);

e other words or phrases considered demeaning or degrading on the basis of
Protected Class membership;

e display of images or symbols commonly associated with discrimination against
individuals on the basis of their membership in a Protected Class;

e graphic, written or electronic communications that are harmful or humiliating
based on Protected Class membership;

e bigoted conduct or communications; or

e physical, written, electronic or verbal threats based on Protected Class
membership.

Harassment does not have to involve intent to harm, be directed toward a specific person,
or involve repeated incidents.

Alleged Discrimination/Harassment of Students or Employees:

Complaints of alleged discrimination and/or harassment of students and/or personnel will
be investigated in accordance with the non-discrimination policies applicable to students
and/or personnel respectively. Complaints pertaining to specific forms of discrimination
and/or harassment, such as sexual harassment or disability-based harassment, have
specific policies and procedures applicable to these forms of harassment and will be
investigated in accordance with the specific procedures for such issues. If a complaint
involves allegations of discrimination or harassment of a student or an employee based on
sex, such complaints will be handled in accordance with the procedures set forth in the
applicable Board policy regarding sex discrimination and sexual harassment. Complaints
involving allegations of discrimination or harassment of an employee or of a student
based on disability will be addressed in accordance with the procedures set forth in the
applicable Board policy regarding Section 504/ADA.

Alleged Discrimination/Harassment of Community Members on the Basis of
Sex:

In the event the District receives a complaint alleging discrimination or harassment of a
community member (e.g. an individual affiliated with the District, accessing or seeking
access to District facilities who is not a student or an employee) on the basis of sex, the
complaint shall be referred to the District’s Title IX Coordinator, who shall take steps
designed to ensure that applicable state and federal law are followed.

Alleged Discrimination/Harassment of Community Members on the Basis of
Disability:

In the event the District receives a complaint alleging discrimination or harassment of a
community member (e.g., an individual affiliated with the District, accessing or seeking
access to District facilities who is not a student or an employee) based on disability, the

30



complaint shall be referred to the District’s Section 504/ADA Coordinator, who shall
take steps designed to ensure that applicable state and federal law are followed.

Reporting to District Officials:

It is the policy of the Board to provide for the prompt and equitable resolution of
complaints alleging Protected Class discrimination or harassment. The District will
investigate both formal and informal complaints of discrimination, harassment, or
retaliation.

Any individual who believes that they, or another individual, has experienced Protected
Class discrimination or harassment or an act of retaliation or reprisal in violation of
Board policy should report such concern in writing to Holly Hollander, Assistant
Superintendent, in accordance with the Board’s complaint procedures included in these
Administrative Regulations Regarding Non-Discrimination/Community.

Complaint Procedure:

Preferably, complaints should be filed within thirty (30) calendar days of the alleged
occurrence. Timely reporting of complaints facilitates the investigation and resolution of
such complaints. The District will investigate such complaints promptly and equitably,
and will take corrective action when allegations are verified.

As soon as an individual feels that they, or another individual, has been subjected to
Protected Class discrimination or harassment, the individual should make a written
complaint to the Superintendent or designee.

The individual who is alleged have experienced Protected Class
discrimination/harassment (the “complainant”) and any individual accused of Protected
Class discrimination/harassment (the “respondent™) (if applicable) will be provided a
copy of the Board’s policy and regulation and made aware of the individual’s rights
under this policy and regulation. In the event reported conduct allegedly violates more
than one policy, the Board will coordinate an investigation in compliance with the
applicable policies, laws and regulations.

The complaint should state the:
A. Name of the complainant,

B. Date of the complaint,

C. Date(s) of the alleged harassment/discrimination,

D. Name(s) of the alleged harasser(s) or discriminator(s),

E. Location where such alleged harassment/discrimination occurred,
F. Names of any witness(es) to the alleged harassment/discrimination,

31



G. Detailed statement of the circumstances constituting the alleged
harassment/discrimination; and

H. Proposed remedy.

Any individual who makes an oral complaint of discrimination or harassment of a
community member (e.g., an individual affiliated with the District, accessing or seeking
access to District facilities who is not a student or an employee) will be provided a copy
of this regulation and will be requested to make a written complaint pursuant to the above
procedure. If an individual is unable to make a written complaint, the employee
receiving the oral complaint will either reduce the complaint to writing, assist the
individual with completing the written complaint form, or request the assistance of a
District administrator to do so.

All complaints received by employees are to be forwarded immediately to the
Superintendent or designee. Upon receipt of a complaint alleging discrimination or
harassment of a community member (e.g., an individual affiliated with the District,
accessing or seeking access to District facilities who is not a student or an employee)
under this complaint procedure, the Superintendent shall promptly investigate the
complaint, or designate a District administrator or other trained individual to do so.
During the course of the investigation, the investigator shall interview or consult with all
individuals reasonably believed to have relevant information, including the complainant,
the reporter (if different from the complainant), the respondent and any witnesses to the
conduct. Complaints will be investigated promptly within the timeframes identified
below. Timeframes may be extended as needed given the complexity of the
investigation, availability of individuals with relevant information and/or other
extenuating circumstances. Confidentiality will be maintained by all persons involved in
the investigation to the extent possible, as determined by the investigator.

Upon receipt of a written complaint of discrimination or harassment of a community
member, the investigator should:

1. Offer to meet with the complainant and respondent (if applicable) within ten
(10) business days (provided that such timeframe may be reasonably extended
based on the availability of necessary witnesses and/or participants, the
complexity of the investigation, and/or other extenuating circumstances) to
discuss the nature of the complaint, discuss the availability of interim measures,
identify individuals the complainant or respondent believes has relevant
information, and obtain any relevant documents the complainant or respondent
may have;

2. Provide the complainant and respondent (if applicable) with a copy of the
Board’s non-discrimination policy and accompanying regulations;

3.  Conduct an investigation that is adequate, reliable, and impartial. Investigate
the factual basis of the complaint, including, as applicable, conducting

32



10.

interviews with the parties to the complaint and any relevant witnesses or other
individuals deemed relevant to the complaint;

Review any records, notes, statements, or other documents relevant to the
complaint;

Maintain confidentiality to the extent practicable throughout the investigative
process, in accordance with state and federal law;

Complete a final investigation report that includes: (i) a findings of fact based
on the evidence gathered; (ii) for each allegation, the conclusion(s) and
reasoning(s) as to whether the discrimination or harassment occurred; and (ii1)
for any individual(s) found to have engaged in discrimination or harassment, a
broad statement of consequences imposed (to the extent permitted by state and
federal confidentiality requirements) (e.g., “Consequences were imposed.”).

Communicate the outcome of the investigation in writing to the complainant
and respondent (if any) (to the extent permitted by state and federal
confidentiality requirements), within thirty (30) business days (provided that
such timeframe may be reasonably extended based on the availability of
necessary witnesses and/or participants, the complexity of the investigation,
and/or other extenuating circumstances) from the date the complaint was
received by the Superintendent’s office. The complainant and respondent (if
any) shall be notified of any extension of the investigation timeline. The
written notice shall include a finding whether the complaint was substantiated
and if so, shall identify, to the extent possible, how the District will take steps
designed to remedy the discrimination or harassment, adhering to the
requirements of state and federal law;

If a complaint is made during summer recess, the complaint will be reviewed
and addressed as quickly as possible given the availability of employees and/or
other individuals who may have information relevant to the complaint. If fixed
timeframes cannot be met, the complainant and respondent (if any) will receive
notice and interim measures may be implemented as necessary;

Whenever allegations are verified, ensure that appropriate corrective action is
taken (including, but not limited to, disciplinary action) aimed at preventing the
recurrence of the discrimination or harassment. Corrective action should
include steps designed to avoid continuing discrimination or harassment;

After receiving the written notice of the outcome, parties shall have ten (10)
school days to submit a formal written statement of appeal, if they so choose, to
the Superintendent challenging the outcome of the investigation and explaining
the basis for appeal. Upon receipt of an appeal, the Superintendent shall
appoint a decisionmaker(s) for the appeal, who may be the Superintendent or
designee. The decisionmaker(s) for the appeal will provide the appealing
party’s written statement to the non-appealing party. The non-appealing party
will then have ten (10) school days to submit to the decision-maker(s) for the

33



appeal a written statement in support of, or challenging, the outcome of the
investigation. The decisionmaker(s) for the appeal shall review the evidence
and the information presented by the parties and determine if further action
and/or investigation is warranted. Such action may include consultation with
the investigator(s) and the parties, a meeting with appropriate individuals to
attempt to resolve the complaint, or a decision affirming or overruling the
written outcome. Generally, a party’s disagreement with the outcome of the
investigation, alone, will not be basis for further action. The decisionmaker(s)
for the appeal will attempt to issue written notice of the outcome of the appeal
to the parties within thirty (30) school days of receipt of all written statements
from the parties.

Complaint Procedure for Superintendent/Board Member Complaints:

Any District administrator or Board member who receives a complaint of discrimination,
harassment or retaliation of a community member by a Board Member and/or the
Superintendent shall forward the complaint promptly to Holly Hollander, Assistant
Superintendent. Complaints pertaining to the Superintendent or Board of Education
members will be forwarded to the Chair of the Board of Education. Complaints
pertaining to the Board Chair will be forwarded to the Board Vice Chair. In all cases, the
individual receiving the complaint shall take appropriate steps to cause the matter to be
investigated in a manner consistent with the procedures described above.

If a complainant or a respondent is not satisfied with the findings and conclusions of an
investigation in which the Superintendent or a member of the Board is the respondent,
within ten (10) school days of receiving the findings such party may present the
complaint and written outcome to the Board Chair (or, if initially presented by the Board
Chair, the Board Vice Chair), who will take appropriate steps to cause the matter to be
reviewed in a manner consistent with the Board’s non-discrimination policy and
regulation. Such steps may include retention of an investigator different from the
investigator who investigated the complaint.

Remedial Action:

If the District makes a finding of discrimination, harassment or retaliation of a
community member, the District will take remedial action designed to:

A. eliminate the discriminatory/harassing/retaliatory conduct,
B. prevent its recurrence, and
C. address its effects on the complainant and any other affected individuals.

Examples of appropriate action may include, but are not limited to:

A. In the case of a student respondent, interventions for the individual who engaged
in the discrimination/harassment may include, but are not limited to, discipline
(including but not limited to suspension and/or expulsion), educational
interventions, exclusion from extra-curricular activities and/or sports programs,
and/or referral to appropriate state or local agencies;

34



B. In the case of an employee respondent, interventions for the individual who
engaged in the discrimination/harassment may include, but are not limited to,
supervisor notification, discipline (including possible termination of
employment), training, and/or referral to appropriate state or local agencies;

C. In the case of respondent who is otherwise associated with the school community,
interventions for the individual who engaged in the discrimination/harassment
may include, but are not limited to, exclusion from school property and/or
activities and/or referral to appropriate state or local agencies;

D. Follow-up inquiries with the complainant and witnesses to ensure that the
discriminatory/harassing conduct has stopped and that they have not experienced
any retaliation;

E. Supports for the complainant; and

F. Training or other interventions for the larger school community designed to
ensure that students, staff, parents, Board members and other individuals within
the school community understand the types of behavior that constitute
discrimination/harassment, that the District does not tolerate it, and how to report
it.

Staff Development:

The District will periodically provide staff development for District administrators and
periodically distribute the Board’s Non-Discrimination policies and the implementing
administrative regulations to staff, students and parents in an effort to maintain an
environment free of discrimination and harassment.

Reporting to State and Federal Agencies:

In addition to reporting to District officials in accordance with this policy, individuals
also may file a complaint with the following agencies:

Office for Civil Rights, U.S. Department of Education (“OCR”):

Office for Civil Rights, Washington DC Office

U.S. Department of Education

400 Maryland Avenue, SW

Washington, DC 20202-1475

(202 453-6020)
http://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/docs/howto.html

Equal Employment Opportunity Commission:

Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, Boston Area Office
John F. Kennedy Federal Building

475 Government Center

Boston, MA 02203

(800-669-4000)

Connecticut Commission on Human Rights and Opportunities:

35



Connecticut Commission on Human Rights and Opportunities

450 Columbus Blvd.

Hartford, CT 06103-1835

(860-541-3400 or Connecticut Toll Free Number 1-800-477-5737)

Questions/Requests for Accommodation:

Any parent, student, staff member, Board member or community member (e.g., other
individual affiliated with the District, accessing or seeking access to District facilities)
who:

1. has questions or concerns about this policy or its accompanying regulations;
OR

2. wishes to request or discuss accommodations based on religion; OR

3. who would like a copy of the Board’s complaint procedures or complaint
forms related to claims of discrimination or harassment:

may contact any building administrator or the following District official:

Holly Hollander, Assistant Superintendent
New Milford Public Schools

25 Sunny Valley Road, Suite A

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-354-3235

e-mail: hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

Any parent, student, staff member, Board member or community member (e.g., other

individual affiliated with the District, accessing or seeking access to District facilities)
who has questions or concerns about the Board’s policies regarding discrimination or

harassment on the basis of sex may contact the District’s Title IX Coordinator:

Holly Hollander, Assistant Superintendent
New Milford Public Schools

25 Sunny Valley Road, Suite A

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-354-3235

e-mail: hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

Any parent, student, staff member, Board member or community member (e.g., other
individual affiliated with the District, accessing or seeking access to District facilities)
who has questions or concerns about the Board’s policies regarding discrimination or
harassment on the basis of disability, and/or who may wish to request or discuss
accommodations for a disability, may contact the District’s Section 504/ADA
Coordinator:

Holly Hollander, Assistant Superintendent
New Milford Public Schools

36


mailto:hollanderh@newmilfordps.org
mailto:hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

25 Sunny Valley Road, Suite A

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-354-3235

e-mail: hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

Regulation approved: December 19, 2023
Regulation revised:

37


mailto:hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

DISCRIMINATION/HARASSMENT COMPLAINT FORM
(For complaints based on race, color, religion, age, sex, sexual orientation, marital
status, national origin, alienage, ancestry, disability, pregnancy, gender identity or
expression, veteran status, or status as a victim of domestic violence, sexual assault,
or human trafficking)

Name of the reporter

Relationship of reporter to the District

Name of the complainant/victim

Relationship of complainant/victim to the District

Date of the complaint

Date of the alleged discrimination/harassment

Name or names of the alleged discriminator(s) or harasser(s)

Location where such alleged discrimination/harassment occurred

Name(s) of any witness(es) to the alleged discrimination/harassment

Detailed statement of the circumstances constituting the alleged discrimination or
harassment

Proposed remedy:

38



Note: Passed during the 2025 legislative session, Public Act 25-139 adds sexual
assault victim and human trafficking victim as protected classes under
Connecticut’s non-discrimination laws. This policy has been revised to reflect these
additions. Also, the location and contact information for the U.S. Department of
Education’s Office for Civil Rights has been updated, as the Boston office has
closed. In addition, the appeal timeline for complaints involving the Superintendent
or a member of the Board has been aligned with the timeline applicable to other
respondents.

Series 4000 4111.1
Personnel 4211.1

POLICY AND ADMINISTRATIVE REGULATIONS
REGARDING NON-DISCRIMINATION (PERSONNEL)

Protected Class Discrimination Prohibited:

The New Milford Board of Education (the “Board”) will not make employment
decisions (including decisions related to hiring, assignment, compensation, promotion,
demotion, disciplinary action and termination) on the basis of race, color, religion, age,
sex, marital status, sexual orientation, national origin, alienage, ancestry, disability,
pregnancy, genetic information, veteran status, gender identity or expression, status as a
victim of domestic violence, sexual assault, or human trafficking, or any other basis
prohibited by state or federal law (“Protected Class™), except in the case of a bona fide
occupational qualification.

It is the policy of the Board that any form of discrimination or harassment on the
basis of an individual’s actual or perceived membership in a Protected Class, whether by
students, Board employees, Board members or third parties subject to the control of the
Board, is prohibited in the New Milford Public Schools (the “District”). The Board’s
prohibition of discrimination or harassment in its educational programs or activities
expressly extends to academic, nonacademic and extracurricular activities, including
athletics.

Discrimination on the Basis of Erased Criminal History Prohibited:

The Board will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for
employment solely on the basis of the individual’s erased criminal history record
information, as defined in Conn. Gen. Stat. § 46a-80a.

Retaliation Prohibited:

The Board prohibits reprisal or retaliation against any individual who reports
incidents in good faith that may be a violation of this policy, or who participates in the
investigation of such reports.

39



Discrimination on the Basis of Protected Class Association Prohibited:

Discrimination and/or harassment against any individual on the basis of that
individual’s association with someone in a Protected Class may also be considered a form
of Protected Class discrimination and/or harassment and is therefore prohibited by this
policy.

Scope and Applicability:

Students, Board employees, Board members and community members (e.g., other
individuals affiliated with the District, accessing or seeking access to District facilities)
are expected to adhere to a standard of conduct that is respectful of the rights of all
members of the school community.

Definitions:

The following definitions apply for purposes of this policy:

A. Discrimination

It is illegal for employers to treat employees differently in relation to hiring,
discharging, compensating, or providing the terms, conditions, and privileges of
employment because of such employee’s actual or perceived membership in a Protected
Class.

B. Harassment

Harassment is a form of Protected Class discrimination that is prohibited by law
and by this policy. Harassment is unwelcome conduct that is based on an employee’s
actual or perceived membership in a Protected Class. Harassment constitutes unlawful
discrimination when 1) enduring the offensive conduct becomes a condition of continued
employment, or 2) the conduct is severe or pervasive enough to create a work
environment that a reasonable person would consider intimidating, hostile, or abusive.

The following non-exhaustive list provides examples of the types of prohibited
conduct that may be considered Protected Class harassment that can lead to an
intimidating, hostile, or abusive environment, and are therefore prohibited by this policy:

e objectively offensive racial, ethnic, or religious epithets (or epithets commonly
associated with any Protected Class membership, including but not limited to
epithets relating to sex, sexual orientation, and/or gender identity or expression);

e other words or phrases commonly considered demeaning or degrading on the
basis of Protected Class membership;

e display of images or symbols commonly associated with discrimination against
individuals on the basis of their membership in a Protected Class;

e graphic, written or electronic communications that are harmful or humiliating
based on Protected Class membership;

e bigoted conduct or communications; or

e physical, written, electronic or verbal threats based on Protected Class
membership.

40



Harassment does not have to involve intent to harm, be directed toward a specific person,
or involve repeated incidents.

Sexual harassment is a form of harassment that is prohibited by law and Board policy. For
more information regarding harassment based on sex, contact the District’s Title IX
Coordinator at:

Holly Hollander, Assistant Superintendent
New Milford Public Schools

25 Sunny Valley Road, Suite A

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-354-3235

e-mail: hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

C. Genetic information

The information about genes, gene products, or inherited characteristics that may
derive from an individual or a family member. “Genetic information” may also include
an individual’s family medical history, the results of an individual’s or family member’s
genetic tests, the fact that an individual or an individual’s family member sought or
received genetic services, and genetic information of a fetus carried by an individual or
an individual’s family member or an embryo lawfully held by an individual or family
member receiving assistive reproductive services.

D. Veteran

A veteran is any person honorably discharged from, released under honorable
conditions from or released with an other than honorable discharge based on a qualifying
condition from active service in the United States Army, Navy, Marine Corps, Coast
Guard, Air Force, and Space Force and any reserve component thereof, including the
Connecticut National Guard. “Qualifying condition” means (i) a diagnosis of post-
traumatic stress disorder or traumatic brain injury made by an individual licensed to
provide health care services at a United States Department of Veterans Affairs facility,
(11) an experience of military sexual trauma disclosed to an individual licensed to provide
health care services at a United States Department of Veterans Affairs facility, or (iii) a
determination that sexual orientation, gender identity, or gender expression was more
likely than not the primary reason for an other than honorable discharge, as determined in
accordance with Conn. Gen. Stat. §§ 27-103(c),(d).

E. Gender identity or expression

Gender identity or expression refers to a person's gender-related identity,
appearance or behavior, whether or not that gender-related identity, appearance or
behavior is different from that traditionally associated with the person's physiology or
assigned sex at birth, which gender-related identity can be shown by providing evidence
including, but not limited to, medical history, care or treatment of the gender-related
identity, consistent and uniform assertion of the gender-related identity or any other
evidence that the gender-related identity is sincerely held, part of a person's core identity
or not being asserted for an improper purpose.

41


mailto:hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

F. Sexual orientation

Sexual orientation refers to a person’s identity in relation to the gender or genders
to which they are romantically, emotionally or sexually attracted, inclusive of any
identity that a person (i) may have previously expressed, or (ii) is perceived by another
person to hold.

G. Race
The term race is inclusive of ethnic traits historically associated with race,
including but not limited to, hair texture and protective hairstyles. “Protective hairstyles”
includes, but is not limited to, wigs, headwraps and hairstyles such as individual braids,
cornrows, locs, twists, Bantu knots, afros and afro puffs.

H. Domestic violence

The term domestic violence means (1) a continuous threat of present physical pain
or physical injury against a family or household member, as defined in Conn. Gen. Stat. §
46b-38a; (2) stalking, including but not limited to, stalking as described in Conn. Gen.
Stat. § 53a-181d, of such family or household member; (3) a pattern of threatening,
including but not limited to, a pattern of threatening as described in Conn. Gen. Stat. §
53a-62, of such family or household member or a third party that intimidates such family
or household member; or (4) coercive control of such family or household member,
which is a pattern of behavior that in purpose or effect unreasonably interferes with a
person's free will and personal liberty. “Coercive control” includes, but is not limited to,
unreasonably engaging in any of the following: (a) isolating the family or household
member from friends, relatives or other sources of support; (b) depriving the family or
household member of basic necessities; (c) controlling, regulating or monitoring the
family or household member's movements, communications, daily behavior, finances,
economic resources or access to services; (d) compelling the family or household
member by force, threat or intimidation, including, but not limited to, threats based on
actual or suspected immigration status, to (i) engage in conduct from which such family
or household member has a right to abstain, or (i1) abstain from conduct that such family
or household member has a right to pursue; (¢) committing or threatening to commit
cruelty to animals that intimidates the family or household member; or (f) forced sex acts,
or threats of a sexual nature, including, but not limited to, threatened acts of sexual
conduct, threats based on a person's sexuality or threats to release sexual images.

Reporting to District Officials:

It is the policy of the Board to provide for the prompt and equitable resolution of
complaints alleging Protected Class discrimination or harassment. The District will
investigate both formal and informal complaints of discrimination, harassment or
retaliation.

Any employee who believes they or another employee has experienced Protected
Class discrimination or harassment or an act of retaliation or reprisal in violation of this
policy should report such concern in writing to Holly Hollander, Assistant

42



Superintendent, in accordance with the Board’s complaint procedures included in the
Board’s Administrative Regulations Regarding Non-Discrimination/Personnel, which
accompany this policy and are available online at New Milford Board of Education
Policies or upon request from the main office of any District school.

Employees are encouraged to report incidents of alleged Protected Class
discrimination, harassment, or retaliation immediately.

If a complaint involves allegations of discrimination or harassment based on sex,
such complaints will be handled in accordance with the procedures set forth in the
applicable Board policy regarding sex discrimination and sexual harassment.

If a complaint involves allegations of discrimination or harassment based on
disability, such complaints will be addressed in accordance with the procedures set forth
in the applicable Board policy regarding Section 504/ADA.

In the event conduct reported as Protected Class discrimination and/or harassment
allegedly violates more than one policy, the Board will coordinate any investigation in
compliance with the applicable policies.

Mandatory Staff Reporting for Student Incidents:

Board employees are required to report incidents of alleged student-to-student and
employee-to-student discrimination, harassment or retaliation that may be based on a
Protected Class when Board employees witness such incidents or when Board employees
receive reports or information about such incidents, whether such incidents are verbal or
physical or amount to discrimination, harassment or retaliation in other forms. Reports
should be made to any District administrator or to:

Holly Hollander, Assistant Superintendent
New Milford Public Schools

25 Sunny Valley Road, Suite A

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-354-3235

e-mail: hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

Remedial Action:

If the District makes a finding of discrimination, harassment or retaliation, the District
will take remedial action designed to:

A. eliminate the discriminatory/harassing/retaliatory conduct,
B. prevent its recurrence, and
C. address its effects on the complainant and any other affected individuals.

Examples of appropriate action may include, but are not limited to:
A. In the case of a student respondent, interventions for the individual who engaged

in the discrimination/harassment may include, but are not limited to, discipline
(including but not limited to suspension and/or expulsion), educational

43


https://www.newmilfordps.org/policies-additional-resources/
https://www.newmilfordps.org/policies-additional-resources/
mailto:hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

interventions, exclusion from extra-curricular activities and/or sports programs,
and/or referral to appropriate state or local agencies;

. In the case of an employee respondent, interventions for the individual who
engaged in the discrimination/harassment may include, but are not limited to,
supervisor notification, discipline (including possible termination of
employment), training, and/or referral to appropriate state or local agencies;

. In the case of respondent who is otherwise associated with the school community,
interventions for the individual who engaged in the discrimination/harassment
may include, but are not limited to, exclusion from school property and/or
activities and/or referral to appropriate state or local agencies;

. Follow-up inquiries with the complainant and witnesses to ensure that the
discriminatory/harassing conduct has stopped and that they have not experienced
any retaliation;

. Supports for the complainant; and

. Training or other interventions for the larger school community designed to
ensure that students, staff, parents, Board members and other individuals within
the school community understand the types of behavior that constitute
discrimination/harassment, that the District does not tolerate it, and how to report
it.

Reporting to State and Federal Agencies:

In addition to reporting to the Board, any employee also may file a complaint with

the following agencies:

Office for Civil Rights, U.S. Department of Education (“OCR”):

Office for Civil Rights, Washington DC Office

U.S. Department of Education

400 Maryland Avenue, SW

Washington, DC 20202-1475

(202 453-6020)
http://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/docs/howto.html

Equal Employment Opportunity Commission:

Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, Boston Area Office
John F. Kennedy Federal Building

475 Government Center

Boston, MA 02203

(800-669-4000)

Connecticut Commission on Human Rights and Opportunities:

Connecticut Commission on Human Rights and Opportunities

450 Columbus Blvd.

Hartford, CT 06103-1835

(860-541-3400 or Connecticut Toll Free Number 1-800-477-5737)

44



Questions/Requests for Accommodation:
Any employee who:

1. has questions or concerns about this policy or its accompanying regulations;

2. wishes to request or discuss accommodations based on religion; OR

3. would like a copy the Board’s complaint procedures or complaint forms
related to claims of discrimination or harassment

should contact the following District official:

Holly Hollander, Assistant Superintendent
New Milford Public Schools

25 Sunny Valley Road, Suite A

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-354-3235

e-mail: hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

Any employee who has questions or concerns about the Board’s policies regarding
discrimination on the basis of sex applicable to employees should contact the District’s
Title IX Coordinator:

Holly Hollander, Assistant Superintendent
New Milford Public Schools

25 Sunny Valley Road, Suite A

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-354-3235

e-mail: hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

Any employee who:

1. has specific questions or concerns about the Board’s policies regarding
discrimination on the basis of disability applicable to employees; OR
2. wishes to request an accommodation on the basis of disability

should contact the District’s Section 504/ADA Coordinator:

Holly Hollander, Assistant Superintendent
New Milford Public Schools

25 Sunny Valley Road, Suite A

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-354-3235

e-mail: hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

Legal References:

Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000d et seq.

Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq.

Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, 20 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq.
Age Discrimination in Employment Act, 29 U.S.C. § 621 et seq.


mailto:hollanderh@newmilfordps.org
mailto:hollanderh@newmilfordps.org
mailto:hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. § 12101

Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, 29 U.S.C. § 794

Title II of the Genetic Information Nondiscrimination Act of 2008,
Pub.L.110-233, 42 U.S.C. § 20001f; 29 CFR 1635.1 et seq.

Connecticut General Statutes § 1-1n, “Gender Identity or Expression”
defined

Connecticut General Statutes § 10-153, Discrimination on the basis of sex,
gender or expression or marital status prohibited

Connecticut General Statutes § 27-103

Connecticut General Statutes § 31-511

Connecticut General Statutes § 46a-51, Definitions

Connecticut General Statutes § 46a-58, Deprivation of rights

Connecticut Fair Employment Practices Act, Connecticut General Statutes
§ 46a-60

Connecticut General Statutes § 46a-80a

Connecticut General Statutes § 46a-81c, Sexual orientation discrimination:
Employment

Connecticut General Statutes § 46b-1, Family relations matters and
domestic violence defined

Public Act No. 25-139, “An Act Concerning Human Trafficking and
Sexual Assault Victims”

Approved: December 19, 2023 NEWMILFORD PUBLIC SCHOOLS
Revised: New Milford, Connecticut



Series 4000 41111 R
Personnel 4211.1 R

ADMINISTRATIVE REGULATIONS REGARDING DISCRIMINATION
COMPLAINTS (PERSONNEL)

Protected Class Discrimination Prohibited:

The New Milford Board of Education (the “Board”) will not make employment decisions
(including decisions related to hiring, assignment, compensation, promotion, demotion,
disciplinary ction and termination) on the basis of race, color, religion, age, sex, marital
status, sexual orientation, national origin, alienage, ancestry, disability, pregnancy,
genetic information, veteran status, gender identity or expression, status as a victim of
domestic violence, sexual assault, or human trafficking, or any other basis prohibited by
state or federal law (“Protected Class”), except in the case of a bona fide occupational
qualification.

It is the policy of the Board that any form of discrimination or harassment on the basis of
an individual’s actual or perceived membership in a Protected Class, whether by students,
Board employees, Board members or third parties subject to the control of the Board, is
prohibited in the New Milford Public Schools (the “District”). Students, Board
employees, Board members and third parties are expected to adhere to a standard of
conduct that is respectful of the rights of all members of the school community.

Discrimination on the Basis of Erased Criminal History Prohibited:

The Board will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment solely
on the basis of the individual’s erased criminal history record information, as defined in
Conn. Gen. Stat. § 46a-80a.

Retaliation Prohibited:

The Board prohibits reprisal or retaliation against any individual who reports incidents in
good faith that may be a violation of this policy, or who participates in the investigation of
such reports.

The District will not tolerate any reprisals or retaliation that occur as a result of the good
faith reporting of charges of Protected Class discrimination or harassment. Any such
reprisals or retaliation may result in disciplinary action against the retaliator, and other
corrective actions as appropriate.

47



Discrimination on the Basis of Protected Class Association Prohibited:

Discrimination and/or harassment against any individual on the basis of that individual’s
association with someone in a Protected Class may also be considered a form of
Protected Class discrimination and/or harassment.

Scope and Applicability:

Students, Board employees, Board members and community members (e.g., other
individuals affiliated with the District, accessing or seeking access to District facilities)
are expected to adhere to a standard of conduct that is respectful of the rights of all
members of the school community.

The following non-exhaustive list provides examples of the types of prohibited conduct
that may be considered Protected Class harassment that can lead to a hostile environment,
and are therefore prohibited:

e objectively offensive racial, ethnic, or religious epithets (or epithets commonly
associated with any Protected Class membership, including but not limited to
epithets relating to sex, sexual orientation, and/or gender identity or expression);

e other words or phrases commonly considered demeaning or degrading on the
basis of Protected Class membership;

e display of images or symbols commonly associated with discrimination against
individuals on the basis of their membership in a Protected Class;

e graphic, written or electronic communications that are harmful or humiliating
based on Protected Class membership;

e bigoted conduct or communications; OR

e physical, written, electronic or verbal threats based on Protected Class
membership.

Harassment does not have to involve intent to harm, be directed toward a specific person,
or involve repeated incidents.

Reporting to District Officials:

It is the policy of the Board to provide for the prompt and equitable resolution of
complaints alleging Protected Class discrimination or harassment. The District will
investigate both formal and informal complaints of discrimination, harassment or
retaliation.

Employees are encouraged to report incidents of alleged Protected Class discrimination,
harassment, or retaliation immediately.

Any employee who believes they or another employee has experienced Protected Class
discrimination or harassment or an act of retaliation or reprisal in violation of Board
policy should report such concern in writing to Holly Hollander, Assistant
Superintendent, in accordance with the Board’s complaint procedures included in these
Administrative Regulations Regarding Non-Discrimination/Personnel.

48



If a complaint involves allegations of discrimination or harassment based on sex, such
complaints will be handled in accordance with the procedures set forth the applicable
Board policy regarding sex discrimination and sexual harassment.

If a complaint involves allegations of discrimination or harassment based on disability,
such complaints will be addressed in accordance with the procedures set forth in the
appliable Board policy regarding Section 504/ADA.

In the event conduct reported as Protected Class discrimination and/or harassment
allegedly violates more than one policy, the Board will coordinate any investigation in
compliance with the applicable policies.

Mandatory Staff Reporting for Student Incidents:

Board employees are required to report incidents of alleged student-to-student and
employee-to-student discrimination, harassment or retaliation that may be based on a
Protected Class when Board employees witness such incidents or when Board employees
receive reports or information about such incidents, whether such incidents are verbal or
physical or amount to discrimination, harassment or retaliation in other forms. Reports
should be made to any District administrator or to:

Holly Hollander, Assistant Superintendent
New Milford Public Schools

25 Sunny Valley Road, Suite A

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-354-3235

e-mail: hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

Complaint Procedure:

Preferably, complaints should be filed within thirty (30) calendar days of the alleged
occurrence. Timely reporting of complaints facilitates the investigation and resolution of
such complaints. The District will investigate such complaints promptly and equitably,
and will take corrective action when allegations are verified.

As soon as an individual feels that they, or another employee, has been subjected to
Protected Class discrimination or harassment, the individual should make a written
complaint to the Superintendent or designee.

The individual who is alleged to have experienced Protected Class
discrimination/harassment (the “complainant”) and any individual accused of Protected
Class discrimination/harassment (the “respondent”) (if applicable) will be provided a
copy of the Board’s policy and regulation and made aware of the individual’s rights
under this policy and regulation. In the event the Superintendent or designee receives a
complaint alleging discrimination or harassment based on sex, the Superintendent or
designee shall follow the procedures set forth in the applicable Board policy regarding
sex discrimination and sexual harassment. In the event the Superintendent or designee
receives a complaint alleging discrimination or harassment based on disability, the
Superintendent or designee shall follow the procedures set forth the applicable Board
policy regarding Section 504/ADA.

49


mailto:hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

The complaint should state the:
A. Name of the complainant,

B. Date of the complaint,

C. Date(s) of the alleged harassment/discrimination,

D. Name(s) of the alleged harasser(s) or discriminator(s),

E. Location where such alleged harassment/discrimination occurred,
F. Names of any witness(es) to the alleged harassment/discrimination,
G. Detailed statement of the circumstances constituting the alleged

harassment/discrimination; and
H. Proposed remedy.

Any individual who makes an oral complaint of alleged discrimination or harassment of
an employee will be provided a copy of this regulation and will be requested to make a
written complaint pursuant to the above procedure. If an individual is unable to make a
written complaint, the employee receiving the oral complaint will either reduce the
complaint to writing, assist the individual with completing the written complaint form or
request that a District administrator assist the individual.

All complaints received by employees are to be forwarded immediately to the
Superintendent or designee. Upon receipt of a complaint alleging discrimination or
harassment of an employee under this complaint procedure, the Superintendent shall
promptly investigate the complaint, or designate a District administrator or other trained
individual to do so.

During the course of the investigation, the investigator shall interview or consult with all
individuals reasonably believed to have relevant information, including the complainant,
the reporter (if different from the complainant), the respondent, and any witnesses to the
conduct. Complaints will be investigated promptly within the timeframes identified
below. Timeframes may be extended as needed given the complexity of the
investigation, availability of individuals with relevant information and/or other
extenuating circumstances. Confidentiality will be maintained by all persons involved in
the investigation to the extent possible, to the extent consistent with due process, as
determined by the investigator.

Upon receipt of a written complaint of alleged discrimination or harassment of an
employee, the investigator should:

1. Offer to meet with the complainant and respondent (if applicable) within ten
(10) business days (provided that such timeframe may be reasonably extended
based on the availability of necessary witnesses and/or participants, the

50



complexity of the investigation, and/or other extenuating circumstances) to
discuss the nature of the complaint, discuss the availability of interim measures,
identify individuals the complainant or respondent believes has relevant
information, and obtain any relevant documents the complainant or respondent
may have;

Provide the complainant and respondent (if applicable) with a copy of the
Board’s non-discrimination policy and accompanying regulations;

Conduct an investigation that is adequate, reliable, and impartial. Investigate
the factual basis of the complaint, including, as applicable, conducting
interviews with the parties to the complaint and any relevant witnesses or other
individuals deemed relevant to the complaint;

Review any records, notes, statements, or other documents relevant to the
complaint;

Maintain confidentiality to the extent practicable throughout the investigative
process, in accordance with state and federal law;

Complete a final investigation report that includes: (i) a findings of fact based
on the evidence gathered; (ii) for each allegation, the conclusion(s) and
reasoning(s) as to whether the discrimination or harassment occurred; and (iii)
for any individual(s) found to have engaged in discrimination or harassment, a
broad statement of consequences imposed (to the extent permitted by state and
federal confidentiality requirements) (e.g., “Consequences were imposed.”).

Communicate the outcome of the investigation in writing to the complainant
and respondent (if any) (to the extent permitted by state and federal
confidentiality requirements), within thirty (30) business days (provided that
such timeframe may be reasonably extended based on the availability of
necessary witnesses and/or participants, the complexity of the investigation,
and/or other extenuating circumstances) from the date the complaint was
received by the Superintendent’s office. The complainant and respondent (if
any) shall be notified of such extension. The written notice shall include a
finding whether the complaint was substantiated and if so, shall identify, to the
extent possible, how the District will take steps designed to remedy the
discrimination or harassment, adhering to the requirements of state and federal
law;

If a complaint is made during summer recess, the complaint will be reviewed
and addressed as quickly as possible given the availability of employees and/or
other individuals who may have information relevant to the complaint. If fixed
timeframes cannot be met, the complainant and respondent (if any) will receive
notice and interim measures may be implemented as necessary;

Whenever allegations are verified, ensure that appropriate corrective action is
taken (including, but not limited to, disciplinary action) aimed at preventing the
recurrence of the discrimination or harassment. Corrective action should
include steps designed to avoid continuing discrimination or harassment;

51



10.  After receiving the written notice of the outcome, parties shall have ten (10)
school days to submit a formal written statement of appeal, if they so choose, to
the Superintendent challenging the outcome of the investigation and explaining
the basis for appeal. Upon receipt of an appeal, the Superintendent shall
appoint a decisionmaker(s) for the appeal, who may be the Superintendent or
designee. The decisionmaker(s) for the appeal will provide the appealing
party’s written statement to the non-appealing party. The non-appealing party
will then have ten (10) school days to submit to the decision-maker(s) for the
appeal a written statement in support of, or challenging, the outcome of the
investigation. The decisionmaker(s) for the appeal shall review the evidence
and the information presented by the parties and determine if further action
and/or investigation is warranted. Such action may include consultation with
the investigator(s) and the parties, a meeting with appropriate individuals to
attempt to resolve the complaint, or a decision affirming or overruling the
written outcome. Generally, a party’s disagreement with the outcome of the
investigation, alone, will not be basis for further action. The decisionmaker(s)
for the appeal will attempt to issue written notice of the outcome of the appeal
to the parties within thirty (30) school days of receipt of all written statements
from the parties.

Complaint Procedure for Superintendent/Board Members Complaints:

Any District administrator or Board member who receives a complaint of discrimination,
harassment or retaliation of any employee by a Board Member or by the Superintendent
shall forward the complaint promptly to Holly Hollander, Assistant Superintendent.
Complaints pertaining to the Superintendent or Board of Education members will be
forwarded to the Chair of the Board of Education. Complaints pertaining to the Board
Chair will be forwarded to the Board Vice Chair. In all cases, the individual receiving the
complaint shall take appropriate steps to cause the matter to be investigated in a manner
consistent with the procedures described above.

If a complainant or a respondent is not satisfied with the findings and conclusions of an
investigation in which the Superintendent or a member of the Board is the respondent,
within ten (10) school days of receiving the findings such party may present the
complaint and written outcome to the Board Chair (or, if initially presented by the Board
Chair, the Board Vice Chair), who will take appropriate steps to cause the matter to be
reviewed in a manner consistent with the Board’s non-discrimination policy and
regulation. Such steps may include retention of an investigator different from the
investigator who investigated the complaint.

Remedial Action:

If the District makes a finding of discrimination, harassment or retaliation of an
employee, the District will take remedial action designed to:

A. eliminate the discriminatory/harassing/retaliatory conduct,
B. prevent its recurrence, and
C. address its effects on the complainant and any other affected individuals.

52



Examples of appropriate action may include, but are not limited to:

A. In the case of a student respondent, interventions for the individual who engaged
in the discrimination/harassment may include, but are not limited to, discipline
(including but not limited to suspension and/or expulsion), educational
interventions, exclusion from extra-curricular activities and/or sports programs,
and/or referral to appropriate state or local agencies;

B. In the case of an employee respondent, interventions for the individual who
engaged in the discrimination/harassment may include, but are not limited to,
supervisor notification, discipline (including possible termination of
employment), training, and/or referral to appropriate state or local agencies;

C. In the case of respondent who is otherwise associated with the school community,
interventions for the individual who engaged in the discrimination/harassment
may include, but are not limited to, exclusion from school property and/or
activities and/or referral to appropriate state or local agencies;

D. Follow-up inquiries with the complainant and witnesses to ensure that the
discriminatory/harassing conduct has stopped and that they have not experienced
any retaliation;

E. Supports for the complainant; and

F. Training or other interventions for the larger school community designed to
ensure that students, staff, parents, Board members and other individuals within
the school community understand the types of behavior that constitute
discrimination/harassment, that the District does not tolerate it, and how to report
it.

Staff Development:

The District will periodically provide staff development for District administrators and
periodically distribute the Board’s Non-Discrimination policies and the implementing
administrative regulations to staff and students in an effort to maintain an environment
free of discrimination and harassment.

Reporting to State and Federal Agencies:

In addition to reporting to the Board, any employee also may file a complaint with the
following agencies:

Office for Civil Rights, U.S. Department of Education (“OCR”):

Office for Civil Rights, Washington DC Office

U.S. Department of Education

400 Maryland Avenue, SW

Washington, DC 20202-1475

(202 453-6020)
http://www?2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/docs/howto.html

53



Equal Employment Opportunity Commission:

Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, Boston Area Office
John F. Kennedy Federal Building

475 Government Center

Boston, MA 02203

(800-669-4000)

Connecticut Commission on Human Rights and Opportunities:

Connecticut Commission on Human Rights and Opportunities

450 Columbus Blvd.

Hartford, CT 06103-1835

(860-541-3400 or Connecticut Toll Free Number 1-800-477-5737)

Questions/Requests for Accommodation:
Any employee who:

1. has questions or concerns about this policy or its accompanying regulations;

2. wishes to request or discuss accommodations based on religion; OR

3. would like a copy the Board’s complaint procedures or complaint forms
related to claims of discrimination or harassment

should contact the following District official:

Holly Hollander, Assistant Superintendent
New Milford Public Schools

25 Sunny Valley Road, Suite A

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-354-3235

e-mail: hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

Any employee who has questions or concerns about the Board’s policies regarding
discrimination on the basis of sex applicable to employees should contact the District’s
Title IX Coordinator:

Holly Hollander, Assistant Superintendent
New Milford Public Schools

25 Sunny Valley Road, Suite A

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-354-3235

e-mail: hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

Any employee who:
1. has specific questions or concerns about the Board’s policies regarding

discrimination on the basis of disability applicable to employees; OR
2. wishes to request an accommodation on the basis of disability

54


mailto:hollanderh@newmilfordps.org
mailto:hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

should contact the District’s Section 504/ADA Coordinator:

Holly Hollander, Assistant Superintendent
New Milford Public Schools

25 Sunny Valley Road, Suite A

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-354-3235

e-mail: hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

55


mailto:hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

Regulation approved: December 19, 2023
Regulation revised:

56



DISCRIMINATION/HARASSMENT COMPLAINT FORM
(For complaints based on race, color, religion, age, marital status, national origin,
alienage, ancestry, genetic information, veteran status, or status as a victim of
domestic violence, sexual assault, or human trafficking)

Name of the reporter

Name of the complainant/victim

Reporter’s relationship complainant/victim

Date of the complaint

Date of the alleged discrimination/harassment

Name or names of the alleged discriminator(s) or harasser(s)

Location where such alleged discrimination/harassment occurred

Name(s) of any witness(es) to the alleged discrimination/harassment

Detailed statement of the circumstances constituting the alleged discrimination or
harassment

Proposed remedy

o7



Note: Bold red strike through text is deleted. Blue text is new text.

Series 4000 4118.113
Personnel 4218.113

POLICY AND ADMINISTRATIVE REGULATIONS REGARDING PROHIBITION OF
SEX DISCRIMINATION AND SEXUAL HARASSMENT IN THE WORKPLACE
(PERSONNEL)

It is the policy of the New Milford Board of Education (the “Board”) for the New Milford Public
Schools (the “District”) that any form of sex discrimination or sexual harassment is prohibited in
the Board’s education programs and activities, whether by students, Board employees or third
parties subject to substantial control by the Board. It is the policy of the Board to maintain a
working environment free from harassment, insults or intimidation on the basis of an employee's
sex and free from discrimination based on sex.

The Board does not discriminate on the basis of sex in the education programs or activities that it
operates and the Board is required by Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 and its
implementing regulations (“Title IX”), Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (“Title VII”),
and Connectlcut law not to dlscrlmmate in such a manner. Disefmma&eﬁ—er—hafaﬁsmem—eﬂ—fhe

eﬁeﬁfaﬁeﬂ—StudentS Board employees and third partles are requlred to adhere toa standard of
conduct that is respectful of the rights of all parties. Any employee or student who engages in
conduct prohibited by this Policy shall be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including
termination or expulsion, respectively. Third parties who engage in conduct prohibited by this
Policy shall be subject to other sanctions, which may include exclusion from Board property
and/or activities. Individuals who engage in acts of sex discrimination or sexual harassment may
also be subject to civil and criminal penalties.

For conduct to violate Title IX, the conduct must have occurred in an education program or
activity of the Board; the conduct must have occurred within the United States of America; and
the complainant must be participating in or attempting to participate in the education program or
activity of the Board. Conduct that does not meet these requirements still may constitute a
violation of Title VII, Connecticut law, and/or another Board policy.

The Superintendent of Schools shall develop Administrative Regulations implementing this
Policy and in accordance with Title IX, Title VII, and Connecticut law (the “Administrative
Regulations™).

Sex discrimination occurs when an employer refuses to hire, disciplines or discharges any
individual, or otherwise discriminates against an individual with respect to hts-or-her-the
individual’s compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of employment on the basis of the
individual’s sex. Sex discrimination also occurs when a person, because of the person’s sex, is
denied participation in or the benefits of any education program or activity receiving federal
financial assistance.

Page 1 of 30



Sexual harassment under Title IX means conduct on the basis of sex that satisfies one or more
of the following:

(1) An employee of the Board conditioning the provision of an aid, benefit, or service of
the Board on an individual’s participation in unwelcome sexual conduct (i.e., quid pro

quo);

(2) Unwelcome conduct determined by a reasonable person to be so severe, pervasive,
and objectively offensive that it effectively denies a person equal access to the Board’s
education programs or activities; or

(3) “Sexual assault” as defined in 20 U.S.C. 1092(f)(6)(A)(v), “dating violence” as
defined in 34 U.S.C. 12291(a)(10), “domestic violence” as defined in 34 U.S.C.
12291(a)(8), or “stalking” as defined in 34 U.S.C. 12291(a)(30).

Sexual harassment under Title VII and Connecticut law means unwelcome sexual advances,
requests for sexual favors, and other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature when:

(1) Submission to such conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly a term or condition
of an individual's employment;

(2) Submission to or rejection of such conduct by an individual is used as the basis for
employment decisions affecting such individual; or

(3) Such conduct has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with an
individual's work performance or creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive working
environment.

Under Connecticut law, discrimination or harassment on the basis of sex includes
discrimination or harassment on the basis of sexual orientation or gender identity and

expression.

Reporting Sex Discrimination or Sexual Harassment

It is the express policy of the Board to encourage victims of sex discrimination and/or sexual
harassment to report such claims. Employees are encouraged to report complaints of sex
discrimination and/or sexual harassment promptly in accordance with the appropriate process set
forth in the Administrative Regulations. The Board directs its employees to respond to such
complaints in a prompt and equitable manner.

Violations of this Policy by employees will not be permitted and may result in discipline up to
and including discharge from employment. Individuals who engage in acts of sex discrimination
or sexual harassment may also be subject to civil and criminal penalties. Retaliation against any
employee for complaining about sex discrimination or sexual harassment is prohibited under this
Policy and illegal under state and federal law.

Any Board employee with notice of sex discrimination and/or sexual harassment allegations

shall immediately report such information to the building principal and/or the Title IX
Coordinator, or if the employee does not work in a school building, to the Title IX Coordinator.

Page 2 of 30



The —— Public-SchootsDistrict administration (the “Administration”) shall provide
training to Title IX Coordinator(s), investigators, decision-makers, and any person who
facilitates an informal resolution process (as set forth in the Administrative Regulations), which
training shall include, but need not be limited to, the definition of sex discrimination and sexual
harassment, the scope of the Board’s education program and activity, how to conduct an
investigation and implement the grievance process, and how to serve impartially, including by
avoiding prejudgment of the facts at issue, conflicts of interest, and bias. The Administration
shall make the training materials used to provide these trainings publicly available on the Board’s
website. The Administration shall also periodically provide training to all Board employees on
the topic of sex discrimination and sexual harassment under Title IX, Title VII, and Connecticut
law, which shall include but not be limited to when reports of sex discrimination and/or sexual
harassment must be made. The Administration shall distribute this Policy and the Administrative
Regulations to employees, union representatives, students, parents and legal guardians and make
the Policy and the Administrative Regulations available on the Board’s website to promote an
environment free of sex discrimination and sexual harassment.

The Board’s Title IX Coordinator is

Holly Hollander, Assistant Superintendent
New Milford Public Schools

25 Sunny Valley Road, Suite A

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-354-3235

e-mail: hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

Any individual may make a report of sex discrimination and/or sexual harassment to any Board
employee or directly to the Title IX Coordinator using any one, or multiple, of the following
points of contact:

Gwen Gallagher, Principal

Northville Elementary School

22 Hipp Road

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-355-3713

e-mail: gallagherg@newmilfordps.org

Cathy Calabrese, Principal
Hill and Plain Elementary School

Page 3 of 30


mailto:kavanaght@newmilfordps.org
mailto:hollanderh@newmilfordps.org
mailto:gallagherg@newmilfordps.org

60 Old Town Park Road

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-354-5430

e-mail: calabresec@newmilfordps.org

Jennifer Chmielewski, Assistant Principal
Sarah Noble Intermediate School

25 Sunny Valley Road

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-210-4020

e-mail: chmielewskij@newmilfordps.org

Jennifer Powers, Assistant Principal
Schaghticoke Middle School

23 Hipp Road

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-354-2204

e-mail: powersj@newmilfordps.org

Keith Lipinsky, Athletic Director
New Milford High School

388 Danbury Road

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-350-6647, ext. 1411
e-mail: lipinskyk@newmilfordps.org

Holly Hollander, Assistant Superintendent
New Milford Public Schools

25 Sunny Valley Road, Suite A

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-354-3235

e-mail: hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

Any Board employee in receipt of allegations of sex discrimination or sexual harassment, or in
receipt of a formal complaint, shall immediately forward such information to the Title IX
Coordinator. Board employees may also make a report of sexual harassment and/or sex
discrimination under Title IX to the U.S. Department of Education: Office for Civil Rights,
Boston-Washington DC Office, U.S. Department of Education, 8" Fleor-5Post-Office

Sequare;BostorMA-02+09-3921-400 Maryland Avenue, SW, Washington, DC 20202-1475
elephone: (202) 453- .
Telephone=-6+7+289-6++H (202) 453-6020)

Employees may also make a report of sexual harassment and/or sex discrimination to the
Connecticut Commission on Human Rights and Opportunities, 450 Columbus Boulevard,

Page 4 of 30


mailto:calabresec@newmilfordps.org
mailto:chmielewskij@newmilfordps.org
mailto:powersj@newmilfordps.org
mailto:hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

Hartford, CT 06103-1835 (Telephone: 860-541-3400 or Connecticut Toll Free Number:

1-800-477-5737).

Legal References:

Civil Rights Act of 1964, Title VII, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2(a).

Equal Employment Opportunity Commission Policy Guidance on Current
Issues of Sexual Harassment (N-915.050), March 19, 1990.

Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, 20 U.S.C. § 1681, et seq.
Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, 34 CFR § 106, et seq.

Meritor Savings Bank, FSB v. Vinson, 477 U.S. 57 (1986)

Conn. Gen. Stat. § 46a-54 - Commission powers Connecticut

Conn. Gen. Stat. § 46a-60 - Discriminatory employment practices
prohibited.

Conn. Gen. Stat. § 46a-81c - Sexual orientation discrimination:
Employment

Conn. Gen. Stat. § 10-153 - Discrimination on the basis of sex, gender
identity or expression or marital status prohibited

Conn. Agencies Regs. §§ 46a-54-200 through § 46a-54-207

Approved: August 20, 2024 NEW MILFORD PUBLIC SCHOOLS

Revised:

New Milford, Connecticut

Page 5 of 30



Series 4000 4118.113 R
Personnel 4218.113 R

ADMINISTRATIVE REGULATIONS REGARDING
THE PROHIBITION OF SEX DISCRIMINATION AND SEXUAL HARASSMENT
(PERSONNEL)

It is the policy of the New Milford Board of Education (the “Board”) for the New Milford Public
Schools (the “District”) that any form of sex discrimination or sexual harassment is prohibited in

the Board’s education programs and activities, whether by students, Board employees or third
partles subject to substantlal control by the Board Brsermma-tron—mdrarassment—on—&m—basrs—o—f

Students, Dlstrlct employees and thlrd parties are expected to adhere to a standard of conduct
that is respectful of the rights of students, District employees, and third parties. It is the policy of
the Board to maintain a working environment free from harassment, insults or intimidation on
the basis of an employee's sex and free from discrimination based on sex. Verbal or physical
conduct by a supervisor or co-worker relating to an employee's sex that has the effect of creating
an intimidating, hostile or offensive work environment, unreasonably interfering with the
employee's work performance, or adversely affecting the employee's employment opportunities
is prohibited.

Any employee or student who engages in conduct prohibited by the Board’s Policy regarding the
Prohibition of Sex Discrimination and Sexual Harassment (Personnel) shall be subject to
disciplinary action. Any third party who engages in conduct prohibited by the Board’s Policy
regarding the Prohibition of Sex Discrimination and Sexual Harassment (Personnel) shall be
subject to remedial measures, which may include exclusion from school property.

Sex discrimination occurs when a person, because of the person’s sex, is denied participation in
or the benefits of any education program or activity receiving federal financial assistance.

Sexual harassment under Title IX means conduct on the basis of sex that satisfies one or more
of the following:
(1) An employee of the Board conditioning the provision of an aid, benefit, or service of the
Board on an individual’s participation in unwelcome sexual conduct (i.e., quid pro quo);
(2) Unwelcome conduct determined by a reasonable person to be so severe, pervasive, and
objectively offensive that it effectively denies a person equal access to the District’s
education programs or activities; or

Page 6 of 30



(3) “Sexual assault” as defined in 20 U.S.C. 1092(f)(6)(A)(v), “dating violence” as defined
in 34 U.S.C. 12291(a)(10), “domestic violence” as defined in 34 U.S.C. 12291(a)(8), or
“stalking” as defined in 34 U.S.C. 12291(a)(30). These definitions can be found in Appendix
A of these Administrative Regulations.

Sexual harassment under Title VII and Connecticut law means unwelcome sexual advances,
requests for sexual favors, and other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature when:
(1) Submission to such conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly a term or condition of
an individual's employment;
(2) Submission to or rejection of such conduct by an individual is used as the basis for
employment decisions affecting such individual; or
(3) Such conduct has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with an individual's
work performance or creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive working environment.

Under Connecticut law, discrimination or harassment on the basis of sex includes
discrimination or harassment on the basis of sexual orientation or gender identity and

expression.

Although not an exhaustive list, the following are other examples of conduct prohibited by the
Board’s Policy regarding the Prohibition of Sex Discrimination and Sexual Harassment
(Personnel):

1. Unwelcome sexual advances from a co-worker or supervisor, such as unwanted
hugs, touches, or kisses;

2. Unwelcome attention of a sexual nature, such as degrading, suggestive or lewd
remarks or noises;

3. Dirty jokes, derogatory or pornographic posters, cartoons or drawings;

4. The threat or suggestion that continued employment advancement, assignment or
earnings depend on whether or not the employee will submit to or tolerate
harassment;

5. Circulating, showing, or exchanging emails, text messages, digital images or

websites of a sexual nature;

6. Using computer systems, including email, instant messaging, text messaging,
blogging or the use of social networking websites, or other forms of electronic
communications, to engage in any conduct prohibited by the Board’s Policy
regarding the Prohibition of Sex Discrimination and Sexual Harassment
(Personnel).

NOTICE OF THE TITLE IX COORDINATOR

The District’s Title IX Coordinator is

Feresatcavanagh

Page 7 of 30



Holly Hollander, Assistant Superintendent
New Milford Public Schools

25 Sunny Valley Road, Suite A

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-354-3235

e-mail: hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

Any individual may make a report of sex discrimination and/or sexual harassment to any District
employee or directly to the Title IX Coordinator using any one, or multiple, of the following
points of contact:

Gwen Gallagher, Principal
Northville Elementary School
22 Hipp Road

New Milford, CT 06776
Telephone: 860-355-3713

e-mail: gallagherg@newmilfordps.org

Cathy Calabrese, Principal

Hill and Plain Elementary School 6
0 Old Town Park Road

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-354-5430

e-mail: calabresec@newmilfordps.org

Jennifer Chmielewski, Assistant Principal
Sarah Noble Intermediate School

25 Sunny Valley Road

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-210-4020

e-mail: chmielewskij@newmilfordps.org

Jennifer Powers, Assistant Principal
Schaghticoke Middle School

23 Hipp Road

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-354-2204

e-mail: powersj@newmilfordps.org

Page 8 of 30


mailto:kavanaght@newmilfordps.org
mailto:hollanderh@newmilfordps.org
mailto:gallagherg@newmilfordps.org
mailto:calabresec@newmilfordps.org
mailto:chmielewskij@newmilfordps.org
mailto:powersj@newmilfordps.org

Keith Lipinsky, Athletic Director
New Milford High School

388 Danbury Road

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-350-6647, ext. 1411
e-mail: lipinskyk@newmilfordps.org

Holly Hollander, Assistant Superintendent
New Milford Public Schools

25 Sunny Valley Road, Suite A

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-354-3235

e-mail: hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

Any District employee in receipt of allegations of sex discrimination or sexual harassment, or in
receipt of a formal complaint, shall immediately forward such information to the Title IX
Coordinator. The Title IX Coordinator manages the District’s compliance with Title IX, Title VII
and Connecticut law with respect to sexual harassment and/or sex discrimination and is an
available resource to anyone seeking information or wishing to file a formal complaint of same.
When a student, District employee, or other participant in the District’s programs and activities
feels that such person has been subjected to discrimination on the basis of sex in any District
program or activity, including without limitation being subjected to sexual harassment, such
person may contact the Title X Coordinator or utilize the Title IX, Title VII and Connecticut law
grievance systems set forth herein to bring concerns forward for the purpose of obtaining a
prompt and equitable resolution.

[Note: Additional Persons May be Added. The federal regulations provide that each recipient
of federal financial assistance must designate and authorize “at least one Employee” to
coordinate its efforts to comply with its responsibilities under the federal regulations.]

EXPLANATION OF COMPLAINT PROCESS AND PROCEDURE

The federal regulations implementing Title IX require the adoption and publication of two
separate grievance systems: a grievance process for complaints of sex discrimination involving
allegations of sexual harassment under Title IX and grievance procedures for complaints of sex
discrimination that are not sexual harassment. Accordingly, the Administration will process any
complaints of sex discrimination involving allegations of sexual harassment under Title IX, as
defined above, pursuant to the grievance process set forth in Section I of these regulations. The
Administration will process any complaints of sex discrimination thatarerot(including

allegations of sexual harassment under Title VII and/or Connecticut law only) pursuant to the
grievance procedures set forth in Section II of these regulations.

The District will keep confidential the identity of any individual who has a made a report or
complaint of sex discrimination, including any individual who has made a report or filed a
formal complaint of sexual harassment, any complainant, any individual who has been reported
to be the perpetrator of sex discrimination, any respondent, and any witness, except as may be
permitted by the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (“\FERPA?), or as required by law,

Page 9 of 30


mailto:hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

or to carry out the purposes of these Administrative Regulations, including the conduct of any
investigation, hearing, or judicial proceeding arising from these Administrative Regulations.

The obligation to comply with Title IX is not obviated or alleviated by the FERPA.

SECTION 1. GRIEVANCE PROCESS FOR COMPLAINTS OF SEXUAL
HARASSMENT UNDER TITLE IX

A. Definitions

e Bias occurs when it is proven that the Title IX Coordinator, investigator(s),
and/or decision-maker(s) demonstrate actual bias, rather than the appearance
of bias. Actual bias includes, but is not limited to, demonstrated personal
animus against the respondent or the complainant and/or prejudgment of the
facts at issue in the investigation.

o Complainant means an individual who is alleged to be the victim of conduct that could
constitute sexual harassment.

o A conflict of interest occurs when it is proven that the Title IX Coordinator,
investigator(s), and/or decision-maker(s) have personal, financial and/or familial interests
that affected the outcome of the investigation.

e Consent means an active, clear and voluntary agreement by a person to engage in sexual
activity with another person (also referred to hereafter as “affirmative consent™).

For the purposes of an investigation conducted pursuant to these Administrative
Regulations, the following principles shall be applied in determining whether consent for
sexual activity was given and/or sustained:

A. Affirmative consent is the standard used in determining whether consent to
engage in sexual activity was given by all persons who engaged in the sexual activity.

B. Affirmative consent may be revoked at any time during the sexual activity by
any person engaged in the sexual activity.

C. It is the responsibility of each person engaging in sexual activity to ensure that
the person has the affirmative consent of all persons engaged in the sexual activity to
engage in the sexual activity and that the affirmative consent is sustained throughout
the sexual activity.

D. It shall not be a valid excuse to an alleged lack of affirmative consent that the
respondent to the alleged violation believed that the complainant consented to the

sexual activity:

(1) because the respondent was intoxicated or reckless or failed to take
reasonable steps to ascertain whether the complainant affirmatively consented, or

Page 10 of 30



(i1) if the respondent knew or should have known that the complainant was
unable to consent because such individual was unconscious, asleep, unable to
communicate due to a mental or physical condition, unable to consent due to the
age of the individual or the age difference between the individual and the
respondent, or incapacitated due to the influence of drugs, alcohol or medication.

E. The existence of a past or current dating or sexual relationship between the
complainant and the respondent, in and of itself, shall not be determinative of a
finding of consent.

e For purposes of investigations and complaints of sexual harassment, education program
or activity includes locations, events, or circumstances over which the Board exercises
substantial control over both the respondent and the context in which the sexual
harassment occurs.

o __Employee means (A) a teacher, substitute teacher, school administrator, school
superintendent, guidance counselor, school counselor, psychologist, social worker, nurse,
physician, school paraprofessional or coach employed by the Board or working in a
public elementary, middle or high school; or (B) any other individual who, in the
performance of the individual’s duties, has regular contact with students and who
provides services to or on behalf of students enrolled in a public elementary, middle or
high school, pursuant to a contract with the Board.

o Formal complaint means a document filed by a complainant or signed by the Title IX
Coordinator alleging sexual harassment (as defined under Title IX) against a respondent
and requesting that the Administration investigate the allegation of sexual harassment. A
“document filed by a complainant” means a document or electronic submission that
contains the complainant’s physical or digital signature, or otherwise indicates that the
complainant is the person filing the formal complaint.

o Respondent means an individual who has been alleged to be the perpetrator of conduct
that could constitute sexual harassment.

e School days means the days that school is in session as designated on the calendar posted
on the Board’s website. In its discretion, and when equitably applied and with proper
notice to the parties, the District may consider business days during the summer recess as
“school days” if such designation facilitates the prompt resolution of the grievance
process.

o Supportive measures means non-disciplinary, non-punitive individualized services
offered as appropriate, as reasonably available, and without fee or charge to the
complainant or the respondent, before or after the filing of a formal complaint or where
no formal complaint has been filed. Such measures are designed to restore or preserve
equal access to the District’s education program or activity without unreasonably
burdening the other party, including measures designed to protect the safety of all parties
or the District’s educational environment, or deter sexual harassment. Supportive
measures may include counseling, extensions of deadlines or other course-related
adjustments, modifications of work or class schedules, mutual restrictions on contact
between the parties, increased security and monitoring, and other similar measures.

Page 11 of 30



B. Reporting Sexual Harassment

1.

It is the express policy of the Board to encourage victims of sexual harassment to
report such claims. Any person may report sexual harassment (whether or not the
person reporting is the person alleged to be the victim of conduct that could constitute
sexual harassment), in person, by mail, by telephone, or by electronic mail, using the
contact information listed for the Title IX Coordinator. If the District receives notice
of sexual harassment or alleged sexual harassment against a person in the District’s
education program or activity, the Title IX Coordinator will promptly contact the
complainant to discuss the availability of supportive measures, whether or not the
complainant files a formal complaint, and will consider the complainant’s wishes with
respect to such measures. If the complainant has yet to file a formal complaint, the
Title IX Coordinator will explain to the complainant the process for doing so.

The District will treat complainants and respondents equitably. A respondent is
presumed not responsible for the alleged conduct and a determination regarding
responsibility will be made at the conclusion of the grievance process if a formal
complaint is filed. Nothing in these Administrative Regulations shall preclude the
District from placing an employee respondent on administrative leave during the
pendency of the grievance process. Further, nothing in these Administrative
Regulations shall limit or preclude the District from removing a respondent from the
District’s education program or activity on an emergency basis, provided that the
District undertakes an individualized safety and risk analysis, and determines that an
immediate threat to the physical health or safety of any student or other individual
arising from the allegations of sexual harassment justifies removal. If a respondent is
removed on an emergency basis, the District shall provide the respondent with notice
and an opportunity to challenge the decision immediately following the removal.

C. Formal Complaint and Grievance Process

1.

A formal complaint may be filed with the Title IX Coordinator in person, by mail, or
by electronic mail, by using the contact information listed for the Title IX
Coordinator. At the time of filing a formal complaint, a complainant must be
participating in or attempting to participate in the District’s education programs or
activity. A formal complaint may be signed by the Title IX Coordinator. If the formal
complaint being filed is against the Title IX Coordinator, the formal complaint should
be filed with the Superintendent. If the formal complaint being filed is against the
Superintendent, the formal complaint should be filed with the Board Chair, who will
then retain an independent investigator to investigate the matter.

The District may consolidate formal complaints as to allegations of sexual harassment
against more than one respondent, or by more than one complainant against one or
more respondents, or by one party against the other party, where the allegations of
sexual harassment arise out of the same facts or circumstances. If possible, formal
complaints should be filed within ten (10) school days of the alleged occurrence in
order to facilitate the prompt and equitable resolution of such claims. The District will
attempt to complete the formal grievance process within ninety (90) school days of
receiving a formal complaint. This timeframe may be temporarily delayed or
extended in accordance with Subsection G of this Section.

Page 12 of 30



3. Upon receipt of a formal complaint, if the Title X Coordinator has not already
discussed the availability of supportive measures with the complainant, the Title IX
Coordinator will promptly contact the complainant to discuss the availability of such
measures and consider the complainant’s wishes with respect to them. The Title IX
Coordinator or designee may also contact the respondent, separately from the
complainant, to discuss the availability of supportive measures for the respondent.
The District will maintain as confidential any supportive measures provided to the
complainant or respondent, to the extent that maintaining such confidentiality would
not impair the ability of the District to provide such supportive measures.

4. Within ten (10) school days of receiving a formal complaint, the District will provide
the known parties with written notice of the allegations potentially constituting sexual
harassment under Title IX and a copy of this grievance process. The written notice
must also include the following:

1. The identities of the parties involved in the incident, if known;

11. The conduct allegedly constituting sexual harassment as defined above;
1il. The date and the location of the alleged incident, if known;
1v. A statement that the respondent is presumed not responsible for the

alleged conduct and that a determination regarding responsibility is made
at the conclusion of the grievance process;

V. A statement that the parties may have an advisor of their choice, who may
be, but is not required to be, an attorney, and may inspect and review
evidence; and

Vi. A statement of any provision in the District’s policies that prohibits
knowingly making false statements or knowingly submitting false
information during the grievance process.

If, in the course of an investigation, the District decides to investigate allegations about
the complainant or respondent that are not included in the written notice, the District
must provide notice of the additional allegations to the parties whose identities are
known.

The parties may have an advisor of their choice accompany them during any grievance
proceeding at which the party’s attendance is required. The District may, in its discretion,
establish certain restrictions regarding the extent to which an advisor may participate in
the proceedings. If any such restrictions are established, they will be applied equally to
all parties.

The Title IX Coordinator will, as applicable, promptly commence an investigation of the
formal complaint, designate a school administrator or third-party contractor to promptly
investigate the formal complaint, or dismiss the formal complaint in accordance with
Subsection F of this Section. The standard of evidence to be used to determine
responsibility is the preponderance of the evidence standard (i.e., more likely than not).
The burden of proof and the burden of gathering evidence sufficient to reach a
determination regarding responsibility rest on the District and not on the parties.

Page 13 of 30



7.

10.

I1.

The parties will be given an equal opportunity to discuss the allegations under
investigation with the investigator(s) and are permitted to gather and present relevant
evidence. This opportunity includes presenting witnesses, including fact and expert
witnesses, and other inculpatory and exculpatory evidence. Credibility determinations
will not be based on a person’s status as a complainant, respondent, or witness. The
District will provide to a party whose participation is invited or expected (including a
witness) written notice of the date, time, location, participants, and purpose of all
hearings (if applicable), investigative interviews, or other meetings, with sufficient time
for the party to prepare to participate.

Both parties will be given an equal opportunity to inspect and review any evidence
obtained as part of the investigation that is directly related to the allegations raised in the
formal complaint, including the evidence upon which the District does not intend to rely
in reaching a determination regarding responsibility and inculpatory or exculpatory
evidence whether obtained from a party or other source, so that each party can
meaningfully respond to the evidence prior to the conclusion of the investigation. Prior to
completion of the investigative report, the District will send to each party and the party’s
advisor, if any, the evidence subject to inspection and review in an electronic format or a
hard copy, and the parties will have ten (10) school days to submit a written response,
which the investigator(s) will consider prior to completion of the investigative report, as
described in Paragraph 9 of this Subsection.

The investigator(s) will create an investigative report that fairly summarizes relevant
evidence. The investigator(s) will send the investigative report, in an electronic format or
hard copy, to each party and to each party’s advisor for their review and written response
at least ten (10) school days prior to the time a determination regarding responsibility is
made.

The Superintendent will appoint a decision-maker(s), who shall be a District employee or
third-party contractor and who shall be someone other than the Title IX Coordinator or
investigator(s). If the formal complaint filed is against the Superintendent, the Board
Chair shall appoint the decision-maker, who shall be someone other than the Title IX
Coordinator or investigator(s). The investigator(s) and the decision-maker(s) shall not
discuss the investigation’s facts and/or determination while the formal complaint is
pending. The decision-maker(s) will afford each party the opportunity to submit written,
relevant questions that a party wants asked of any party or witness, provide each party
with the answers, and allow for additional, limited follow-up questions from each party.
Questions and evidence about the complainant’s sexual predisposition or prior sexual
behavior are not relevant, unless such questions and evidence about the complainant’s
prior sexual behavior are offered to prove that someone other than the respondent
committed the conduct alleged by the complainant, or if the questions and evidence
concern specific incidents of the complainant’s prior sexual behavior with respect to the
respondent and are offered to prove consent. The decision-maker(s) will explain to the
party proposing the questions any decisions to exclude a question as not relevant.

The decision-maker(s) will issue a written determination regarding responsibility. To

reach this determination, the decision-maker must apply the preponderance of the
evidence standard. The written determination will include: (1) identification of the

Page 14 of 30



allegations potentially constituting sexual harassment; (2) a description of the procedural
steps taken from the receipt of the formal complaint through the determination, including
any notifications to the parties, interviews with parties and witnesses, site visits, methods
used to gather other evidence, and hearings held; (3) findings of fact supporting the
determination; (4) conclusions regarding the application of the District’s code of conduct
to the facts; (5) a statement of, and rationale for, the result as to each allegation, including
a determination regarding responsibility, any disciplinary sanctions the District will
impose on the respondent, and whether remedies designed to restore or preserve equal
access to the District’s education program or activity will be provided by the District to
the complainant; and (6) the District’s procedures and permissible bases for the
complainant and respondent to appeal. If the respondent is found responsible for violating
the Board’s Policy regarding the Prohibition of Sex Discrimination and Sexual
Harassment (Personnel), the written determination shall indicate whether the respondent
engaged in sexual harassment as defined by the Board’s Policy and these Administrative
Regulations. The written determination will be provided to both parties simultaneously.

12. Student respondents found responsible for violating the Board’s Policy regarding the
Prohibition of Sex Discrimination and Sexual Harassment (Personnel) may be subject to
discipline up to and including expulsion. Employee respondents found responsible for
violating the Board’s Policy regarding the Prohibition of Sex Discrimination and Sexual
Harassment (Personnel) may be subject to discipline up to and including termination of
employment. Other respondents may be subject to exclusion from the District’s
programs, activities and/or property. In appropriate circumstances, the District may make
a criminal referral. Remedies will be designed to restore or preserve equal access to the
District’s education programs or activities.

13. After receiving notification of the decision-maker(s)’ decision, or after receiving
notification that the District dismissed a formal complaint or any allegation therein, both
complainant and respondent may avail themselves of the appeal process set forth in
Section E of this Section.

D. Informal Resolution

At any time prior to reaching a determination regarding responsibility, but only after the filing of
a formal complaint, the District may suggest to the parties the possibility of facilitating an
informal resolution process, such as mediation, to resolve the formal complaint without the need
for a full investigation and adjudication. If it is determined that an informal resolution may be
appropriate, the Title IX Coordinator or designee will consult with the parties.

Prior to facilitating an informal resolution to a formal complaint, the Title IX Coordinator or
designee will provide the parties with written notice disclosing the sexual harassment
allegations, the requirements of an informal resolution process, and any consequences from
participating in the informal resolution process. Upon receipt of this document, complainants
and respondents have five (5) school days to determine whether they consent to participation in
the informal resolution. The District must obtain voluntary, written consent to the informal
resolution process from both parties.

Prior to agreeing to any resolution, any party has the right to withdraw from the informal
resolution process and resume the grievance process with respect to the formal complaint. If a

Page 15 of 30



satisfactory resolution is reached through this informal process, the matter will be considered
resolved. If these efforts are unsuccessful, the formal grievance process will continue.

Nothing in this section precludes an employee from filing a complaint of retaliation for matters
related to an informal resolution, nor does it preclude either party from filing complaints based
on conduct that is alleged to occur following the District’s facilitation of the informal resolution.

An informal resolution is not permitted to resolve allegations that an employee sexually
harassed a student.

E. Appeal Process

After receiving notification of the decision-maker(s)’ decision, or after receiving notification that
the District dismissed a formal complaint or any allegation therein, both complainant and
respondent have five (5) school days to submit a formal letter of appeal to the Title IX
Coordinator specifying the grounds upon which the appeal is based. Upon receipt of an appeal,
the Superintendent shall appoint a decision-maker(s) for the appeal, who shall be someone other
than the Title IX Coordinator, investigator(s) or initial decision-maker(s).

Appeals will be appropriate only in the following circumstances:

e new evidence that was not reasonably available at the time the determination regarding
responsibility or dismissal was made, that could affect the outcome of the matter;

e procedural irregularity that affected the outcome of the matter;

e the Title IX Coordinator, investigator(s), and/or decision-maker(s) had a conflict of interest
or bias for or against complainants or respondents generally or the individual complainant or
respondent that affected the outcome of the matter. A conflict of interest or bias does not
exist solely because the Title IX Coordinator, investigators(s), and/or decision-maker(s)
previously worked with or disciplined the complainant or respondent.

The District will provide the other party with written notice of such appeal. The appealing party
will then have ten (10) school days to submit to the decision-maker(s) for the appeal a written
statement in support of, or challenging, the outcome of the grievance process. The
decision-maker(s) for the appeal will provide the appealing party’s written statement to the other
party. The other party will then have ten (10) school days to submit to the decision-maker for the
appeal a written statement in support of, or challenging, the outcome of the grievance process.
The decision-maker(s) for the appeal, in their discretion, will determine any additional necessary
and appropriate procedures for the appeal.

After considering the parties’ written statements, the decision-maker(s) for the appeal will
provide a written decision. The decision-maker(s) for the appeal will attempt to issue the written
decision within thirty (30) school days of receipt of all written statements from the parties. If it is
found that one of the bases for appeal exists, the decision-maker(s) for the appeal will issue an
appropriate remedy.

Supportive measures for either or both parties may be continued throughout the appeal process.

Page 16 of 30



F. Dismissal of a Formal Complaint

The Title IX Coordinator shall dismiss any formal complaint that, under Title IX, 1) would not
constitute sexual harassment as defined under Title IX even if proved, 2) did not occur in the
District’s education program or activity, or 3) did not occur against a person in the United States.
Such dismissal does not preclude action under another Board policy.

The District may dismiss a formal complaint or any allegations therein, if at any time during the
investigation or hearing: 1) a complainant notifies the Title IX Coordinator in writing that the
complainant would like to withdraw the formal complaint or any allegations therein; 2) the
respondent is no longer enrolled or employed in the District; or 3) specific circumstances prevent
the District from gathering evidence sufficient to reach a determination as to the formal
complaint or allegations therein.

Upon a dismissal, the District will promptly and simultaneously send written notice of the
dismissal and reason(s) therefor to each party. Either party can appeal from the District’s
dismissal of a formal complaint or any allegations therein using the appeals procedure.

In the event a formal complaint is dismissed prior to the issuance of a decision under Title IX,
the Title IX Coordinator shall determine if the allegations of sexual harassment shall proceed
through the grievance procedures identified in Section II of these Administrative Regulations for
claims of sex discrimination for consideration as to whether the allegations constitute sexual
harassment under Title VII or Connecticut law.

A dismissal pursuant to this section does not preclude action by the District under the Student
Discipline policy, Code of Conduct for students/or and employees, or any other applicable rule,
policy, and/or collective bargaining agreement.

G. Miscellaneous

1. Any timeframe set forth in these Administrative Regulations may be temporarily delayed
or extended for good cause. Good cause may include, but is not limited to, considerations
such as the absence or illness of a party, a party’s advisor, or a witness; concurrent law
enforcement activity; concurrent activity by the Department of Children and Families; or
the need for language assistance or accommodation of disabilities. If any timeframe is
altered on a showing of good cause, written notice will be provided to each party with the
reasons for the action.

2. If a sexual harassment complaint raises a concern about discrimination or harassment on

the basis of any other legally protected classificationstueh-as+aeereligtoneotor;
netional-ortgi-ageor-disability), the Title IX Coordinator or designee shall make a
referral to other appropriate personnel within the District te-g—Seettonr564-Coordinator;

ete);-so as to ensure that any such investigation complies with the requirements of
policies regarding nondiscrimination.

3. If the sexual harassment complaint results in reasonable cause to suspect or believe that a

child has been abused or neglected, has had a nonaccidental physical injury, or injury
which is at variance with the history given of such injury, is placed at imminent risk of

Page 17 of 30



serious harm, or that a student has been sexually assaulted by a school employee, then,
the person to whom the complaint is given or who receives such information shall report
such matters in accordance with the Board's policy on the Reports of Suspected Child
Abuse or Neglect of Children.

4. Retaliation against any individual who complains pursuant to the Board’s Policy
regarding the Prohibition of Sex Discrimination and Sexual Harassment (Personnel) and
these Administrative Regulations is strictly prohibited. Neither the District nor any other
person may intimidate, threaten, coerce, or discriminate against any individual for the
purpose of interfering with any right or privilege secured by +te-+X-applicable law or
these Administrative Regulations, or because the individual has made a report or
complaint, testified, assisted, or participated or refused to participate in any manner in an
investigation, proceeding, or hearing under these Administrative Regulations. The
District will take actions designed to prevent retaliation. Complaints alleging retaliation
may be filed according to the grievance procedures for sex discrimination described
herein.

5. The District will maintain for a period of seven (7) years records of:

i.  Each sexual harassment investigation including any determination regarding
responsibility, any disciplinary sanctions imposed on the respondent, and any
remedies provided to the complainant designed to restore or preserve equal
access to the Board’s education program or activity;

ii. Any appeal and the result therefrom;

iil.  Any informal resolution and the result therefrom; and

iv.  All material used to train Title IX Coordinators, investigators, decision-makers,
and any person who facilitates an informal resolution process. The Board will
make these training materials publicly available on its website.

If the District has actual knowledge of sexual harassment under Title IX in an education
program or activity of the Board, and for any report or formal complaint of sexual
harassment, the District will create and maintain for a period of seven (7) years, records
of any actions, including any supportive measures, taken in response to a report or formal
complaint of sexual harassment. The District will document the basis for its conclusion
that its response was not deliberately indifferent, and document that it has taken measures
designed to restore or preserve equal access to the Board’s education program or activity.
If the District does not provide a complainant with supportive measures, then the District
will document the reasons why such a response was not clearly unreasonable in light of
the known circumstances.

SECTION II. GRIEVANCE PROCEDURES FOR CLAIMS OF SEX DISCRIMINATION
THER THAN SEXUAL HARASSMENT UNDER TITLE IX

A. Definitions

o Complainant means an individual who is alleged to be the victim of conduct that could
constitute sex discrimination.

e Respondent means an individual who has been reported to be the perpetrator of conduct
that could constitute sex discrimination.

Page 18 of 30



B. Reporting Sex Discrimination Other than Sexual Harassment under Title [X

It is the express policy of the Board to encourage victims of sex discrimination to report
such claims. Any person may report sex discrimination or sexual harassment under
Title VII or Connecticut law (whether or not the person reporting is the person alleged
to be the victim of such conduct-thateeutd-constitute-sex-diserimination), in person, by
mail, by telephone, or by electronic mail, using the contact information listed for the Title
IX Coordinator. If the District receives notice of sex discrimination or alleged sex
discrimination against a person in the District’s education program or activity, the Title
IX Coordinator or designee will promptly notify the complainant of the grievance
process. The District will treat complainants and respondents equitably during the
grievance process. Sexual harassment is a form of sex discrimination, and any incident
of sexual harassment under Title IX, as defined above, shall be handled pursuant to
Section I of these Administrative Regulations. Any allegations of sexual harassment
under Title VII or Connecticut law, as defined above, shall be handled pursuant to this
Section II of these Administrative Regulations.

C. Grievance Procedures

1.

As soon as an employee feels that the employee has been subjected to sex discrimination
other than sexual harassment as defined under Title IX (including, without limitation,
sexual harassment under Title VII or Connecticut law), the employee should make a
written complaint to the Title IX Coordinator or to the building principal, or designee.
The employee will be provided a copy of the Board’s Policy and Administrative
Regulations and made aware of the employee’s rights under this Policy and
Administrative Regulations. Preferably, complaints should be filed within ten (10)
school days of the alleged occurrence. Timely reporting of complaints facilitates the
investigation and resolution of such complaints.

The complaint should state the:

1. Name of the complainant;
ii.  Date of the complaint;
iii.  Date(s) of the alleged discrimination;
iv.  Name(s) of the alleged discriminator(s);
v.  Location where such alleged discrimination occurred;
vi.  Names of any witness(es) to the alleged discrimination;
vii.  Detailed statement of the circumstances constituting the alleged
discrimination; and
viii.  Remedy requested.

Any employee who makes an oral complaint of alleged sex discrimination to any of the
above-mentioned personnel will be provided a copy of these Administrative Regulations
and will be requested to make a written complaint pursuant to the above procedure.

All complaints are to be forwarded immediately to the building principal or designee
unless that individual is the subject of the complaint, in which case the complaint should
be forwarded directly to the Superintendent of Schools or designee. In addition, a copy
of any complaint filed under this Policy shall be forwarded to the Title IX Coordinator. If

Page 19 of 30



the complaint being filed is against the Title IX Coordinator, the complaint should be
filed with the Superintendent. If the complaint being filed is against the Superintendent,
the complaint should be filed with the Board Chair, who will then retain anindependent
trvestigator-a third-party contractor to investigate the matter.

The Title IX Coordinator or designee shall investigate all complaints of sex
discrimination against an employee, regardless of whether the conduct occurred on or
oft-school grounds. Complaints will be investigated promptly within the timeframes
identified below. Timeframes may be extended as needed given the complexity of the
investigation, availability of individuals with relevant information, and other extenuating
circumstances. The investigation shall be conducted discreetly, maintaining
confidentiality insofar as possible while still conducting an effective and thorough
investigation.

Any employee who makes a complaint shall be notified of the District’s intent to
investigate the complaint. In the event the employee requests confidentiality or that an
investigation not be conducted, the District will take reasonable steps to investigate and
respond to the complaint to the extent possible, given the request for confidentiality or
that the District not investigate the complaint. If the employee insists that this
information not be shared with the alleged discriminator(s), the employee will be
informed that the District’s ability to investigate and/or take corrective action may be
limited.

Upon receipt of a sex discrimination complaint, the Title IX Coordinator shall either
promptly commence an investigation of the complaint, or shall designate a school
administrator or third-party contractor to promptly investigate the complaint. The
Title IX Coordinator or designee shall:

1. offer to meet with the complainant and respondent (if applicable) separately
within ten (10) school days to discuss the nature of the complaint, identify
individuals the complainant and respondent (if applicable) believe have
relevant information, and obtain any relevant documents the complainant and
respondent may have;

ii.  provide the complainant and respondent (if applicable) with a copy of the
Board’s sex discrimination policy and accompanying regulations;

iii. consider whether any interim measures may be appropriate to protect the
complainant or respondent (if applicable), pending the outcome of the
investigation;

iv. conduct an investigation that is adequate, reliable, and impartial. Investigate
the factual basis of the complaint, including, as applicable, conducting
interviews with individuals deemed relevant to the complaint;

v. consider whether alleged sex discrimination has created a hostile work
environment, including consideration of the effects of off-campus conduct on

the school;

vi. communicate the outcome of the investigation in writing to the complainant,
to the respondent, and to any individual properly identified as a party to the

Page 20 of 30



8.

complaint (to the extent permitted by state and federal confidentiality
requirements), within ninety (90) school days from the date the complaint was
received by the Superintendent’s office. The investigator may extend this
deadline for no more than fifteen (15) additional school days if needed to
complete the investigation. The complainant and respondent (if applicable)
shall be notified of such extension. The written notice shall include a finding
whether the complaint was substantiated and if so, shall identify, to the extent
possible, how the District will remedy the discrimination, adhering to the
requirements of state and federal law; and

vii. when sex discrimination has been found, take steps that are reasonably
calculated to end the discrimination, take corrective and/or disciplinary action
aimed at preventing the recurrence of the discrimination, as deemed
appropriate by the Superintendent or designee, and take steps designed to
remedy the effects of the sex discrimination.

If a complaint is made during summer recess, the complaint will be reviewed and
addressed as quickly as possible given the availability of staff and/or other individuals
who may have information relevant to the complaint. If fixed timeframes cannot be met,
the complainant and respondent will receive notice and interim measures may be
implemented as necessary.

If the complainant or respondent (if applicable) is dissatisfied with the findings of the
investigation, the complainant or respondent may file a written appeal within five (5)
school days to the Title IX Coordinator, or, if the Title IX Coordinator conducted the
investigation, to the Superintendent of Schools. The Title IX Coordinator or
Superintendent shall review the Title IX Coordinator or designee's written report, the
information collected by the Title IX Coordinator or designee together with the
recommended disposition of the complaint to determine whether the alleged conduct
constitutes sex discrimination. The Title IX Coordinator or Superintendent of Schools
may determine if further action and/or investigation is warranted. After completing this
review, the Title IX Coordinator or Superintendent of Schools shall respond to the
complainant and respondent (if applicable), in writing, within fifteen (15) school days
following the receipt of the written request for review.

D. Miscellaneous

1.

If a sex discrimination complaint raises a concern about discrimination or harassment on

the basis of any other legally protected classification{stehasraeeretgroncotor;
rationat-ortginage,or-disability), the Title IX Coordinator or designee shall make a
referral to other appropriate personnel within the District fe-g—Seetion-504-Coordinator;

ete);-so as to ensure that any such investigation complies with the requirements of
policies regarding nondiscrimination.

If the sex discrimination complaint results in reasonable cause to suspect or believe that a
child has been abused or neglected, has had a nonaccidental physical injury, or injury
which is at variance with the history given of such injury, is placed at imminent risk of
serious harm, or that a student has been sexually assaulted by a school employee, then,
the person to whom the complaint is given or who receives such information shall report

Page 21 of 30



such matters in accordance with the Board's policy on the Reports of Suspected Child
Abuse or Neglect of Children.

3. Retaliation against any individual who complains pursuant to the Board’s Policy
regarding the Prohibition of Sex Discrimination and Sexual Harassment (Personnel) and
these Administrative Regulations is strictly prohibited. Neither the District nor any other
person may intimidate, threaten, coerce, or discriminate against any individual for the
purpose of interfering with any right or privilege secured by Fitte EX-applicable law or
these Administrative Regulations, or because the individual has made a report or
complaint, testified, assisted, or participated or refused to participate in any manner in an
investigation, proceeding, or hearing under these Administrative Regulations. The
District will take actions designed to prevent retaliation as a result of filing a complaint.
Complaints alleging retaliation may be filed according to the grievance procedures for
sex discrimination described herein.

Section II1. Further Reporting

At any time, a complainant alleging sex discrimination or sexual harassment under Title IX may
also file a complaint with the Office for Civil Rights, BesterrWashington DC Office, U.S.

Department of Education, 8*Fleet5PestOffice-SquarerBostonMA—02+069-39214400

Maryland Avenue, SW, Washington, DC 20202-1475 (Telephone (6+7202)
289-6+11453-6020).

Employees may also make a report of sexual harassment and/or sex discrimination to the
Connecticut Commission on Human Rights and Opportunities, 450 Columbus Boulevard,
Hartford, CT 06103-1835 (Telephone: 860-541-3400 or Connecticut Toll Free Number:
1-800-477-5737).

Page 22 of 30



Appendix A

Sexual Assault: An offense classified as forcible or nonforcible sex offense under the uniform
crime reporting system of the Federal Bureau of Investigation.

Rape— (Except Statutory Rape) v
e-f—t-he—*v*-let-lm—me-l-ud-mg—Penetratlon, no matter how sllght of the vagina or anus
ith an art or t, or oral penetration by a sex organ of another person
or by a sex-related object. This definition also includes instances wherein which the
victim is incapable of giving consent because of the-persor’s-age-or-beeatseofthe
perser’s-temporary or permanent mental or physical incapacity- (including due to the
influence of drugs or alcohol) or because of age. Physical resistance is not required

on the part of the victim to demonstrate lack of consent.

Sodomy—Oral or anal sexual intercourse with another person, without the consent of the
victim, including instances where the victim is incapable of giving consent because of the
person’s age or because of the person’s temporary or permanent mental or physical
incapacity.

Sexual Assault With An Object—To use an object or instrument to unlawfully penetrate,
however slightly, the genital or anal opening of the body of another person, without the
consent of the victim, including instances where the victim is incapable of giving consent
because of the person’s age or because of the person’s temporary or permanent mental or
physical incapacity.

FondhneCriminal Sexual Contact—The intentional touchmg of the pﬂv&teclothed or
unclothed body parts-ef=s 3 - eattor, without
thre-consent of the victim, mcl-ud-m-gfor the purpose of sexual degradatlon, sexual
gratification, or sexual humiliation. The forced touching by the victim of the actor’s
clothed or unclothed body parts, without consent of the victim, for the purpose of
sexual degradation, sexual gratification, or sexual humiliation. This offense includes
instances where the victim is incapable of giving consent because of the-perser’s-age or
beeauseoftheperson’sincapacity due to temporary or permanent mental or physical
neapactty-impairment or intoxication for the purpose of sexual degradation, sexual
gratification, or sexual humiliation..

Incest—Nonforcible sexual intercourse between persons who are related to each other
within the degrees wherein marriage is prohibited by law.

Statutory Rape—Nonforcible sexual intercourse with a person who is under the statutory
age of consent.

Dating Violence: Violence committed by a person who is or has been in a social relationship of

a romantic or intimate nature with the victim; and where the existence of such a relationship shall
be determined based on a consideration of the length of the relationship, the type of relationship,

and the frequency of interaction between the persons involved in the relationship.

Domestic Violence: Includes felony or misdemeanor crimes of violence committed by a current

Page 23 of 30



or former spouse or intimate partner of the victim, by a person with whom the victim shares a
child in common, by a person who is cohabitating with or has cohabitated with the victim as a
spouse or intimate partner, by a person similarly situated to a spouse of the victim under the
domestic or family violence laws of the jurisdiction receiving grant monies, or by any other
person against an adult or youth victim who is protected from that person’s acts under the
domestic or family violence laws of the jurisdiction.

Stalking: Engaging in a course of conduct directed at a specific person that would cause a

reasonable person to fear for the person’s safety or the safety of others; or suffer substantial
emotional distress.

Page 24 of 30



Series 4000
Personnel

COMPLAINT FORM REGARDING SEXUAL HARASSMENT UNDER TITLE IX
(PERSONNEL)

This complaint form should be used for complaints of sexual harassment under Title IX as defined on page 1 of
the Board’s Administrative Regulations regarding the Prohibition of Sex Discrimination and Sexual Harassment
(Personnel)

Name of the complainant

Date of the complaint

Date of the alleged sexual harassment

Name or names of the sextal-harasserrespondent(s)

Location where such alleged sexual harassment occurred

Name(s) of any witness(es) to the alleged sexual harassment

Detailed statement of the circumstances constituting the alleged sexual harassment

Remedy requested

Signature of Complainant or Title IX Coordinator:

Page 25 of 30



Series 4000
Personnel

COMPLAINT FORM REGARDING SEX DISCRIMINATION (OTHER THAN SEXUAL
HARASSMENT UNDER TITLE IX) (PERSONNEL)

This complaint form should be used for complaints of sex discrimination and/or sexual harassment under Title
VII/Connecticut law, as defined on page 1 of the Board’s Administrative Regulations regarding the Prohibition of
Sex Discrimination and Sexual Harassment (Personnel)

Name of the complainant

Date of the complaint

Date of the alleged sex discrimination

Name or names of the sex-diseriminaterrespondent(s)

Location where such alleged sex discrimination occurred

Name(s) of any witness(es) to the alleged sex discrimination

Detailed statement of the circumstances constituting the alleged sex discrimination

Remedy requested

Signature:

Page 26 of 30



SAMPLE WRITTEN NOTICE FOR FORMAL COMPLAINTS OF SEXUAL HARASSMENT
UNDER TITLE IX

[LETTERHEAD]

NOTICE OF SEXUAL HARASSMENT ALLEGATIONS UNDER TITLE IX

DATE

In accordance with the Board’s Policy and Administrative Regulations regarding the Prohibition
of Sex Discrimination and Sexual Harassment (Personnel), a formal complaint of sexual
harassment has been filed with the Title IX Coordinator.

Identities of the parties involved, if known:
(Complainant(s))
(Respondent(s))

The conduct allegedly constituting sexual harassment:

The date and the location of the alleged incident, if known:

The Title IX Coordinator or designee will contact the parties regarding the next step in the
grievance process. Questions can be directed to the Title IX Coordinator: [INSERT CONTACT
INFORMATION FOR TITLE IX COORDINATOR]

The respondent is presumed not responsible for the alleged conduct. A determination regarding
responsibility is made at the conclusion of the grievance process.

All parties involved may have an advisor of their choice who may be, but it not required to be, an
attorney. This advisor may inspect and review evidence as permitted by the Board’s
Administrative Regulations regarding the Prohibition of Sex Discrimination and Sexual
Harassment (Personnel).

Any employee who knowingly makes false statements or knowing submits false information
during this grievance process is subject to discipline, up to and including termination.
Additionally, it is a violation of the Board’s Student Discipline Policy to lie to school officials or
otherwise engage in dishonest behavior, which includes knowingly making false statements or
knowingly submitting false information during the grievance process. Any student who
knowingly makes false statements or knowingly submits false information during this grievance
process will be subject to sanctions pursuant to the Board’s Student Discipline Policy.

A copy of the Board’s Policy and Administrative Regulations regarding the Prohibition of
Sex Discrimination and Sexual Harassment (Personnel) is included with this notice.

Page 27 of 30



SAMPLE WRITTEN NOTICE FOR THE INFORMAL RESOLUTION PROCESS FOR SEXUAL
HARASSMENT COMPLAINTS

[LETTERHEAD]

NOTICE OF INFORMAL RESOLUTION PROCESS FOR SEXUAL HARASSMENT
COMPLAINTS UNDER TITLE IX

In accordance with the Board’s Policy and Administrative Regulations regarding the Prohibition
of Sex Discrimination and Sexual Harassment (Personnel), a formal complaint of sexual
harassment has been filed with the Title IX Coordinator. The Board has an informal resolution
process to promptly and equitably resolve such complaints using mediation [alternatively, could
be restorative justice]. This informal resolution process will only be utilized if both the
Complainant and Respondent agree to do so.

The conduct allegedly constituting sexual harassment:

If both parties agree to the informal resolution process, it shall preclude the parties from
resuming a formal complaint arising out of the same allegations. However, either party may
withdraw from the informal resolution process at any time before agreeing to a resolution and
resume the grievance process for formal complaints of sexual harassment.

If both parties agree to a resolution, that resolution is binding upon both parties and cannot be
changed or appealed.

The District will maintain for a period of seven (7) years records of the informal resolution
process and results therefrom.

I voluntarily consent to the informal resolution process:

Complainant Date

Respondent Date

Page 28 of 30



[Note: Although we have included this sample notice in our model policy documents for the
convenience of our Board of Education clients, the notice does not need to be approved as a
Board policy.]

[To be posted in a conspicuous place readily available
for viewing by employees and emailed to employees within three months of hire with the
subject line “Sexual Harassment Policy” or words of similar import]

SEXUAL HARASSMENT IS ILLEGAL
AND IS PROHIBITED
BY
THE CONNECTICUT DISCRIMINATION EMPLOYMENT PRACTICES ACT
(Section 46a-60(a)(8) of the Connecticut General Statutes)
AND
TITLE VII OF THE CIVIL RIGHTS ACT OF 1964
(42 United States Code Section 2000e et seq.)

SEXUAL HARASSMENT MEANS ANY UNWELCOME SEXUAL ADVANCES OR REQUESTS FOR SEXUAL FAVORS OR
ANY CONDUCT OF A SEXUAL NATURE WHEN:

1. SUBMISSION TO SUCH CONDUCT IS MADE EITHER EXPLICITLY OR IMPLICITLY A TERM OR CONDITION
OF AN INDIVIDUAL'S EMPLOYMENT,

2. SUBMISSION TO OR REJECTION OF SUCH CONDUCT BY AN INDIVIDUAL IS USED AS THE BASIS FOR
EMPLOYMENT DECISIONS AFFECTING SUCH INDIVIDUAL; OR

3. SUCH CONDUCT HAS THE PURPOSE OR EFFECT OF SUBSTANTIALLY INTERFERING WITH AN
INDIVIDUAL'S WORK PERFORMANCE OR CREATING AN INTIMIDATING, HOSTILE, OR OFFENSIVE
WORKING ENVIRONMENT.

ExXAMPLES OF SEXUAL HARASSMENT INCLUDE:
UNWELCOME SEXUAL ADVANCES
SUGGESTIVE OR LEWD REMARKS

UNWANTED HUGS, TOUCHES, KISSES

REQUESTS FOR SEXUAL FAVORS
RETALIATION FOR COMPLAINING ABOUT SEXUAL HARASSMENT

DEROGATORY OR PORNOGRAPHIC POSTERS, CARTOONS, OR DRAWINGS.

REMEDIES FOR SEXUAL HARASSMENT MAY INCLUDE:

CEASE AND DESIST ORDERS

Page 29 of 30



Back ray
COMPENSATORY DAMAGES
PUNITIVE DAMAGES
HIRING, PROMOTION, OR REINSTATEMENT

RETALIATION AGAINST ANY EMPLOYEE FOR COMPLAINING ABOUT SEXUAL HARASSMENT IS PROHIBITED
UNDER THIS POLICY AND ILLEGAL.

VIOLATION OF THIS POLICY IS GROUNDS FOR DISCIPLINE, INCLUDING DISCHARGE.

INDIVIDUALS WHO ENGAGE IN ACTS OF SEXUAL HARASSMENT MAY ALSO BE SUBJECT TO CIVIL AND
CRIMINAL PENALTIES.

AN INFRACTION OF THIS POLICY BY SUPERVISORS OR CO-WORKERS SHOULD BE REPORTED IMMEDIATELY TO
[TrtLE IX COORDINATOR, OR SUPERINTENDENT IF THE TITLE IX
COORDINATOR IS THE SUBJECT OF THE COMPLAINT]. CONFIDENTIALITY WILL BE MAINTAINED TO THE
EXTENT POSSIBLE.

ANY EMPLOYEE WHO BELIEVES THAT HE OR SHE HAS BEEN HARASSED OR DISCRIMINATED AGAINST IN THE
WORKPLACE IN VIOLATION OF THIS POLICY MAY ALSO CONTACT:

THE ConNEcTICUT CoMMisSION ON HUMAN RIGHTS AND OPPORTUNITIES

[ ] REGION OFFICE [REGIONAL OFFICES AND THEIR ADDRESSES CAN BE FOUND ON
THE CHRO WEBSITE, HTTP://WWW .STATE.CT.US/CHRO/ ]
[ADDRESS]

| PHONE NUMBER]
AND/ OR:

THE EQuAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY COMMISSION
BostoN AREA OFFICE

Joun F. KENNEDY FEDERAL BUILDING

475 GovERNMENT CENTER

Boston, MA 02203

Puone (800) 669-4000

CONNECTICUT LAW REQUIRES THAT A FORMAL WRITTEN COMPLAINT BE FILED WITH THE COMMISSION ON
HuMAN RiGHTS AND OPPORTUNITIES WITHIN THREE HUNDRED (300) DAYS OF THE DATE WHEN THE
ALLEGED HARASSMENT/ DISCRIMINATION OCCURRED.

9/24/20

Page 30 of 30



Note: Passed during the 2025 legislative session, Public Act 25-139 adds sexual
assault victim and human trafficking victim as protected classes under
Connecticut’s non-discrimination laws. This policy has been revised to reflect these
additions. S & G also updated the location and contact information for the U.S.
Department of Education’s Office for Civil Rights, as the Boston office has closed.

Series 5000 5000
Students

POLICY AND ADMINISTRATIVE REGULATIONS
REGARDING NON-DISCRIMINATION (STUDENTS)

Protected Class Discrimination Prohibited:

The New Milford Board of Education (the “Board”) complies with all laws
prohibiting the exclusion of any person from any of its educational programs or activities,
or the denial to any person of the benefits of any of its educational programs or activities,
including all academic, extra-curricular, and school-sponsored activities, on the basis of
any protected characteristic (or protected class) including race, color, religion, age, sex,
sexual orientation, marital status, national origin, alienage, ancestry, disability,
pregnancy, gender identity or expression, veteran status, status as a victim of domestic
violence, sexual assault, or human trafficking or any other basis prohibited by state or
federal law (“Protected Class”), subject to the conditions and limitations established by
law. When the Board has created a limited public forum, the Board shall provide equal
access to the Boy Scouts and other groups as required by law.

It is the policy of the Board that any form of discrimination or harassment on the
basis of an individual’s actual or perceived membership in a Protected Class, whether by
students, Board employees, Board members or third parties subject to the control of the
Board, is prohibited in the New Milford Public Schools (the “District”). The Board’s
prohibition of discrimination or harassment in its educational programs or activities
expressly extends to academic, nonacademic and extracurricular activities, including
athletics.

Retaliation Prohibited:

The Board prohibits reprisal or retaliation against any individual who reports
incidents in good faith that may be a violation of this policy, or who participates in the
investigation of such reports.

Discrimination on the Basis of Protected Class Association Prohibited:

Discrimination and/or harassment against any individual on the basis of that
individual’s association with someone in a Protected Class may also be considered a form
of Protected Class discrimination and/or harassment and is therefore prohibited by this
policy.

88



Scope and Applicability:

Students, Board employees, Board members and community members (e.g., other
individuals affiliated with the District, accessing or seeking access to District facilities)
are expected to adhere to a standard of conduct that is respectful of the rights of all
members of the school community.

Definitions:
The following definitions apply for purposes of this policy:
A. Discrimination:

With respect to students, unlawful discrimination occurs when a student is denied
participation in, or the benefits of, a program or activity of the Board because of such
student’s actual or perceived membership in a Protected Class.

B. Harassment:

Harassment is a form of Protected Class discrimination that is prohibited by law
and by this policy. Harassment constitutes unlawful discrimination when it creates a
hostile environment, which occurs when the harassment is sufficiently severe, pervasive,
or persistent so as to interfere with or limit a student’s ability to participate in or benefit
from the services, activities, or opportunities offered by the District.

The following non-exhaustive list provides examples of the types of prohibited
conduct that may be considered Protected Class harassment that can lead to a hostile
environment, and are therefore prohibited by this policy:

e objectively offensive racial, ethnic, or religious epithets (or epithets
commonly associated with any Protected Class membership, including but
not limited to epithets relating to sex, sexual orientation, and/or gender
identity or expression);

e other words or phrases commonly considered demeaning or degrading on
the basis of Protected Class membership;

e display of images or symbols commonly associated with discrimination
against individuals on the basis of their membership in a Protected Class;

e graphic, written or electronic communications that are harmful, or
humiliating based on Protected Class membership;

e bigoted conduct or communications; or

e physical, written, electronic or verbal threats based on Protected Class
membership.

Harassment does not have to involve intent to harm, be directed toward a specific person,
or involve repeated incidents.

Sexual harassment is a form of harassment that is prohibited by law and Board
policy. For more information regarding harassment based on sex, contact the District’s
Title IX Coordinator at:



Holly Hollander, Assistant Superintendent
New Milford Public Schools

25 Sunny Valley Road, Suite A

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-354-3235

e-mail: hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

C. Veteran:

A veteran is any person honorably discharged from, released under honorable
conditions from or released with an other than honorable discharge based on a qualifying
condition from active service in the United States Army, Navy, Marine Corps, Coast
Guard, Air Force and Space Force and any reserve component thereof, including the
Connecticut National Guard. “Qualifying condition” means (i) a diagnosis of post-
traumatic stress disorder or traumatic brain injury made by an individual licensed to
provide health care services at a United States Department of Veterans Affairs facility,
(i1) an experience of military sexual trauma disclosed to an individual licensed to provide
health care services at a United States Department of Veterans Affairs facility, or (iii) a
determination that sexual orientation, gender identity or gender expression was more
likely than not the primary reason for an other than honorable discharge, as determined in
accordance with Conn. Gen. Stat. §§ 27-103(¢c), (d).

D. Gender identity or expression:

Gender identity or expression refers to a person’s gender-related identity,
appearance or behavior, whether or not that gender-related identity, appearance or
behavior is different from that traditionally associated with the person’s physiology or
assigned sex at birth, which gender-related identity can be shown by providing evidence
including, but not limited to, medical history, care or treatment of the gender-related
identity, consistent and uniform assertion of the gender-related identity or any other
evidence that the gender-related identity is sincerely held, part of a person's core identity
or not being asserted for an improper purpose.

E. Sexual orientation:

Sexual orientation refers to a person’s identity in relation to the gender or genders
to which they are romantically, emotionally or sexually attracted, inclusive of any
identity that a person (i) may have previously expressed, or (ii) is perceived by another
person to hold.

F. Race:

The term race is inclusive of ethnic traits historically associated with race,
including but not limited to, hair texture and protective hairstyles. “Protective hairstyles”
includes, but is not limited to, wigs, headwraps and hairstyles such as individual braids,

cornrows, locs, twists, Bantu knots, afros and afro puffs.

G. Domestic violence:

The term domestic violence means (1) a continuous threat of present physical pain
or physical injury against a family or household member, as defined in Conn. Gen. Stat. §

90


mailto:hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

46b-38a; (2) stalking, including but not limited to, stalking as described in Conn. Gen.
Stat. § 53a-181d, of such family or household member; (3) a pattern of threatening,
including but not limited to, a pattern of threatening as described in Conn. Gen. Stat. §
53a-62, of such family or household member or a third party that intimidates such family
or household member; or (4) coercive control of such family or household member,
which is a pattern of behavior that in purpose or effect unreasonably interferes with a
person’s free will and personal liberty. “Coercive control” includes, but is not limited to,
unreasonably engaging in any of the following: (a) isolating the family or household
member from friends, relatives or other sources of support; (b) depriving the family or
household member of basic necessities; (c) controlling, regulating or monitoring the
family or household member’s movements, communications, daily behavior, finances,
economic resources or access to services; (d) compelling the family or household
member by force, threat or intimidation, including, but not limited to, threats based on
actual or suspected immigration status, to (i) engage in conduct from which such family
or household member has a right to abstain, or (ii) abstain from conduct that such family
or household member has a right to pursue; (€) committing or threatening to commit
cruelty to animals that intimidates the family or household member; or (f) forced sex acts,
or threats of a sexual nature, including, but not limited to, threatened acts of sexual
conduct, threats based on a person’s sexuality or threats to release sexual images.

Biased Conduct:

The Board recognizes that certain student conduct or communications may be considered
indicative of bias towards individuals who are members of a Protected Class, even when
such conduct or communications do not rise to the level of discrimination and/or
harassment. The Board directs the District administration to address any such biased
conduct or communications in a manner consistent with the Board’s legal obligations
under state and federal law and Board policy, including free speech considerations, in
order to promote a school environment that is welcoming and safe for all individuals.

Reporting to District Officials:

It is the policy of the Board to provide for the prompt and equitable resolution of
complaints alleging Protected Class discrimination or harassment. The District will
investigate both formal and informal complaints of discrimination, harassment, or
retaliation.

Any student, staff member and/or parent/guardian who believes a student has
experienced Protected Class discrimination or harassment or an act of retaliation or
reprisal in violation of this policy should report such concern in writing to Holly
Hollander, Assistant Superintendent in accordance with the Board’s complaint
procedures included in the Board’s Administrative Regulations Regarding Non-
Discrimination/Students, which accompany this policy and are available online at New
Milford Board of Education Policies or upon request from the main office of any District
school. Students are encouraged to immediately report concerns about Protected Class
discrimination, harassment, or retaliation.

Students may make verbal or written reports about Protected Class discrimination,
harassment, or retaliation to any Board employee.

91


https://www.newmilfordps.org/policies-additional-resources/
https://www.newmilfordps.org/policies-additional-resources/

If a complaint involves allegations of discrimination or harassment of a student
based on sex, such complaints will be handled in accordance with the procedures set forth
in the applicable Board policy regarding sex discrimination and sexual harassment.
Complaints involving allegations of discrimination or harassment of a student based on
disability will be addressed in accordance with the procedures set forth in the applicable
Board policy regarding Section 504/ADA. In the event reported conducted allegedly
violates more than one policy, the Board will coordinate any investigation in compliance
with the applicable policies.

Mandatory Staff Reporting for Student Incidents:

Board employees are required to report incidents of alleged student-to-student and
employee-to-student discrimination, harassment or retaliation that may be based on a
Protected Class when Board employees witness such incidents or when Board employees
receive reports or information about such incidents, whether such incidents are verbal or
physical or amount to discrimination, harassment or retaliation in other forms. Reports
should be made to any District administrator or to:

Holly Hollander, Assistant Superintendent
New Milford Public Schools

25 Sunny Valley Road, Suite A

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-354-3235

e-mail: hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

Remedial Action:

If the District makes a finding of discrimination, harassment or retaliation of a
student, the District will take remedial action designed to:

A. eliminate the discriminatory/harassing/retaliatory conduct,
B. prevent its recurrence, and
C. address its effects on the complainant and any other affected individuals.

Examples of appropriate action may include, but are not limited to:

A. In the case of a student respondent, interventions for the individual who engaged
in the discrimination/harassment may include, but are not limited to, discipline
(including but not limited to suspension and/or expulsion), educational
interventions, exclusion from extra-curricular activities and/or sports programs,
and/or referral to appropriate state or local agencies;

B. In the case of an employee respondent, interventions for the individual who
engaged in the discrimination/harassment may include, but are not limited to,
supervisor notification, discipline (including possible termination of
employment), training, and/or referral to appropriate state or local agencies;

C. In the case of respondent who is otherwise associated with the school community,
interventions for the individual who engaged in the discrimination/harassment
may include, but are not limited to, exclusion from school property and/or
activities and/or referral to appropriate state or local agencies;

92


mailto:hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

D. Follow-up inquiries with the complainant and witnesses to ensure that the
discriminatory/harassing conduct has stopped and that they have not experienced
any retaliation;

E. Supports for the complainant; and

F. Training or other interventions for the larger school community designed to
ensure that students, staff, parents, Board members and other individuals within
the school community understand the types of behavior that constitute
discrimination/harassment, that the District does not tolerate it, and how to report
it.

District staff members and administrators will work with students and
parents/guardians to take steps designed to prevent acts of discrimination, harassment and
retaliation.

Reporting to State and Federal Agencies:

In addition to reporting to the Board, any student and/or parent/guardian also may
file a complaint with the following agencies:

Office for Civil Rights, U.S. Department of Education (“OCR”):

Office for Civil Rights, Washington DC Office

U.S. Department of Education

400 Maryland Avenue, SW

Washington, DC 20202-1475

(202 453-6020)
http://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/docs/howto.html

Connecticut Commission on Human Rights and Opportunities:

Connecticut Commission on Human Rights and Opportunities

450 Columbus Blvd.

Hartford, CT 06103-1835

(860-541-3400 or Connecticut Toll Free Number 1-800-477-5737)

Questions/Requests for Accommodation:
Any parent, student, staff member, Board member or community member who:

1. has questions or concerns about this policy or its accompanying regulations;
2. wishes to request or discuss accommodations for a student based on religion;
may contact:

Holly Hollander, Assistant Superintendent
New Milford Public Schools

25 Sunny Valley Road, Suite A

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-354-3235

e-mail: hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

93


mailto:hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

Any parent, student, staff member, Board member or community member who
has questions or concerns about the Board’s policies regarding discrimination or
harassment of students on the basis of sex may contact the District’s Title [X
Coordinator:

Holly Hollander, Assistant Superintendent
New Milford Public Schools

25 Sunny Valley Road, Suite A

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-354-3235

e-mail: hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

Any parent, student, staff member, Board member or community member who:

1. has specific questions or concerns about the Board’s policies regarding
discrimination on the basis of disability applicable to students; OR
2. wishes to request an accommodation for a student on the basis of disability

may contact the District’s Section 504/ADA Coordinator:

Holly Hollander, Assistant Superintendent
New Milford Public Schools

25 Sunny Valley Road, Suite A

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-354-3235

e-mail: hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

Legal References:

Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, 20 U.S.C. § 1681, et seq.

Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000d, et seq.

Boy Scouts of America Equal Access Act, 20 U.S.C. § 7905

Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq.

Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, 29 U.S.C. § 794, et seq.

Connecticut General Statutes § 1-1n, “Gender Identity or Expression”
defined

Connecticut General Statutes § 10-15¢

Connecticut General Statutes § 27-103

Connecticut General Statutes § 46a-51, Definitions

Connecticut General Statutes § 46a-58, Deprivation of rights

Connecticut General Statutes § 46b-1, Family relations matters and
domestic violence defined

Public Act No. 25-139, “An Act Concerning Human Trafficking and Sexual
Assault Victims”


mailto:hollanderh@newmilfordps.org
mailto:hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

Approved: February 18, 2025
Revised:

NEW MILFORD PUBLIC SCHOOLS
New Milford, Connecticut

95



Series 5000 5000 R
Students

ADMINISTRATIVE REGULATIONS REGARDING
DISCRIMINATION COMPLAINTS (STUDENTS)

Protected Class Discrimination Prohibited:

The New Milford Board of Education (the “Board”) complies with all laws prohibiting
the exclusion of any person from any of its educational programs or activities, or the
denial to any person of the benefits of any of its educational programs or activities, on the
basis of any protected characteristic (or protected class) including race, color, religion,
age, sex, sexual orientation, marital status, national origin, alienage, ancestry, disability,
pregnancy, gender identity or expression, veteran status, status as a victim of domestic
violence, sexual assault, or human trafficking, or any other basis prohibited by state or
federal law (“Protected Class™), subject to the conditions and limitations established by
law. When the Board has created a limited public forum, the Board shall provide equal
access to the Boy Scouts and other groups as required by law.

It is the policy of the Board that any form of discrimination or harassment on the basis of
an individual’s actual or perceived membership in a Protected Class, whether by students,
Board employees, Board members or third parties subject to the control of the Board, is
prohibited in the New Milford Public Schools (the “District”). The Board’s prohibition of
discrimination or harassment in its educational programs or activities expressly extends
to academic, nonacademic and extracurricular activities, including athletics.

Retaliation Prohibited:

The Board prohibits reprisal or retaliation against any individual who reports incidents in
good faith that may be a violation of this policy, or who participates in the investigation of
such reports.

The District will not tolerate any reprisals or retaliation that occur as a result of the good
faith reporting of charges of Protected Class discrimination or harassment. Any such
reprisals or retaliation may result in disciplinary action against the retaliator, and other
corrective actions as appropriate.

Discrimination on the Basis of Protected Class Association Prohibited:

Discrimination and/or harassment against any individual on the basis of that individual’s
association with someone in a Protected Class may also be considered a form of Protected
Class discrimination and/or harassment.

Scope and Applicability:

Students, Board employees, Board members and community members (e.g., other
individuals affiliated with the District, accessing or seeking access to District facilities)

96



are expected to adhere to a standard of conduct that is respectful of the rights of all
members of the school community.

The following non-exhaustive list provides examples of the type of prohibited conduct
that may be considered Protected Class harassment that can lead to a hostile environment,
and are therefore prohibited:

e objectively offensive racial, ethnic, or religious epithets (or epithets
commonly associated with any Protected Class membership, including but
not limited to epithets relating to sex, sexual orientation, and/or gender
identity or expression);

e other words or phrases commonly considered demeaning or degrading on
the basis of Protected Class membership;

e display of images or symbols commonly associated with discrimination
against individuals on the basis of their membership in a Protected Class;

e graphic, written or electronic communications that are harmful, or
humiliating based on Protected Class membership;

e bigoted conduct or communications; or

e physical, written, electronic or verbal threats based on Protected Class
membership.

Harassment does not have to involve intent to harm, be directed toward a specific person,
or involve repeated incidents.

Reporting to District Officials:

It is the policy of the Board to provide for the prompt and equitable resolution of
complaints alleging Protected Class discrimination or harassment. The District will
investigate both formal and informal complaints of discrimination, harassment, or
retaliation.

Any student, staff member and/or parent/guardian who believes a student has experienced
Protected Class discrimination or harassment or an act of retaliation or reprisal in
violation of Board policy should report such concern in writing to

Gwen Gallagher, Principal

Northville Elementary School

22 Hipp Road New Milford, CT 06776
Telephone: 860-355-3713

e-mail: gallagherg@newmilfordps.org

Cathy Calabrese, Principal

Hill and Plain Elementary School 6

0 Old Town Park Road

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-354-5430

e-mail: calabresec(@newmilfordps.org

97


mailto:gallagherg@newmilfordps.org
mailto:calabresec@newmilfordps.org

Jennifer Chmielewski, Assistant Principal
Sarah Noble Intermediate School

25 Sunny Valley Road

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-210-4020

e-mail: chmielewskij@newmilfordps.org

Jennifer Powers, Assistant Principal
Schaghticoke Middle School

23 Hipp Road

New Milford, CT 06776
Telephone: 860-354-2204

e-mail: powersj@newmilfordps.org

Keith Lipinsky, Athletic Director
New Milford High School

388 Danbury Road

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-350-6647, ext. 1411
e-mail: lipinskyk@newmilfordps.org

Holly Hollander, Assistant Superintendent
New Milford Public Schools

25 Sunny Valley Road, Suite A

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-354-3235

e-mail: hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

in accordance with the Board’s complaint procedures included in these Administrative
Regulations Regarding Non-Discrimination/Students.

If a complaint involves allegations of discrimination or harassment of a student based on
sex, such complaints will be handled in accordance with the procedures set forth in the
applicable Board policy regarding sex discrimination and sexual harassment. Complaints
involving allegations of discrimination or harassment of student based on disability will
be addressed in accordance with the procedures set forth in the applicable Board policy
regarding Section 504/ADA. In the event reported conducted allegedly violates more
than one policy, the Board will coordinate any investigation in compliance with the
applicable policies.

Students are encouraged to immediately report any concerns about Protected Class
discrimination, harassment, or retaliation.

Mandatory Staff Reporting for Student Incidents:

Board employees are required to report incidents of alleged student-to-student and
employee-to-student discrimination, harassment or retaliation that may be based on a
Protected Class when Board employees witness such incidents or when Board employees
receive reports or information about such incidents, whether such incidents are verbal or

98


mailto:chmielewskij@newmilfordps.org
mailto:powersj@newmilfordps.org
mailto:hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

physical or amount to discrimination, harassment or retaliation in other forms. Reports
should be made to any District administrator or to:

Holly Hollander, Assistant Superintendent
New Milford Public Schools

25 Sunny Valley Road, Suite A

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-354-3235

e-mail: hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

Complaint Procedure

Preferably, complaints should be filed within thirty (30) days of the alleged occurrence.
Timely reporting of complaints facilitates the investigation and resolution of such
complaints. The District will investigate such complaints promptly and equitably, and
will take corrective action when allegations are verified.

As soon as a student feels that they, or another student has been subjected to Protected
Class discrimination, harassment or retaliation, the individual should make a written
complaint to Principal Gallagher, Northville Elementary School, or Cathy Calabrese,
Principal, Hill and Plain School, or Jennifer Chmielewski, Assistant Principal, Sarah
Noble Intermediate School or Jennifer Powers, Assistant Principal, Schaghticoke Middle
School, or Keith Lipinsky, Athletic Director, New Milford High School, or Holly
Hollander, Assistant Superintendent, Central Office. These individuals are referenced
below as “above named individuals.”

Students may make verbal or written reports about Protected Class discrimination,
harassment, or retaliation to any Board employvee. Board employees receiving such
reports shall promptly forward them to any District administrator or to Holly
Hollander, Assistant Superintendent.

The student and/or parent/guardian or other individual will be provided a copy of the
Board’s policy and regulation and made aware of the student’s rights under this policy
and regulation. In the event the above named individuals receive a complaint alleging
discrimination or harassment of a student based on sex, the above named individuals
shall follow the procedures set forth in the applicable Board policy regarding sex
discrimination and sexual harassment. In the event the above named individuals receive
a complaint alleging discrimination or harassment of a student based on disability, the
above named individuals shall follow the procedures set forth in the applicable Board
policy regarding Section 504/ADA.

The complaint should state the:
A. Name of the complainant/victim,
B. Date of the complaint,

C. Date(s) of the alleged harassment/discrimination,

99


mailto:hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

D. Name(s) of the alleged harasser(s) or discriminator(s),

E. Location where such alleged harassment/discrimination occurred,
F. Names of any witness(es) to the alleged harassment/discrimination,
G. Detailed statement of the circumstances constituting the alleged

harassment/discrimination; and
H. Proposed remedy.

Any student and/or parent/guardian or other individual who makes an oral complaint of
alleged discrimination or harassment of a student to any of the above-mentioned
personnel will be provided a copy of this regulation and will be requested to make a
written complaint pursuant to the above procedure. If a student (or individual acting on
behalf of the student) is unable to make a written complaint, the Board employee
receiving the oral complaint will either reduce the complaint to writing or assist the
student (individual acting on behalf of the student) in completing the written complaint
form or ask a District administrator for assistance in doing so.

All complaints are to be forwarded immediately to the Superintendent or designee. Upon

receipt of a complaint alleging discrimination or harassment of a student under this

complaint procedure, the Superintendent shall designate a District administrator (or other

trained individual) to promptly investigate the complaint. During the course of the
investigation, the investigator shall interview or consult with all individuals reasonably
believed to have relevant information, including the individual alleged to have
experienced Protected Class discrimination and/or harassment (the “complainant”), the
reporter (if different from the complainant) the alleged discriminator/harasser
(“respondent”) and any witnesses to the conduct. Complaints will be investigated
promptly within the timeframes identified below. Timeframes may be extended as

needed given the complexity of the investigation, availability of individuals with relevant

information and/or other extenuating circumstances. Confidentiality will be maintained
by all persons involved in the investigation to the extent possible to the extent consistent
with principles of due process, as determined by the investigator.

Upon receipt of a written complaint of alleged discrimination or harassment of a student,
the investigator should:

1. Offer to meet with the complainant (and respondent, if applicable) within ten
(10) business days (provided that such timeframe may be reasonably extended
based on the availability of necessary witnesses and/or participants, the
complexity of the investigation, and/or other extenuating circumstances) to

discuss the nature of the complaint, discuss the availability of interim measures,

identify individuals the complainant or respondent believes has relevant
information, and obtain any relevant documents the complainant or respondent
may have;

100



10.

Provide the complainant (and respondent, if applicable) with a copy of the
Board’s non-discrimination policy and accompanying regulations;

Conduct an investigation that is adequate, reliable, and impartial. Investigate
the factual basis of the complaint, including, as applicable, conducting
interviews with the parties to the complaint and any relevant witnesses or other
individuals deemed relevant to the complaint;

Review any records, notes, statements, or other documents relevant to the
complaint;

Maintain confidentiality to the extent practicable throughout the investigative
process, in accordance with state and federal law;

Complete a final investigation report that includes: (i) a findings of fact based
on the evidence gathered; (i) for each allegation, the conclusion(s) and
reasoning(s) as to whether the discrimination or harassment occurred; and (iii)
for any individual(s) found to have engaged in discrimination or harassment, a
broad statement of consequences imposed (to the extent permitted by state and
federal confidentiality requirements) (e.g., “Consequences were imposed.”).

Communicate the outcome of the investigation in writing to the complainant
(and respondent, if applicable) (to the extent permitted by state and federal
confidentiality requirements), within thirty (30) business days (provided that
such timeframe may be reasonably extended based on the availability of
necessary witnesses and/or participants, the complexity of the investigation,
and/or other extenuating circumstances) from the date the complaint was
received by the Superintendent’s office. The complainant (and respondent, if
applicable) shall be notified of any extension of the investigation timeline. The
written notice shall include a finding whether the complaint was substantiated
and if so, shall identify, to the extent possible, how the District will take steps
designed to remedy the discrimination or harassment, adhering to the
requirements of state and federal law;

If a complaint is made during summer recess, the complaint will be reviewed
and addressed as quickly as possible given the availability of employees and/or
other individuals who may have information relevant to the complaint. If fixed
timeframes cannot be met, the complainant (and respondent, if applicable) will
receive notice and interim measures may be implemented as necessary;

Whenever allegations are verified, ensure that appropriate corrective action is
taken (including, but not limited to, disciplinary action) aimed at preventing the
recurrence of the discrimination or harassment. Corrective action should
include steps designed to avoid continuing discrimination or harassment;

After receiving the written notice of the outcome, parties shall have ten (10)
school days to submit a formal written statement of appeal, if they so choose, to
the Superintendent challenging the outcome of the investigation and explaining
the basis for appeal. Upon receipt of an appeal, the Superintendent shall

101



appoint a decisionmaker(s) for the appeal, who may be the Superintendent or
designee. The decisionmaker(s) for the appeal will provide the appealing
party’s written statement to the non-appealing party. The non-appealing party
will then have ten (10) school days to submit to the decision-maker(s) for the
appeal a written statement in support of, or challenging, the outcome of the
investigation. The decisionmaker(s) for the appeal shall review the evidence
and the information presented by the parties and determine if further action
and/or investigation is warranted. Such action may include consultation with
the investigator(s) and the parties, a meeting with appropriate individuals to
attempt to resolve the complaint, or a decision affirming or overruling the
written outcome. Generally, a party’s disagreement with the outcome of the
investigation, alone, will not be basis for further action. The decisionmaker(s)
for the appeal will attempt to issue written notice of the outcome of the appeal
to the parties within thirty (30) school days of receipt of all written statements
from the parties.

Remedial Action:

If the District makes a finding of discrimination, harassment or retaliation of a student,
the District will take remedial action designed to:

A.
B.
C.

eliminate the discriminatory/harassing/retaliatory conduct,
prevent its recurrence, and
address its effects on the complainant and any other affected individuals.

Examples of appropriate action may include, but are not limited to:

A.

In the case of a student respondent, interventions for the individual who engaged
in the discrimination/harassment may include, but are not limited to, discipline
(including but not limited to suspension and/or expulsion), educational
interventions, exclusion from extra-curricular activities and/or sports programs,
and/or referral to appropriate state or local agencies;

. In the case of an employee respondent, interventions for the individual who

engaged in the discrimination/harassment may include, but are not limited to,
supervisor notification, discipline (including possible termination of
employment), training, and/or referral to appropriate state or local agencies;

In the case of respondent who is otherwise associated with the school community,
interventions for the individual who engaged in the discrimination/harassment
may include, but are not limited to, exclusion from school property and/or
activities and/or referral to appropriate state or local agencies;

Follow-up inquiries with the complainant and witnesses to ensure that the
discriminatory/harassing conduct has stopped and that they have not experienced
any retaliation;

Supports for the complainant; and

Training or other interventions for the larger school community designed to
ensure that students, staff, parents, Board members and other individuals within
the school community understand the types of behavior that constitute
discrimination/harassment, that the District does not tolerate it, and how to report
it.

102



District staff members and administrators will work with students and parents/guardians
to take steps designed to prevent acts of discrimination, harassment and retaliation.

Staff Development:

The District will periodically provide staff development for District administrators and
periodically distribute the Board’s Non-Discrimination policies and the implementing
administrative regulations to staff, students and parents in an effort to maintain an
environment free of discrimination, harassment and retaliation.

Reporting to State and Federal Agencies:

Any student and/or parent/guardian also may file a complaint with the Office for Civil
Rights, U.S. Department of Education (“OCR”):

Office for Civil Rights, Washington DC Office

U.S. Department of Education

400 Maryland Avenue, SW

Washington, DC 20202-1475

(202 453-6020)

http://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/docs/howto.html

Any student and/or parent/guardian may also file a complaint with the Connecticut
Commission on Human Rights and Opportunities:

Connecticut Commission on Human Rights and Opportunities

450 Columbus Blvd.

Hartford, CT 06103-1835

(860-541-3400 or Connecticut Toll Free Number 1-800-477-5737)

Questions/Requests for Accommodation:
Any parent, student, staff member, Board member or community member who:

1. has questions or concerns about this policy or its accompanying regulations;
2. wishes to request or discuss accommodations for a student based on religion;
may contact:

Holly Hollander, Assistant Superintendent
New Milford Public Schools

25 Sunny Valley Road, Suite A

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-354-3235

e-mail: hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

Any parent, student, staff member, Board member or community member who
has questions or concerns about the Board’s policies regarding discrimination or

103


mailto:hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

harassment of students on the basis of sex may contact the District’s Title [X
Coordinator:

Holly Hollander, Assistant Superintendent
New Milford Public Schools

25 Sunny Valley Road, Suite A

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-354-3235

e-mail: hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

Any parent, student, staff member, Board member or community member who:

1. has specific questions or concerns about the Board’s policies regarding
discrimination on the basis of disability applicable to students; OR
2. wishes to request an accommodation for a student on the basis of disability

may contact the District’s Section 504/ADA Coordinator:

Holly Hollander, Assistant Superintendent
New Milford Public Schools

25 Sunny Valley Road, Suite A

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-354-3235

e-mail: hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

Regulation approved: December 19, 2023
Regulation revised: February 18, 2025

104


mailto:hollanderh@newmilfordps.org
mailto:hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

DISCRIMINATION/HARASSMENT COMPLAINT FORM
(For complaints based on race, color, religion, age, marital status, national origin,
alienage, ancestry, veteran status, or status as a victim of domestic violence, sexual
assault, or human trafficking)

Name of the reporter

Name of the complainant/victim

School/program and grade of the complainant/victim

Reporter’s relationship to the complainant/victim

Date of the complaint

Date of the alleged discrimination/harassment

Name or names of the alleged discriminator(s) or harasser(s)

Location where such alleged discrimination/harassment occurred

Name(s) of any witness(es) to the alleged discrimination/harassment

Detailed statement of the circumstances constituting the alleged discrimination or
harassment

Proposed remedy

105



Note: Red strikkethrough text is deleted. Blue text is new.

Series 5000 5145. 7
Students

POLICY AND ADMINISTRATIVE REGULATIONS REGARDING HHEPX-OFTHE
EBDHEAHON-AMENDMENTS-0F1972—PROHIBITION OF SEX DISCRIMINATION
AND SEXUAL HARASSMENT (STUDENTYS)

It is the policy of the New Milford Board of Education (the “Board”) for the New Milford Public
Schools (the “District”) that any form of sex discrimination or sexual harassment is prohibited in
the Board’s education programs and activities, whether by students, Board employees or third
parties subject to substantial control by the Board. The Board does not discriminate on the basis
of sex in the education programs or activities that it operates and the Board is required by Title
IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 and its implementing regulations (“Title IX”’) and
Connectlcut law not to dlscrlmlnate in such a manner. Diseﬁmmaﬂeﬁ—e%hmssmeﬁt—eﬁ—ﬂ%e—b&ﬁs

Students, Board employees and third parties are requlred to adhere toa standard of conduct that
is respectful of the rights of students, employees and third parties. Any student or employee who
engages in conduct prohibited by this Policy shall be subject to disciplinary action, up to and
including expulsion or termination, respectively.

For conduct to violate Title IX, the conduct must have occurred in an education program or
activity of the Board; the conduct must have occurred within the United States of America; and
the complainant must be participating in or attempting to participate in the education program or
activity of the Board. Conduct that does not meet these requirements still may constitute a
violation of Connecticut law or another Board policy.

The Superintendent of Schools shall develop Administrative Regulations implementing this
Policy and in accordance with Title IX and Connecticut law (the “Administrative Regulations”).

Sex discrimination occurs when a person, because of the person’s sex, is denied participation in
or the benefits of any education program or activity receiving federal financial assistance.

Sexual harassment under Title IX means conduct on the basis of sex that satisfies one or more
of the following:

(1) An employee of the Board conditioning the provision of an aid, benefit, or service of
the Board on an individual’s participation in unwelcome sexual conduct (i.e., quid pro

quo);

(2) Unwelcome conduct determined by a reasonable person to be so severe, pervasive,
and objectively offensive that it effectively denies a person equal access to the Board’s
education programs or activities; or

(3) “Sexual assault” as defined in 20 U.S.C. 1092(f)(6)(A)(v), “dating violence” as
defined in 34 U.S.C. 12291(a)(10), “domestic violence” as defined in 34 U.S.C.
12291(a)(8), or “stalking” as defined in 34 U.S.C. 12291(a)(30).

Page 1 of 29



Sexual harassment under Connecticut law means conduct in a school setting that 1) is sexual
in nature; 2) 1s unwelcome; and 3) denies or limits a student’s ability to participate in or benefit
from a school’s educational program. Sexual harassment can be verbal, nonverbal or physical.
Sexual violence is a form of sexual harassment. Under Connecticut law, discrimination or
harassment on the basis of sex includes discrimination or harassment on the basis of sexual
orientation or gender identity and expression.

Reporting Sex Discrimination or Sexual Harassment

It is the express policy of the Board to encourage victims of sex discrimination and/or sexual
harassment to report such claims. Students are encouraged to report complaints of sex
discrimination and/or sexual harassment promptly in accordance with the appropriate process set
forth in the Administrative Regulations. The Board directs its employees to respond to such
complaints in a prompt and equitable manner. The Board further directs its employees to
maintain confidentiality to the extent appropriate and not tolerate any reprisals or retaliation that
occur as a result of the good faith reporting of charges of sex discrimination and/or sexual
harassment. Any such reprisals or retaliation will result in disciplinary action against the
retaliator, up to and including expulsion or termination as appropriate.

Any Board employee with notice of sex discrimination and/or sexual harassment allegations
shall immediately report such information to the building principal and/or the Title IX
Coordinator, or if the employee does not work in a school building, to the Title IX Coordinator.

The ————Publie-SehoolsDistrict administration (the “Administration”) shall provide
training to Title IX Coordinator(s), investigators, decision-makers, and any person who
facilitates an informal resolution process (as set forth in the Administrative Regulations), which
training shall include but need not be limited to, the definitions of sex discrimination and sexual
harassment, the scope of the Board’s education program and activity, how to conduct an
investigation and grievance process, and how to serve impartially, including by avoiding
prejudgment of the facts at issue, conflicts of interest, and bias. The Administration shall make
the training materials used to provide these trainings publicly available on the Board’s website.
The Administration shall also periodically provide training to all Board employees on the topic
of sex discrimination and sexual harassment under Title IX and Connecticut law, which shall
include but not be limited to when reports of sex discrimination and/or sexual harassment must
be made. The Administration shall distribute this Policy and the Administrative Regulations to
staft, students and parents and legal guardians and make the Policy and the Administrative
Regulations available on the Board’s website to promote an environment free of sex
discrimination and sexual harassment.

The Board’s Title IX Coordinator is

Holly Hollander, Assistant Superintendent
New Milford Public Schools

25 Sunny Valley Road, Suite A

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-354-3235

e-mail: hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

Page 2 of 29


mailto:hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

Any individual may make a report of sex discrimination and/or sexual harassment to any Board
employee or directly to the Title IX Coordinator using any one, or multiple, of the following
points of contact

Gwen Gallagher, Principal

Northville Elementary School

22 Hipp Road

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-355-3713

e-mail: gallagherg@newmilfordps.org

Cathy Calabrese, Principal

Hill and Plain Elementary School
60 Old Town Park Road

New Milford, CT 06776
Telephone: 860-354-5430

e-mail: calabresec@newmilfordps.org

Jennifer Chmielewski, Assistant Principal
Sarah Noble Intermediate School

25 Sunny Valley Road

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-210-4020

e-mail: chmielewskij@newmilfordps.org

Jennifer Powers, Assistant Principal
Schaghticoke Middle School

23 Hipp Road

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-354-2204

e-mail: powersj@newmilfordps.org

Keith Lipinsky, Athletic Director
New Milford High School

388 Danbury Road

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-350-6647, ext. 1411
e-mail: lipinskyk@newmilfordps.org

Holly Hollander, Assistant Superintendent
New Milford Public Schools

25 Sunny Valley Road, Suite A

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-354-3235

e-mail: hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

Page 3 of 29


mailto:gallagherg@newmilfordps.org
mailto:calabresec@newmilfordps.org
mailto:chmielewskij@newmilfordps.org
mailto:powersj@newmilfordps.org
mailto:hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

Any Board employee in receipt of allegations of sex discrimination or sexual harassment, or in
receipt of a formal complaint, shall immediately forward such information to the Title IX
Coordinator. Students may also make a report of sexual harassment and/or sex discrimination
under Title IX to the U.S. Department of Education: Office for Civil Rights, BestenWashington

DC Office, U.S. Department of Education, 8" -Fleer-5-PestOffice-Sguare BostonMA
821+69-392+400 Maryland Avenue, SW, Washington, DC 20202-1475 (Telephone (6+7202)

289-6++1+453-6020).
Students may also make a report of sexual harassment and/or sex discrimination to the
Connecticut Commission on Human Rights and Opportunities, 450 Columbus Boulevard,

Hartford, CT 06103-1835 (Telephone: 860-541-3400 or Connecticut Toll Free Number:
1-800-477-5737).

Legal References: Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, 20 U.S.C. § 1681, et seq.

Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, 34 C.F.R § 106.1, et seq.

Gebser v. Lago Vista Independent School District, 524 U.S. 274 (1998)

Davis v. Monroe County Board of Education, 526 U.S. 629 (1999)

Conn. Gen. Stat. § 10-15c - Discrimination in public schools prohibited.

Approved: August 20, 2024 NEW MILFORD PUBLIC SCHOOLS
Revised: October 16, 2023 New Milford, Connecticut
June 20, 2023

Page 4 of 29



Series 5000 5145.7 R
Students

ADMINISRATIVE REGULATIONS REGARDING
HHEPC-OF T FHEEDHEAHONAMENDMENTS-0F1972—PROHIBITION OF SEX
DISCRIMINATION AND SEXUAL HARASSMENT (STUDENTS)

It is the policy of the New Milford Board of Education (the “Board”) for the New Milford
Public Schools (“the District”) that any form of sex discrimination or sexual harassment is
prohibited, whether by students District employees or th1rd partles subject to substant1a1 control
by the Board. Biser ' S Te

re-bastse ot-sextrat-ortentation: Students District employees and
th1rd parties are expected to adhere to a standard of conduct that is respectful of the rights of
students, District employees, and third parties. Any student or employee who engages in conduct
prohibited by the Board’s Policy regarding Fttex—efthe Edueation Amendmentsof
+972=Prohibition of Sex Discrimination and Sexual Harassment (Students) shall be subject to
disciplinary action. Any third party who engages in conduct prohibited by the Board’s Policy
regarding FreX-ofthe Edueatton-Amendments-of+972-Prohibition of Sex Discrimination and
Sexual Harassment (Students) shall be subject to remedial measures, which may include
exclusion from school property.

Sex discrimination occurs when a person, because of the person’s sex, is denied participation in
or the benefits of any education program or activity receiving federal financial assistance.

Sexual harassment under Title IX means conduct on the basis of sex that satisfies one or more
of the following:

(1) An employee of the Board conditioning the provision of an aid, benefit, or service of the
Board on an individual’s participation in unwelcome sexual conduct (i.e., quid pro quo);

(2) Unwelcome conduct determined by a reasonable person to be so severe, pervasive, and
objectively offensive that it effectively denies a person equal access to the District’s
education programs or activities; or

(3) “Sexual assault” as defined in 20 U.S.C. 1092(f)(6)(A)(v), “dating violence” as defined
in 34 U.S.C. 12291(a)(10), “domestic violence” as defined in 34 U.S.C. 12291(a)(8), or
“stalking” as defined in 34 U.S.C. 12291(a)(30). These definitions can be found in Appendix
A of these Administrative Regulations.

Sexual harassment under Connecticut law means conduct in a school setting that 1) is sexual
in nature; 2) is unwelcome; and 3) denies or limits a student’s ability to participate in or benefit
from a school’s educational program. Sexual harassment can be verbal, nonverbal or physical.
Sexual violence is a form of sexual harassment. Under Connecticut law, discrimination or

Page 5 of 28



harassment on the basis of sex includes discrimination or harassment on the basis of sexual
orientation or gender identity and expression.

Although not an exhaustive list, the following are other examples of conduct prohibited by the
Board’s Policy regarding Fitte ot the EdueattonAmendments-of+972-Prohibition of Sex
Discrimination and Sexual Harassment (Students):

1. Statements or other conduct indicating that a student’s submission to, or rejection
of, sexual overtures or advances will affect the student’s grades and/or other
academic progress.

2. Unwelcome attention and/or advances of a sexual nature, including verbal
comments, sexual invitations, leering and physical touching.

3. Display of sexually suggestive objects, or use of sexually suggestive or obscene
remarks, invitations, letters, emails, text messages, notes, slurs, jokes, pictures,
cartoons, epithets or gestures.

4. Touching of a sexual nature or telling sexual or dirty jokes.
5. Transmitting or displaying emails or websites of a sexual nature.
6. Using computer systems, including email, instant messaging, text messaging,

blogging or the use of social networking websites, or other forms of electronic
communications, to engage in any conduct prohibited by the Board’s Policy

regarding Frtte BX-ofthe EdueatronAmendments-of+972=Prohibition of Sex
Discrimination and Sexual Harassment (Students).

NOTICE OF THE TITLE IX COORDINATOR

The District’s Title IX Coordinator is

Holly Hollander, Assistant Superintendent
New Milford Public Schools

25 Sunny Valley Road, Suite A

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-354-3235

e-mail: hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

Any individual may make a report of sex discrimination and/or sexual harassment to any District
employee or directly to the Title IX Coordinator using any one, or multiple, of the following
points of contact:

Gwen Gallagher, Principal

Northville Elementary School

22 Hipp Road

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-355-3713

e-mail: gallagherg@newmilfordps.org

Page 6 of 28


mailto:hollanderh@newmilfordps.org
mailto:gallagherg@newmilfordps.org

Cathy Calabrese, Principal

Hill and Plain Elementary School

60 Old Town Park Road

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-354-5430

e-mail: calabresec@newmilfordps.org

Jennifer Chmielewski, Assistant Principal
Sarah Noble Intermediate School

25 Sunny Valley Road

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-210-4020

e-mail: chmielewskij@newmilfordps.org

Jennifer Powers, Assistant Principal
Schaghticoke Middle School

23 Hipp Road

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-354-2204

e-mail: powersj@newmilfordps.org

Keith Lipinsky, Athletic Director
New Milford High School

388 Danbury Road

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-350-6647, ext. 1411
e-mail: lipinskyk@newmilfordps.org

Holly Hollander, Assistant Superintendent
New Milford Public Schools

25 Sunny Valley Road, Suite A

New Milford, CT 06776

Telephone: 860-354-3235

e-mail: hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

Any District employee in receipt of allegations of sex discrimination or sexual harassment, or in
receipt of a formal complaint, shall immediately forward such information to the Title IX
Coordinator. The Title IX Coordinator manages the District’s compliance with Title IX and
Connecticut law regarding sexual harassment and sex discrimination and is an available resource
to anyone seeking information or wishing to file a formal complaint of same. When a student,
District employee, or other participant in the District’s programs and activities feels that such
person has been subjected to discrimination on the basis of sex in any District program or
activity, including without limitation being subjected to sexual harassment, such person may
contact the Title IX Coordinator or utilize the Title IX grievance systems set forth herein to bring
concerns forward for the purpose of obtaining a prompt and equitable resolution.

Page 7 of 28


mailto:calabresec@newmilfordps.org
mailto:chmielewskij@newmilfordps.org
mailto:powersj@newmilfordps.org
mailto:hollanderh@newmilfordps.org

EXPLANATION OF COMPLAINT PROCESS AND PROCEDURE

The federal regulations implementing Title IX require the adoption and publication of two
separate grievance systems: a grievance process for complaints of sex discrimination involving
allegations of sexual harassment under Title X and grievance procedures for complaints of sex
discrimination that are not sexual harassment under Title [X. Accordingly, the Administration
will process any complaints of sex discrimination involving allegations of sexual harassment
under Title IX, as defined above, pursuant to the grievance process set forth in Section I of these
regulations. The Administration will process any complaints of sex discrimination thatare

net(including allegations of sexual harassment under Connecticut law only) pursuant to the

grievance procedures set forth in Section II of these regulations.

The District will keep confidential the identity of any individual who has a made a report or
complaint of sex discrimination, including any individual who has made a report or filed a
formal complaint of sexual harassment, any complainant, any individual who has been reported
to be the perpetrator of sex discrimination, any respondent, and any witness, except as may be
permitted by the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (“\FERPA?), or as required by law,
or to carry out the purposes of these Administrative Regulations, including the conduct of any
investigation, hearing, or judicial proceeding arising from these Administrative Regulations.

The obligation to comply with Title IX is not obviated or alleviated by the FERPA.

SECTION 1. GRIEVANCE PROCESS FOR COMPLAINTS OF SEXUAL
HARASSMENT UNDER TITLE IX

A. Definitions

e Bias occurs when it is proven that the Title IX Coordinator, investigator(s),
and/or decision-maker(s) demonstrate actual bias, rather than the appearance
of bias. Actual bias includes, but is not limited to, demonstrated personal
animus against the respondent or the complainant and/or prejudgment of the
facts at issue in the investigation.

o Complainant means an individual who is alleged to be the victim of conduct that could
constitute sexual harassment.

e A conflict of interest occurs when it is proven that the Title IX Coordinator,
investigator(s), and/or decision-maker(s) have personal, financial and/or familial interests
that affected the outcome of the investigation.

e Consent means an active, clear and voluntary agreement by a person to engage in sexual
activity with another person (also referred to hereafter as “affirmative consent”).

For the purposes of an investigation conducted pursuant to these Administrative
Regulations, the following principles shall be applied in determining whether consent for

sexual activity was given and/or sustained:

A. Affirmative consent is the standard used in determining whether consent to
engage in sexual activity was given by all persons who engaged in the sexual activity.

Page 8 of 28



B. Affirmative consent may be revoked at any time during the sexual activity by
any person engaged in the sexual activity.

C. It is the responsibility of each person engaging in a sexual activity to ensure
that the person has the affirmative consent of all persons engaged in the sexual
activity to engage in the sexual activity and that the affirmative consent is sustained
throughout the sexual activity.

D. It shall not be a valid excuse to an alleged lack of affirmative consent that the
respondent to the alleged violation believed that the complainant consented to the
sexual activity:

(1) because the respondent was intoxicated or reckless or failed to take
reasonable steps to ascertain whether the complainant consented, or

(11) if the respondent knew or should have known that the complainant was
unable to consent because such individual was unconscious, asleep, unable to
communicate due to a mental or physical condition, unable to consent due to the
age of the individual or the age difference between the individual and the
respondent, or incapacitated due to the influence of drugs, alcohol or medication.

E. The existence of a past or current dating or sexual relationship between the
complainant and the respondent, in and of itself, shall not be determinative of a
finding of consent.

e For purposes of investigations and complaints of sexual harassment, education program
or activity includes locations, events, or circumstances over which the Board exercises
substantial control over both the respondent and the context in which the sexual
harassment occurs.

o __Employee means (A) a teacher, substitute teacher, school administrator, school
superintendent, guidance counselor, school counselor, psychologist, social worker, nurse,
physician, school paraprofessional or coach employed by the Board or working in a
public elementary, middle or high school; or (B) any other individual who, in the
performance of the individual’s duties, has regular contact with students and who
provides services to or on behalf of students enrolled in a public elementary, middle or
high school, pursuant to a contract with the Board.

o Formal complaint means a document filed by a complainant or signed by the Title IX
Coordinator alleging sexual harassment (as defined under Title IX) against a respondent
and requesting that the Administration investigate the allegation of sexual harassment. A
“document filed by a complainant” means a document or electronic submission that
contains the complainant’s physical or digital signature, or otherwise indicates that the
complainant is the person filing the formal complaint.

o Respondent means an individual who has been alleged to be the perpetrator of conduct
that could constitute sexual harassment.

Page 9 of 28



o School days means the days that school is in session as designated on the calendar posted
on the Board’s website. In its discretion, and when equitably applied and with proper
notice to the parties, the District may consider business days during the summer recess as
“school days” if such designation facilitates the prompt resolution of the grievance
process.

o Supportive measures means non-disciplinary, non-punitive individualized services
offered as appropriate, as reasonably available, and without fee or charge to the
complainant or the respondent before or after the filing of a formal complaint or where no
formal complaint has been filed. Such measures are designed to restore or preserve equal
access to the District’s education program or activity without unreasonably burdening the
other party, including measures designed to protect the safety of all parties or the
District’s educational environment, or deter sexual harassment. Supportive measures may
include counseling, extensions of deadlines or other course-related adjustments,
modifications of work or class schedules, mutual restrictions on contact between the
parties, increased security and monitoring, and other similar measures.

B. Reporting Sexual Harassment

1. Itis the express policy of the Board to encourage victims of sexual harassment to
report such claims. Any person may report sexual harassment (whether or not the
person reporting is the person alleged to be the victim of conduct that could constitute
sexual harassment), in person, by mail, by telephone, or by electronic mail, using the
contact information listed for the Title IX Coordinator. If the District receives notice
of sexual harassment or alleged sexual harassment against a student in the District’s
education program or activity, the Title IX Coordinator will promptly contact the
complainant to discuss the availability of supportive measures, whether or not the
complainant files a formal complaint, and will consider the complainant’s wishes with
respect to such measures. If the complainant has yet to file a formal complaint, the
Title IX Coordinator will explain to the complainant the process for doing so.

2. The District will treat complainants and respondents equitably. A respondent is
presumed not responsible for the alleged conduct and a determination regarding
responsibility will be made at the conclusion of the grievance process if a formal
complaint is filed. Nothing in this Regulation shall limit or preclude the District from
removing a respondent from the District’s education program or activity on an
emergency basis, provided that the District undertakes an individualized safety and
risk analysis, and determines that an immediate threat to the physical health or safety
of any student or other individual arising from the allegations of sexual harassment
justifies removal. If a respondent is removed on an emergency basis, the District shall
provide the respondent with notice and an opportunity to challenge the decision
immediately following the removal.

C. Formal Complaint and Grievance Process

1. A formal complaint may be filed with the Title IX Coordinator in person, by mail, or
by electronic mail, by using the contact information listed for the Title IX
Coordinator. At the time of filing a formal complaint, a complainant must be
participating in or attempting to participate in the District’s education programs or

Page 10 of 28



activity. A formal complaint may be signed by the Title IX Coordinator. If the formal
complaint being filed is against the Title IX Coordinator, the formal complaint should
be filed with the Superintendent. If the formal complaint being filed is against the
Superintendent, the formal complaint should be filed with the Board Chair, who will

then retain an-independent-investigatora third-party contractor to investigate the
matter.

The District may consolidate formal complaints as to allegations of sexual harassment
against more than one respondent, or by more than one complainant against one or
more respondents, or by one party against the other party, where the allegations of
sexual harassment arise out of the same facts or circumstances. If possible, formal
complaints should be filed within ten (10) school days of the alleged occurrence in
order to facilitate the prompt and equitable resolution of such claims. The District will
attempt to complete the formal grievance process within ninety (90) school days of
receiving a formal complaint. This timeframe may be temporarily delayed or
extended in accordance with Subsection G of this Section.

Upon receipt of a formal complaint, if the Title IX Coordinator has not already
discussed the availability of supportive measures with the complainant, the Title [X
Coordinator will promptly contact the complainant to discuss the availability of such
measures and consider the complainant’s wishes with respect to them. The Title IX
Coordinator or designee may also contact the respondent, separately from the
complainant, to discuss the availability of supportive measures for the respondent.
The District will maintain as confidential any supportive measures provided to the
complainant or respondent, to the extent that maintaining such confidentiality would
not impair the ability of the District to provide such supportive measures.

Within ten (10) school days of receiving a formal complaint, the District will provide
the known parties with written notice of the allegations potentially constituting sexual
harassment under Title IX and a copy of this grievance process. The written notice
must also include the following:

1. The identities of the parties involved in the incident, if known;

1l The conduct allegedly constituting sexual harassment as defined above;
1ii. The date and the location of the alleged incident, if known;
iv. A statement that the respondent is presumed not responsible for the

alleged conduct and that a determination regarding responsibility is made
at the conclusion of the grievance process;

V. A statement that the parties may have an advisor of their choice, who may
be, but is not required to be, an attorney, and may inspect and review
evidence; and

Vi. A statement of any provision in the District’s Student Discipline Policy or
any other policy that prohibits knowingly making false statements or
knowingly submitting false information during the grievance process.

If, in the course of an investigation, the District decides to investigate allegations about
the complainant or respondent that are not included in the written notice, the District
must provide notice of the additional allegations to the parties whose identities are
known.

Page 11 of 28



10.

The parties may have an advisor of their choice accompany them during any grievance
proceeding at which the party’s attendance is required. The District may, in its discretion,
establish certain restrictions regarding the extent to which an advisor may participate in
the proceedings. If any such restrictions are established, they will be applied equally to
all parties.

The Title IX Coordinator will, as applicable, promptly commence an investigation of the
formal complaint, designate a school administrator or third-party contractor to promptly
investigate the formal complaint, or dismiss the formal complaint in accordance with
Subsection F of this Section. The standard of evidence to be used to determine
responsibility is the preponderance of the evidence standard (i.e., more likely than not).
The burden of proof and the burden of gathering evidence sufficient to reach a
determination regarding responsibility rest on the District and not on the parties.

The parties will be given an equal opportunity to discuss the allegations under
investigation with the investigator(s) and are permitted to gather and present relevant
evidence. This opportunity includes presenting witnesses, including fact and expert
witnesses, and other inculpatory and exculpatory evidence. Credibility determinations
will not be based on a person’s status as a complainant, respondent, or witness. The
District will provide to a party whose participation is invited or expected (including a
witness), written notice of the date, time, location, participants, and purpose of all
hearings (if applicable), investigative interviews, or other meetings, with sufficient time
for the party to prepare to participate.

Both parties will be given an equal opportunity to inspect and review any evidence
obtained as part of the investigation that is directly related to the allegations raised in the
formal complaint, including the evidence upon which the District does not intend to rely
in reaching a determination regarding responsibility and inculpatory or exculpatory
evidence whether obtained from a party or other source, so that each party can
meaningfully respond to the evidence prior to the conclusion of the investigation. Prior to
completion of the investigative report, the District will send to each party and the party’s
advisor, if any, the evidence subject to inspection and review in an electronic format or a
hard copy, and the parties will have ten (10) school days to submit a written response,
which the investigator(s) will consider prior to completion of the investigative report, as
described in Paragraph 9 of this Subsection.

The investigator(s) will create an investigative report that fairly summarizes relevant
evidence. The investigator(s) will send the investigative report, in an electronic format or
hard copy, to each party and to each party’s advisor for their review and written response
at least ten (10) school days prior to the time a determination regarding responsibility is
made.

The Superintendent will appoint a decision-maker(s), who shall be a District employee or
third-party contractor and who shall be someone other than the Title IX Coordinator or
investigator(s). If the formal complaint filed is against the Superintendent, the Board
Chair shall appoint the decision-maker, who shall be a District employee or third-party
contractor and who shall be someone other than the Title IX Coordinator or
investigator(s). The investigator(s) and the decision-maker(s) shall not discuss the

Page 12 of 28



investigation’s facts and/or determination while the formal complaint is pending. The
decision-maker(s) will afford each party the opportunity to submit written, relevant
questions that a party wants asked of any party or witness, provide each party with the
answers, and allow for additional, limited follow-up questions from each party. Questions
and evidence about the complainant’s sexual predisposition or prior sexual behavior are
not relevant, unless such questions and evidence about the complainant’s prior sexual
behavior are offered to prove that someone other than the respondent committed the
conduct alleged by the complainant, or if the questions and evidence concern specific
incidents of the complainant’s prior sexual behavior with respect to the respondent and
are offered to prove consent. The decision-maker(s) will explain to the party proposing
the questions any decisions to exclude a question as not relevant.

11. The decision-maker(s) will issue a written determination regarding responsibility. To
reach this determination, the decision-maker must apply the preponderance of the
evidence standard. The written determination will include: (1) identification of the
allegations potentially constituting sexual harassment; (2) a description of the procedural
steps taken from the receipt of the formal complaint through the determination, including
any notifications to the parties, interviews with parties and witnesses, site visits, methods
used to gather other evidence, and hearings held; (3) findings of fact supporting the
determination; (4) conclusions regarding the application of the District’s code of conduct
to the facts; (5) a statement of, and rationale for, the result as to each allegation, including
a determination regarding responsibility, any disciplinary sanctions the District will
impose on the respondent, and whether remedies designed to restore or preserve equal
access to the District’s education program or activity will be provided by the District to
the complainant; and (6) the District’s procedures and permissible bases for the
complainant and respondent to appeal. If the respondent is found responsible for
violating the Board’s Policy regarding Fetx-ofthe Edueation-Amendmentsof
+972-Prohibition of Sex Discrimination and Sexual Harassment (Students), the written
determination shall indicate whether the respondent engaged in sexual harassment as
defined by the Board’s Policy and these Administrative Regulations. The written
determination will be provided to both parties simultaneously.

12. Student respondents found responsible for violating the Board’s Policy regarding Ftetx
of the FdueattonrAmendments-of +972=Prohibition of Sex Discrimination and Sexual
Harassment (Students) may be subject to discipline up to and including expulsion.
Employee respondents found responsible for violating the Board’s Policy regarding +itle
Pofthe EdueationAmendments-of+972-Prohibition of Sex Discrimination and Sexual
Harassment (Students) may be subject to discipline up to and including termination of
employment. Other respondents may be subject to exclusion from the District’s
programs, activities and/or property. In appropriate circumstances, the District may make
a criminal referral. Remedies will be designed to restore or preserve equal access to the
District’s education programs or activities.

13. After receiving notification of the decision-maker’s decision, or after receiving
notification that the District dismissed a formal complaint or any allegation therein, both
complainant and respondent may avail themselves of the appeal process set forth in

Subsection E of this Section.

D. Informal Resolution

Page 13 of 28



At any time prior to reaching a determination regarding responsibility, but only after the filing of
a formal complaint, the District may suggest to the parties the possibility of facilitating an
informal resolution process, such as mediation, to resolve the formal complaint without the need
for a full investigation and adjudication. If it is determined that an informal resolution may be
appropriate, the Title IX Coordinator or designee will consult with the parties.

Prior to facilitating an informal resolution to a formal complaint, the Title IX Coordinator or
designee will provide the parties with written notice disclosing the sexual harassment
allegations, the requirements of an informal resolution process, and any consequences from
participating in the informal resolution process. Upon receipt of this document, complainants
and respondents have five (5) school days to determine whether they consent to participation in
the informal resolution. The District must obtain voluntary, written consent to the informal
resolution process from both parties.

Prior to agreeing to any resolution, any party has the right to withdraw from the informal
resolution process and resume the grievance process with respect to the formal complaint. If a
satisfactory resolution is reached through this informal process, the matter will be considered
resolved. If these efforts are unsuccessful, the formal grievance process will continue.

Nothing in this section precludes a student from filing a complaint of retaliation for matters
related to an informal resolution, nor does it preclude either party from filing complaints based
on conduct that is alleged to occur following the District’s facilitation of the informal resolution.

An informal resolution is not permitted to resolve allegations that an employee sexually
harassed a student.

E. Appeal Process

After receiving notification of the deetston-makersdecision-maker’s decision, or after receiving
notification that the District dismissed a formal complaint or any allegation therein, both
complainant and respondent have five (5) school days to submit a formal letter of appeal to the
Title IX Coordinator specifying the grounds upon which the appeal is based. Upon receipt of an
appeal, the Superintendent shall appoint a decision-maker(s) for the appeal, who shall be
someone other than the Title IX Coordinator, investigator(s), or initial decision-maker(s).

Appeals will be appropriate only in the following circumstances:

e new evidence that was not reasonably available at the time the determination regarding
responsibility or dismissal was made, that could affect the outcome of the matter;

e procedural irregularity that affected the outcome of the matter;

e the Title IX Coordinator, investigator(s), and/or decision-maker(s) had a conflict of interest
or bias for or against complainants or respondents generally or the individual complainant or
respondent that affected the outcome of the matter. A conflict of interest or bias does not
exist solely because the Title IX Coordinator, investigators(s), and/or decision-maker(s)
previously worked with or disciplined the complainant or respondent.

Page 14 of 28



The District will provide the other party with written notice of such appeal. The appealing party
will then have ten (10) school days to submit to the decision-maker(s) for the appeal a written
statement in support of, or challenging, the outcome of the grievance process. The
decision-maker(s) for the appeal will provide the appealing party’s written statement to the other
party. The other party will then have ten (10) school days to submit to the decision-maker(s) for
the appeal a written statement in support of, or challenging, the outcome of the grievance
process. The decision-maker(s) for the appeal, in their discretion, will determine any additional
necessary and appropriate procedures for the appeal.

After considering the parties’ written statements, the decision-maker(s) for the appeal will
provide a written decision. The decision-maker(s) for the appeal will attempt to issue the written
decision within thirty (30) school days of receipt of all written statements from the parties. If it is
found that one of the bases for appeal exists, the decision-maker(s) for the appeal will issue an
appropriate remedy.

Supportive measures for either or both parties may be continued throughout the appeal process.

F. Dismissal of a Formal Complaint

The Title IX Coordinator shall dismiss any formal complaint that, under Title IX 1) would not
constitute sexual harassment as defined under Title IX even if proved, 2) did not occur in the
District’s education program or activity, or 3) did not occur against a person in the United States.
Such dismissal does not preclude action under another Board policy.

The District may dismiss a formal complaint or any allegations therein, if at any time during the
investigation or hearing: 1) a complainant notifies the Title IX Coordinator in writing that the
complainant would like to withdraw the formal complaint or any allegations therein; 2) the
respondent is no longer enrolled or employed in the District; or 3) specific circumstances prevent
the District from gathering evidence sufficient to reach a determination as to the formal
complaint or allegations therein.

Upon a dismissal, the District will promptly and simultaneously send written notice of the
dismissal and reason(s) therefor to each party. Either party can appeal from the District’s
dismissal of a formal complaint or any allegations therein using the appeals procedure.

In the event a formal complaint is dismissed prior to the issuance of a decision under Title IX,
the Title IX Coordinator shall determine if the allegations of sexual harassment shall proceed
through the grievance procedures identified in Section II of these Administrative Regulations for
claims of sex discrimination for consideration as to whether the allegations constitute sexual
harassment under Connecticut law.

A dismissal pursuant to this section does not preclude action by the District under the Student
Discipline policy, Code of Conduct for students/or and employees, or any other applicable rule,
policy, and/or collective bargaining agreement.

G. Miscellaneous

1. Any timeframe set forth in these Administrative Regulations may be temporarily delayed
or extended for good cause. Good cause may include, but is not limited to, considerations

Page 15 of 28



such as the absence or illness of a party, a party’s advisor, or a witness; concurrent law
enforcement activity; concurrent activity by the Department of Children and Families; or
the need for language assistance or accommodation of disabilities. If any timeframe is
altered on a showing of good cause, written notice will be provided to each party with the
reasons for the action.

2. Ifasexual harassment complaint raises a concern about buHyinechallenging behavior
(including bullying), the Title IX Coordinator shall notify the Safe-School Climate

Specialist or designee who shall coordinate any butyinginvestigationchallenging
behavior assessment with the Title IX Coordinator;- to promote the alignment of any such

butyingtrvestigattonchallenging behavior assessment with the requirements of
applicable Board policies and state law. Additionally, if a sexual harassment complaint
raises a concern about discrimination or harassment on the ba51s of any other legally
protected classification-tsuehasrace;rehigron;eotornaton : y
the Title IX Coordinator or designee shall make a referral to other appropriate personnel
within the District (e.g. Section 504 Coordinator;-ete-), so as to ensure that any such
investigation complies with the requirements of policies regarding nondiscrimination.

3. If the sexual harassment complaint results in reasonable cause to suspect or believe that a
child has been abused or neglected, has had a nonaccidental physical injury, or injury
which is at variance with the history given of such injury, is placed at imminent risk of
serious harm, or that a student has been sexually assaulted by a school employee, then,
the person to whom the complaint is given or who receives such information shall report
such matters in accordance with the Board's policy on the Reports of Suspected Child
Abuse or Neglect of Children.

4. Retaliation against any individual who complains pursuant to the Board’s Policy
regarding HHelx-ofthe Edueation-Amendments-of+972-Prohibition of Sex
Discrimination and Sexual Harassment (Students) and these Administrative Regulations
is strictly prohibited. Neither the District nor any other person may intimidate, threaten,
coerce, or discriminate against any individual for the purpose of interfering with any right
or privilege secured by Ftte+Xapplicable law or these Administrative Regulations, or
because the individual has made a report or complaint, testified, assisted, or participated
or refused to participate in any manner in an investigation, proceeding, or hearing under
these Administrative Regulations. The District will take actions designed to prevent
retaliation. Complaints alleging retaliation may be filed according to the grievance
procedures for sex discrimination described herein.

5. The District will maintain for a period of seven (7) years records of:

i.  Each sexual harassment investigation including any determination regarding
responsibility, any disciplinary sanctions imposed on the respondent, and any
remedies provided to the complainant designed to restore or preserve equal
access to the Board’s education program or activity;

ii.  Any appeal and the result therefrom;

iii. Any informal resolution and the result therefrom; and

iv.  All material used to train Title IX Coordinators, investigators, decision-makers,
and any person who facilitates an informal resolution process. The Board will
make these training materials publicly available on its website.

Page 16 of 28



If the District has actual knowledge of sexual harassment in an education program or
activity of the Board, and for any report or formal complaint of sexual harassment, the
District will create and maintain for a period of seven (7) years, records of any actions,
including any supportive measures, taken in response to a report or formal complaint of
sexual harassment. The District will document the basis for its conclusion that its
response was not deliberately indifferent, and document that it has taken measures
designed to restore or preserve equal access to the Board’s education program or activity.
If the District does not provide a complainant with supportive measures, then the District
will document the reasons why such a response was not clearly unreasonable in light of
the known circumstances.

SECTION II. GRIEVANCE PROCEDURES FOR CLAIMS OF SEX DISCRIMINATION

THER THAN SEXUAL HARASSMENT UNDER TITLE IX

A. Definitions

o Complainant means an individual who is alleged to be the victim of conduct that could

constitute sex discrimination.

e Respondent means an individual who has been reported to be the perpetrator of conduct

that could constitute sex discrimination.

B. Reporting Sex Discrimination Other than Sexual Harassment under Title IX

It is the express policy of the Board to encourage victims of sex discrimination to report
such claims. Any person may report sex discrimination (including sexual harassment as

defined by Connecticut law) (whether or not the person reporting is the person alleged to
be the victim of the alleged conduct-thateould-constitutesexdiserimination), in person,
by mail, by telephone, or by electronic mail, using the contact information listed for the
Title IX Coordinator. If the District receives notice of sex discrimination or alleged sex
discrimination against a student in the District’s education program or activity, the Title
IX Coordinator or designee will promptly notify the complainant of the grievance
process. The District will treat complainants and respondents equitably during the
grievance process. Sexual harassment is a form of sex discrimination, and any incident
of sexual harassment under Title X, as defined above, shall be handled pursuant to
Section I of these Administrative Regulations. Any allegations of sexual harassment
under Connecticut law, as defined above, shall be handled pursuant to this Section II of
these Administrative Regulations.

C. Grievance Procedures

1.

As soon as a student feels that the student has been subjected to sex discrimination other
than sexual harassment as defined under Title IX (including, without limitation, sexual
harassment under Connecticut law), the student or the student’s parent/legal guardian
should make a written complaint to the Title IX Coordinator or to the building principal,
or designee. The student and/or the student’s parent/legal guardian will be provided a
copy of the Board’s Policy and Administrative Regulations and made aware of the
student’s rights under this Policy and Administrative Regulations. Preferably, complaints

Page 17 of 28



should be filed within ten (10) school days of the alleged occurrence. Timely reporting of
complaints facilitates the investigation and resolution of such complaints.

2. The complaint should state the:

1. Name of the complainant;
ii.  Date of the complaint;
iii.  Date(s) of the alleged discrimination;
iv.  Name(s) of the alleged discriminator(s);
v.  Location where such alleged discrimination occurred;
vi.  Names of any witness(es) to the alleged discrimination;
vii.  Detailed statement of the circumstances constituting the alleged
discrimination; and
viii.  Remedy requested.

3. Any student who makes an oral complaint of alleged sex discrimination to any of the
above-mentioned personnel will be provided a copy of these Administrative Regulations
and will be requested to make a written complaint pursuant to the above procedure. In
appropriate circumstances, such as due to the age or capacity of the student making the
complaint, a parent or school administrator may be permitted to fill out the form on the
student’s behalf.

4. All complaints are to be forwarded immediately to the building principal or designee
unless that individual is the subject of the complaint, in which case the complaint should
be forwarded directly to the Superintendent of Schools or designee. In addition, a copy
of any complaint filed under this Policy shall be forwarded to the Title IX Coordinator. If
the complaint being filed is against the Title IX Coordinator, the complaint should be
filed with the Superintendent. If the complaint being filed is against the Superintendent,
the complaint should be filed with the Board Chair, who will then retain anindependent

trvestigatora third-party contractor to investigate the matter.

5. The Title IX Coordinator or designee shall investigate all complaints of sex
discrimination against a student, regardless of whether the conduct occurred on or
oft-school grounds. Complaints will be investigated promptly within the timeframes
identified below. Timeframes may be extended as needed given the complexity of the
investigation, availability of individuals with relevant information, and other extenuating
circumstances. The investigation shall be conducted discreetly, maintaining
confidentiality insofar as possible while still conducting an effective and thorough
investigation.

6. Any student who makes a complaint shall be notified of the District’s intent to investigate
the complaint. In the event the student or parent requests confidentiality or that an
investigation not be conducted, the District will take reasonable steps to investigate and
respond to the complaint to the extent possible, given the request for confidentiality or
that the District not investigate the complaint. If the student or parent insists that the
student’s personally identifiable information not be shared with the alleged
discriminator(s), the student and parent will be informed that the District’s ability to
investigate and/or take corrective action may be limited.

7. Upon receipt of a sex discrimination complaint, the Title IX Coordinator shall either
promptly commence an investigation of the complaint, or shall designate a school

Page 18 of 28



administrator or third-party contractor to promptly investigate the complaint. The Title
IX Coordinator or designee shall:

1.

11.

1il.

1v.

V1.

Vil.

offer to meet with the complainant and respondent (if applicable) separately
within ten (10) school days to discuss the nature of the complaint, identify
individuals the complainant and respondent (if applicable) believe have
relevant information, and obtain any relevant documents the complainant and
respondent may have;

provide the complainant and respondent (if applicable) with a copy of the
Board’s sex discrimination policy and accompanying regulations;

consider whether any interim measures may be appropriate to protect the
complainant or respondent (if applicable), pending the outcome of the
investigation;

conduct an investigation that is adequate, reliable, and impartial. Investigate
the factual basis of the complaint, including, as applicable, conducting
interviews with individuals deemed relevant to the complaint;

consider whether alleged sex discrimination has created a hostile school
environment, including consideration of the effects of off-campus conduct on
the school;

communicate the outcome of the investigation in writing to the complainant,
to the respondent, and to any individual properly identified as a party to the
complaint (to the extent permitted by state and federal confidentiality
requirements), within ninety (90) school days from the date the complaint was
received by the Superintendent’s office. The investigator may extend this
deadline for no more than fifteen (15) additional school days if needed to
complete the investigation. The complainant and respondent (if applicable)
shall be notified of such extension. The written notice shall include a finding
whether the complaint was substantiated and if so, shall identify, to the extent
possible, how the District will remedy the discrimination, adhering to the
requirements of state and federal law; and

when sex discrimination has been found, take steps that are reasonably
calculated to end the discrimination, take corrective and/or disciplinary action
aimed at preventing the recurrence of the discrimination, as deemed
appropriate by the Superintendent or designee, and take steps designed to
remedy the effects of the sex discrimination.

If a complaint is made during summer recess, the complaint will be reviewed and
addressed as quickly as possible given the availability of staff and/or other individuals
who may have information relevant to the complaint. If fixed timeframes cannot be met,
the complainant and respondent will receive notice and interim measures may be
implemented as necessary.

If the complainant or respondent (if applicable) is dissatisfied with the findings of the
investigation, the complainant or respondent may file a written appeal within five (5)

Page 19 of 28



school days to the Title IX Coordinator, or, if the Title IX Coordinator conducted the
investigation, to the Superintendent of Schools. The Title IX Coordinator or
Superintendent shall review the Title IX Coordinator or designee’s written report, the
information collected by the Title IX Coordinator or designee together with the
recommended disposition of the complaint to determine whether the alleged conduct
constitutes sex discrimination. The Title IX Coordinator or Superintendent of Schools
may determine if further action and/or investigation is warranted. After completing this
review, the Title IX Coordinator or Superintendent of Schools shall respond to the
complainant and respondent (if applicable), in writing, within fifteen (15) school days
following the receipt of the written request for review.

D. Miscellaneous

1. Ifa sex discrimination complaint raises a concern about butyingchallenging behavior
(including bullying), the Title IX Coordinator shall notify the Sate-School Climate

Specialist or designee who shall coordinate any buHyinginvestigationchallenging
behavior assessment with the Title IX Coordinator;- to promote the alignment of any such

bullyinetnvestigationchallenging behavior assessment with the requirements of
applicable Board policies and state law. Additionally, if a sex discrimination complaint
raises a concern about discrimination or harassment on the ba51s of any other legally
protected classification-tstehasraee sras rattona S y
the Title IX Coordinator or designee shall make a referral to other approprlate personnel
within the District (e.g. Section 504 Coordinator;ete-), so as to ensure that any such
investigation complies with the requirements of policies regarding nondiscrimination.

2. If the sex discrimination complaint results in reasonable cause to suspect or believe that a
child has been abused or neglected, has had a nonaccidental physical injury, or injury
which is at variance with the history given of such injury, is placed at imminent risk of
serious harm, or that a student has been sexually assaulted by a school employee, then,
the person to whom the complaint is given or who receives such information shall report
such matters in accordance with the Board's policy on the Reports of Suspected Child
Abuse or Neglect of Children.

3. Retaliation against any individual who complains pursuant to the Board’s Policy
regarding Fitte PX-of the EdueattonAmendments-of+972=Prohibition of Sex
Discrimination and Sexual Harassment (Students) and these Administrative Regulations
is strictly prohibited. Neither the District nor any other person may intimidate, threaten,
coerce, or discriminate against any individual for the purpose of interfering with any right
or privilege secured by FittetXapplicable law or these Administrative Regulations, or
because the individual has made a report or complaint, testified, assisted, or participated
or refused to participate in any manner in an investigation, proceeding, or hearing under
these Administrative Regulations. The District will take actions designed to prevent
retaliation as a result of filing a complaint. Complaints alleging retaliation may be filed
according to the grievance procedures for sex discrimination described herein.

Page 20 of 28



Section I11. Further Reporting

At any time, a complainant alleging sex discrimination or sexual harassment under Title IX may
also file a complaint with the Office for Civil Rights, BesternWashington DC Office, U.S.

Department of Education, 8*Heet5PestOfftee-Square; Bostor; MA—021+09-3924400
Maryland Avenue, SW, Washington, DC 20202-1475 (Telephone (6+7202) 289-6444+453-6020).

Students may also make a report of sexual harassment and/or sex discrimination under stat
federal law to the Connecticut Commission on Human Rights and Opportunities, 450 Columbus
Boulevard, Hartford, CT 06103-1835 (Telephone: 860-541-3400 or Connecticut Toll Free
Number: 1-800-477-5737).

Page 21 of 28



Appendix A

Sexual Assault: An offense classified as forcible or nonforcible sex offense under the uniform
crime reporting system of the Federal Bureau of Investigation.

Rape— (Except Statutory Rape)

ofthe-vietimyinetuding—Penetration, no matter how shght, of the Vaglna or anus w1th
any body part or object. or oral penetration by a sex organ of another person, or by a
sex-related object. This definition also includes instances swherein which the victim is
incapable of giving consent because of thepersen’s-age-or-beeattseof theperson’s

temporary or permanent mental or physical incapacity- (including due to the influence of
drugs or alcohol) or because of age. Physical resistance is not required on the part of the

victim to demonstrate lack of consent.

Sodomy—Oral or anal sexual intercourse with another person, without the consent of the
victim, including instances where the victim is incapable of giving consent because of the
person’s age or because of the person’s temporary or permanent mental or physical
incapacity.

Sexual Assault With An Object—To use an object or instrument to unlawfully penetrate,
however slightly, the genital or anal opening of the body of another person, without the
consent of the victim, including instances where the victim is incapable of giving consent
because of the person’s age or because of the person’s temporary or permanent mental or
physical incapacity.

FondhinegCriminal Sexual Contact—The 1ntent10nal touchlng of the pffv-a-teclothed or
unclothed body parts-efan ers eattott, without the

consent of the victim, rne-l-&el-mgfor the purpose of sexual degradatlon, sexual
oratification, or sexual humiliation. The forced touching by the victim of the actor’s
clothed or unclothed body parts, without consent of the victim, for the purpose of sexual

degradation, sexual gratification, or sexual humiliation. This offense includes instances
where the victim is incapable of giving consent because of the-persen’s-age or beeanse-of

the-personsincapacity due to temporary or permanent mental or physical
treapaettyimpairment or intoxication for the purpose of sexual degradation, sexual

gratification, or sexual humiliation.

Incest—Nonforcible sexual intercourse between persons who are related to each other
within the degrees wherein marriage is prohibited by law.

Statutory Rape—Nonforcible sexual intercourse with a person who is under the statutory
age of consent.

Dating Violence: Violence committed by a person who is or has been in a social relationship of

a romantic or intimate nature with the victim; and where the existence of such a relationship shall
be determined based on a consideration of the length of the relationship, the type of relationship,

and the frequency of interaction between the persons involved in the relationship.

Domestic Violence: Includes felony or misdemeanor crimes of violence committed by a current
or former spouse or intimate partner of the victim, by a person with whom the victim shares a

Page 22 of 28



child in common, by a person who is cohabitating with or has cohabitated with the victim as a
spouse or intimate partner, by a person similarly situated to a spouse of the victim under the
domestic or family violence laws of the jurisdiction receiving grant monies, or by any other
person against an adult or youth victim who is protected from that person’s acts under the
domestic or family violence laws of the jurisdiction.

Stalking: Engaging in a course of conduct directed at a specific person that would cause a

reasonable person to fear for the person’s safety or the safety of others; or suffer substantial
emotional distress.

Page 23 of 28



Series 5000
Students

COMPLAINT FORM REGARDING SEXUAL HARASSMENT UNDER TITLE IX
(STUDENTS)

This complaint form should be used for complaints of sexual harassment under Title IX, as defined on page 1 of
the Board’s Administrative Regulations Regarding Fitte FXof the-Education—Anrerrdmentsof +972—=Prohibition

of Sex Discrimination and Sexual Harassment (Students)

Name of the complainant

Date of the complaint

Date of the alleged sexual harassment

Name or names of the sextat-harasserrespondent(s)

Location where such alleged sexual harassment occurred

Name(s) of any witness(es) to the alleged sexual harassment

Detailed statement of the circumstances constituting the alleged sexual harassment

Remedy requested

Signature of Complainant or Title IX Coordinator:
+/23/262610/21/2025

Page 24 of 28



Series 5000
Students

COMPLAINT FORM REGARDING SEX DISCRIMINATION (OTHER THAN SEXUAL
HARASSMENT UNDER TITLE IX) (STUDENTS)

This complaint form should be used for complaints of sex discrimination and/or sexual harassment under
Connecticut law, as defined on page 1 of the Board’s Administrative Regulations Regarding Fitte-FXx-ofte

EdueationAnmendnentsof1972—=Prohibition of Sex Discrimination and Sexual Harassment (Students)

Name of the complainant

Date of the complaint

Date of the alleged sex discrimination

Name or names of the sex-diseriminaterrespondent(s)

Location where such alleged sex discrimination occurred

Name(s) of any witness(es) to the alleged sex discrimination

Detailed statement of the circumstances constituting the alleged sex discrimination

Remedy requested

Signature:

Page 25 of 28



SAMPLE WRITTEN NOTICE FOR FORMAL COMPLAINTS OF STFHBENF/STEBENTE
SEXUAL HARASSMENT

L | P L)\
\LCULHpP1alliaiiis))

(R 2| £L\)
INCSPUITATCITICS )

Page 26 of 28



[LETTERHEAD]

NOTICE OF SEXUAL HARASSMENT ALLEGATIONS UNDER TITLE IX

[DATE]

In accordance with the Board’s Policy and Administrative Regulations Regarding FiteX-ofthe
Edueatton-Amendments-ot+972—Prohibition of Sex Discrimination and Sexual Harassment
(Students), a formal complaint of sexual harassment has been filed with or signed by the Title IX
Coordinator.

Identities of the parties involved, if known:
(Complainant(s))
(Respondent(s))

The conduct allegedly constituting sexual harassment_under Title [X:

The date and the location of the alleged incident, if known:

The Title IX Coordinator or designee will contact the parties regarding the next step in the grievance
process. Questions can be directed to the Title IX Coordinator: [INSERT CONTACT INFORMATION
FOR TITLE IX COORDINATOR]

The respondent is presumed not responsible for the alleged conduct. A determination regarding
responsibility is made at the conclusion of the grievance process.

All parties involved may have an advisor of their choice who may be, but it not required to be, an
attorney. This advisor may inspect and review evidence as permitted by the Board’s Administrative
Regulations Regarding Fitte PXofthe FdueattonrAmendments-of+972—="Prohibition of Sex

Discrimination and Sexual Harassment (Students).

It is a violation of the Board’s Student Discipline Policy to lie to school officials or otherwise engage in
dishonest behavior, which includes knowingly making false statements or knowingly submitting false
information during the grievance process. Any student who knowingly makes false statements or
knowingly submits false information during this grievance process will be subject to sanctions pursuant to
the Board’s Student Discipline Policy. Any employee who knowingly makes false statements or knowing
submits false information during this grievance process is subject to discipline, up to and including
termination.

A copy of the Board’s Policy and Administrative Regulations Regarding Fitle-X-ef-the
EdueationAmendments-of1972—=Prohibition of Sex Discrimination and Sexual Harassment

(Students) is included with this notice.

Page 27 of 28



SAMPLE WRITTEN NOTICE FOR THE INFORMAL RESOLUTION PROCESS FOR
SEXUAL HARASSMENT COMPLAINTS

[LETTERHEAD]

NOTICE OF INFORMAL RESOLUTION PROCESS FOR SEXUAL HARASSMENT
COMPLAINTS UNDER TITLE IX

In accordance with the Board’s Policy and Administrative Regulations Regarding FrtteH-otthe
EdueattonAmendments-ot+972—Prohibition of Sex Discrimination and Sexual Harassment
(Students), a formal complaint of sexual harassment has been filed with the Title IX Coordinator.
The Board has an informal resolution process to promptly and equitably resolve such complaints
using mediation [alternatively, could be restorative justice]. This informal resolution process
will only be utilized if both the Complainant and Respondent agree to do so.

The conduct allegedly constituting sexual harassment:

If both parties agree to the informal resolution process, it shall preclude the parties from
resuming a formal complaint arising out of the same allegations. However, either party may
withdraw from the informal resolution process at any time before agreeing to a resolution and
resume the grievance process for formal complaints of sexual harassment.

If both parties agree to a resolution, that resolution is binding upon both parties and cannot be
changed or appealed.

The District will maintain for a period of seven (7) years records of the informal resolution
process and results therefrom.

I voluntarily consent to the informal resolution process:

Complainant Date
Parent/Guardian of Complainant Date
Respondent Date
Parent/Guardian of Respondent Date

Page 28 of 28



Note: At the May 7 Policy Meeting, the Sub-Committee made a recommendation to create
an Administrative Regulation from Bylaw 9125, Attorney, as it is not a required Bylaw.
The committee also recommended a new title for the Administrative Regulation.

Series 9000 9125 R
Bylaws

ADMINISTRATIVE REGULATIONS REGARDING
SELECTION AND APPOINTMENT OF BOARD COUNSEL

The Board of Education will appoint an attorney for the district. The attorney must be admitted
to the Bar of Connecticut. The attorney will be the legal advisor to the Board. In that capacity,
the attorney's duties will be:

1. to advise the Board with respect to all legal matters relating to the district, including but
not limited to, interpretation of the Connecticut General Statutes and all other statutes,
rules or regulations affecting the district;

2. to be easily accessible to the Board and the Superintendent of Schools (and, at the
discretion of the Superintendent, to his/her administrative staff), with respect to legal
matters issuing out of the day-to-day administration of the district;

3. to review and to represent the district in the preparation of any and all contracts which the
district may be obliged to execute (other than purchase orders usually issued for the
purchase of goods, equipment and services);

4. to advise and assist in matters of litigation and represent the Board in legal proceedings;
5. to review the legality of all rules or regulations to be adopted by the Board;
6. to review and advise with respect to any process served upon the district;

All requests for written opinions on school-related matters shall be directed to the attorney
through either the Superintendent or the Board Chairperson. Such written opinions shall be
provided to all Board members.

The attorney shall receive a retainer or fee as per an agreement between the Board and the
attorney.

Selection Procedures
When selecting a School Attorney, the Board shall adhere to the following procedures:

1. the district will first locate prospective lawyers/law firms that are properly licensed in the
State of Connecticut and have experience representing boards of education by:

a. advertising in trade journals;
b. checking listings of lawyers/law firms; or

Page 1 of 2

136



C. making inquiries of other districts or other appropriate sources.

Selection Procedures (continued)

2. The district will then prepare a well-planned, written request for a proposal which will
contain critical details of the services sought and submit this request to prospective
applicants.

3. In selecting a School Attorney, the district will consider the cost of a retainer (or hourly

fee), as well as such other factors as:

a. the special knowledge or expertise of the lawyer/law firm;
b. the quality of the service provided by the lawyer/law firm,;
C. the staffing of the lawyer/law firm; and
d. the lawyer's/law firm's suitability for the district's needs.
4. The district will maintain documentation of the written proposals submitted by

lawyer/law firm applicants for the position of School Attorney.

Regulation approved:
Regulation revised:

Page 2 of 2

137



Office of the Superintendent
25 Sunny Valley Road, Suite A
New Milford, Connecticut 06776
(860) 355-8406

November 13, 2025

To: New Milford Board of Education
From: Janet P. Parlato, Ed.D.

Re: Shepaug Agriscience Advisory Members (Agenda Item 9C)

Region 12 Superintendent Donald Schels reached out to me regarding the
statutory requirement of representation of sending districts on the advisory
committees of vocational-agriculture programs. These representatives serve
three-year terms on the advisory committee and are approved by the local,
sending district Board of Education.

Superintendent Schels has recommended the following New Milford
individuals for the Shepaug advisory committee:

Ms. Alice Wilkinson
Mr. Ben Weed, Roxbrook Farm
Mr. Nick Pouder, Apple Hill Farm

All of these individuals have expertise in food science. forage science, and
sheep production/environmental science, respectively.

138



Office of Fiscal Services & Operations Item of Information

25-A Sunny Valley Road 4-C
New Milford, Connecticut 06776

November 2025
TO: Dr. Janet Parlato, Superintendent
FROM: Anthony J. Giovannone, Director of Fiscal Services and Operations
Date: November 5, 2025
RE: Update on Transportation & All-Star Transportation

Transportation Requests

Since the start of the current school year there have been 22 complaints or inquiries (versus 30 in the prior
year) regarding busing issues that came to the attention of Central Office. Most of these were requests for a
stop/route change or related to late buses. 3 of the 22 required a site visit by either myself or the
Transportation Manager from All-Star Transportation.

e All of these requests for stop/route changes were considered and all were rejected based off of the fact
that the current stop/route was within policy. None of the rejections have resulted in a request for
hearing at this time.

e One request was made for a driver removal. All-Star and the District both did their own independent
investigations and the request for the driver removal was denied.

Board of Education Policy 5163 is the lens through which each request for a change is evaluated. That
policy was last updated in October of 2023 and is attached to this memo.

Third-Tier & Late Buses

e All-Star has had to perform zero third-tier late runs during the current school year as they have filled
many open driver positions for New Milford without having to rely upon as many out of town drivers as
they had to in the past. New Milford currently has 4 spare drivers for when call outs occur. This number
fluctuates during the year.

e We have had 11 instances of delay 20, minutes or greater, either due to a mechanical issue or a driver
no show. The penalty as per contract is $111.54 per instance which 25% of the daily charge of $446.15.

All-Star Admin Staff

There have been significant shifts in the administrative team for the New Milford depot of All-Star
Transportation over the last 6 months:

e Joe Parise (formerly Steve Gardner) is now the General Manager.
e George Papadopoulos (formerly Patty Cote) is now the Terminal Manager.
e Amanda Jweinat (formerly Sarah Worley) is now the Dispatcher.

We continue to meet with All-Star administration to reinforce protocols to ensure smoother
operations and communications for the district.

Route Adjustments & Stop Finder App

e Asstudents moved schools, some of the routes that were consolidated in the past were resulting in arrival
times that were too close to school start times. To fix this, the stop times for the majority of our runs were
revised and communicated ahead of a November 3 implementation. In two instances students were
reassigned to a different bus. This mid-year adjustment is not typical but was required after careful review.

e The StopFinder application was temporarily suspended during this time but will be available again soon.

Sincerely,
Anthony J. Giovannone
Director of Fiscal Services and Opdr38ons



Series 5000 5163
Students

TRANSPORTATION

I. Statement of Policy

The Board of Education will provide transportation for students under provisions
of state law and regulations. In determining the provision of transportation, the
superintendent of schools shall consider the guidelines contained in this policy and shall
administer the operation so as to:

1. provide for the safety of students, including consideration of hazardous
conditions whether or not described in this policy;

2. provide for appropriate supervision for students while on school
transportation, consistent with the Board’s student discipline policy; and

3. assist disabled students by providing appropriate specialized transportation
when required by law.

1I. Definitions

1. "School transportation" means the procedure, program, or implemented
plan by which a pupil is transported to and/or from school from the
pupil’s residence or the assigned bus stop at public expense, whether by
use of publicly owned equipment or by contract. Such transportation shall
be over public roads approved and maintained by the municipality or the
state of Connecticut, or private roads approved pursuant to C.G.S. Section
10-220c.

2. "Walking distance" means the linear measure of a prescribed or authorized
pedestrian route between the pupil's residence and the pupil’s school from
a point at the curb or edge of a public or private road nearest the pupil's
residence to a point at the entrance of the school, or a safe entrance to the
school grounds located within one hundred feet of the school building
entrance or the bus pick-up area, or the route from the point on the public
thoroughfare nearest the residence to the school bus or vehicle
embarkation point established by the New Milford Board of Education.

3. "One mile walking distance" means a reasonable measurement of a route
to be traversed extending from the point of measurement at least 5,280

feet, but not more than 5,380 feet.

4. "Grade K" means kindergarten, or a school program appropriate to a
beginning pupil.

140



5. "Hazard" means a thing or condition, as prescribed in this policy under
"Hazardous Conditions" that affects the safety of pupils walking to or
from school and/or to or from a designated bus pick-up area.

6. "Sidewalk" means a portion of the landscape right of way approximately
three feet wide, usually parallel to the traffic lanes which may be paved or
unpaved, and marked by curbing, drainage ditch, grass area or fencing;
apart from and independent of any white line safety markings along the
street pavement.

7. "Raised walk area" means a portion of the landscape right of way
approximately three feet wide, usually parallel to the traffic lanes which
may be paved or unpaved, distinguished by some elevation above the
street pavement level and marked by curbing, drainage ditch, grass area or
fencing; apart from and independent of any painted safety markings along
the street pavement.

8. “Walking route” means the route that the student is expected to travel
between his/her residence to and from school and/or an assigned bus stop.

0. “Bus stop” shall be defined as a geographical location designated by the
Board of Education, school administration or their designee where
students can safely wait for purposes of embarking or disembarking a
school bus.

10. "Pupil" means any individual of school age enrolled in a public or
nonprofit private school located within the school district or contiguous
school district as the case may be.

I11. Provision of Transportation

Transportation by private carrier may be provided whenever such practice is
more economical than using school district-owned/leased facilities. If parents volunteer,
and the administration permits, parents may be reimbursed for transportation of eligible
students whenever such practice is more economical or convenient for the school district.

In determining the provision of transportation for resident public and eligible
private school students, the following guidelines regarding walking distances will be
considered. Distance measurements will be based on the most direct route from the
student's home beginning at a point at the curb or edge of a public road or highway
nearest the home to the edge of the school property or bus pickup areas.

Grade Limit
K-2 0.5 mile
3-8 1 mile
9-12 1.5 miles

141



Students living within the stated distance limits will receive transportation when,
in the opinion of the Superintendent of Schools, it is in the best interests of the district to
provide transportation.

IV. Access to Bus Stops/Transportation and Behavior

Parents and/or guardians are responsible for ensuring the safety of their children
up until the point when students board the school bus or other school provided
transportation, and after students get off the bus after school. This responsibility
includes the selection of walking routes to/from any bus stop and/or the school building,
compliance with health and safety precautions at the bus stop and along walking routes,
and the provision of supervision that is appropriate to the student’s age, maturity and
conditions along the walking route and/or at the bus stop at all times.

Given that bus pick up times may vary, the Board expects that parents and/or
guardians will ensure that their children arrive at the bus stop in advance of any
scheduled pick up time.

Students accessing school transportation are expected to behave in an appropriate
manner, in accordance with all school rules and regulations. The Board’s policies and
procedures concerning student discipline shall apply to student behavior while accessing
student transportation.

V. Hazardous Conditions

The administration shall consider the following guidelines for hazardous
conditions when making decisions regarding the transportation of children:

1. Except as provided in Paragraph 7 of this Section, a street or road, along a
designated walking route to or from school and/or to or from a designated
bus pick-up area, having an adjacent or parallel sidewalk or raised walk
area shall be deemed hazardous when any one of the following conditions
exist:

a) For pupils under age ten, or enrolled in grades K through 2:

@) the absence of a pedestrian crossing light or crossing guard where
three or more streets intersect, and a pupil is expected to cross the
street; OR

(ii) street crossings where there are no stop signs or crossing guards
and the traffic count during the time that pupils are walking to or
from school exceeds sixty vehicles per hour at the intersection, and
a pupil is expected to cross the street.

b) For pupils r enrolled in grades 3 through 12, the absence of a traffic light
or stop signs or crossing guard at an intersection where three or more
streets intersect which has a traffic count which exceeds ninety vehicles
per hour during the time that pupils are walking to or from school, and
such pupils are expected to cross the street;

142



c) For all pupils:

1) any street, road, or highway with speed limits in excess of forty
miles per hour which does not have pedestrian crossing lights or
crossing guards or other safety provisions at points where pupils
must cross when going to or from school or the bus stop; OR

(i1) the usual or frequent presence of any nuisance such as open
man-holes, construction, snow plowed or piled on the walk area
making walkways unusable, loading zones where delivery trucks
are permitted to park on walkways, commercial entrances and exits
where cars are crossing walking areas at speeds in excess of five
miles per hour, and the like, including such nuisances which are
hazardous or attractive to children.

Any street, road, or highway, along a designated walking route to or from
school and/or to or from a designated bus pick-up area, that has no
sidewalks or raised walk areas shall be deemed hazardous if any one of the
following conditions exist:

a) For pupils enrolled in grade K through 2:

@) any street, road, or highway possessing a traffic count of sixty or
more vehicles per hour at the time that pupils are walking to or
from school; OR

(ii) any street, road, or highway possessing a speed limit in excess of
thirty miles per hour.

b) For all pupils:
@) the presence of human-made hazards including attractive
nuisances, as stated in 1(c)(ii) above; OR

(ii) any roadway available to vehicles that does not have a minimum
width of approximately twenty-two feet; OR

(ii1))  any roadway available to vehicles that, when plowed free of snow
accumulations, does not have a minimum width of approximately
twenty feet; OR

(iv)  any street, road, or highway where the line-of-sight visibility
together with posted speed limits do not permit vehicular
braking/stopping in accordance with the Connecticut Drivers
Manual or Department of Transportation, Division of Design
Standard, or other reasonable standard.

Any walkway, path, or bridge, along a designated walking route to or
from school and/or to or from a designated bus pick-up area, in an area
adjacent or parallel to railroad tracks shall be considered hazardous unless
a suitable physical barrier along the entire pedestrian route is present and
fixed between pupils and the track; and any crossing of railroad tracks

143



carrying moving trains during hours that pupils are walking to or from
school or to and from a designated bus pick-up area shall be deemed
hazardous unless:

a) a crossing guard is present; OR

b) for pupils enrolled in K-2, an automatic control bar is present at crossings;
OR

c) for pupils enrolled 3-12, a bar or red flashing signal light is operational.

4. For pupils in grades K through 5, the following conditions shall be
deemed hazardous:

a) a lake, pond, stream, culvert, water-way, or bridge shall be deemed a
hazard in the absence of a fence or other suitable barrier fixed between the
pupil and the water; OR

b) any area adjacent to a roadway, sidewalk, or bridge, along a designated
walking route to or from school and/or to or from a designated bus pick-up
area, having a drop of three or more feet per four feet of travel length on
either side of the established lanes, in the absence of a fence or other
suitable barrier.

5. For pupils in grades K through 5 walking to or from school or the bus
stop at any time prior to one-half hour before sunrise or any time one-half
hour after sunset shall be deemed hazardous.

6. For all students, walking along any street, road, walkway, sidewalk, or
path designated as a walking route which passes through an area which has
a history of aggressive acts of molestation resulting in actual or threatened
physical harm or moral degradation during the hours when pupils
ordinarily walk to or from school shall be deemed hazardous.

7. It shall not be a “hazard” or “hazardous condition” for a pupil whose
residence abuts a public street, road or highway to (1) wait for the bus on
the private property where the pupil resides for the school bus, until the
school bus’s flashing red lights are activated to stop traffic so that the
student can enter onto or cross the public street, road or highway to get on
a school bus; or (2) exit a school bus that is stopped on the public street,
road or highway, when the bus’s flashing red lights are activated to stop
traffic so that the pupil can enter onto or cross such street, road or
highway to access the private property where the pupil resides.

VI. Applicability and Exceptions

1. This policy is applicable to public road approved and maintained by the
municipality or state of Connecticut, or private roads approved for passage

144



of school transportation vehicles in accordance with C.G.S. Section
10-220c.

2. Special Education pupils and pupils eligible for accommodations under
Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act shall be judged on an individual
basis, and appropriate transportation provided.

3. The Superintendent of Schools may grant an exception to any guideline set
forth in this policy where a peculiar condition or combination or
conditions renders such condition(s) a hazard based upon reasonable
judgment; or where under the circumstances, other conditions exist under
which the safety of students necessitates a variance with the guidelines
within this policy.

VII. Complaint Procedure

1. All complaints concerning school transportation safety shall be made in
writing to the Superintendent of Schools or designee. The Superintendent
or designee shall maintain a written record of all such complaints, and
shall conduct appropriate investigations of the allegations in a timely
manner. The investigation shall include 1) the review of the complaint
raised with appropriate personnel responsible for transportation of students
and 2) the opportunity for the parent or other person making the complaint
to meet with the Superintendent to discuss the complaint and any possible
resolution thereof.

2. Annually, within thirty (30) business days of the end of the school year,
the Superintendent of Schools or designee shall provide the Commissioner
of Motor Vehicles (“Commissioner”) with a copy of the written record of
complaints received during the previous twelve (12) month period.

3. The Superintendent of Schools or designee shall make a written report of
the circumstances of any accident within the Board’s jurisdiction and
knowledge, involving a motor vehicle and any pedestrian who is a student,
which occurs at a designated school bus stop or in the immediate vicinity
thereof, to the Commissioner within ten (10) business days thereafter on a
form prescribed by the Commissioner.

4. If a complaint covered by Section 10-186 of the Connecticut General
Statutes, and is not resolved by the Superintendent, the Superintendent
shall inform parent or guardian, or an emancipated minor or a pupil
eighteen years of age or older, of the right to request a hearing regarding
the complaint. Such hearing, if requested, shall be held in accordance
with Section 10-186 of the Connecticut General Statutes, as it may be
amended from time to time.

Legal Reference: Connecticut General Statutes

145



10-186 Duties of local and regional boards of education re: school attendance.
Hearings. Appeals to state board. Establishment of hearing board.
Readmission. Transfers.

10-187 Appeal from finding of hearing board.

10-220 Duties of boards of education.

10-220c Transportation of children over private roads. Immunity from Liability.

10-221c Development of policy for reporting complaints regarding school
transportation safety.

10-273a Reimbursement for transportation to and from elementary and secondary

schools.

10-280a Transportation for students in non-profit private schools outside school
district.

10-281 Transportation for pupils in nonprofit private schools within school
district.

14-275 Equipment and color of school buses.

14-275b Transportation of mobility impaired students.

14-275¢c Regulations re: school buses and motor vehicles used to transport special
education students.

Policy approved: October 19, 2023 NEW MILFORD PUBLIC SCHOOLS
New Milford, Connecticut

146



NEW MILFORD PUBLIC SCHOOLS
EMPLOYMENT REPORT
Regular Meeting of the Board of Education

New Milford, Connecticut
November 12, 2025 -Operations / November 18 BOE Meeting

CERTIFIED STAFF APPOINTMENTS

Vilma Belato
-1.0 Special
Education Teacher at
SNIS
-Effective Date:
November 5, 2025
-Salary $102,380 (6th
Year/Step 15) with 14
years of experience.
-Replacing M.
Przybysz who
transferred to Special
Education Teacher at
NES ($91,646).

Melissa Davino
-1.0 Elementary
Interventionlist at
HPS (1 Yr.Position)
-Effective Date:
November 10, 2025
-Salary $91,646
(MA/Step 14) with
over 10 years of
experience.
-Replacing
H.Sullivan who
transferred to Grade 2
Teacher at HPS
($58,409).

Josh DiBella
-1.0 Spanish Teacher
at SMS
-Effective Date:
November 17, 2025
-Salary $71,162
(MA/Step 9) with 5
years of experience.
-Replacing
A.Hynes who
transferred to
Assistant Principal at
SMS ($102,380).

Philip Wax

-1.0 Social Studies
Teacher at NMHS
-Effective Date:
October 23, 2025
-Salary $102,380 (6th
Year/Step 15) with 17
years of experience.
-Replacing
R.Costigan who
resigned ($61,324).

NON CERTIFIED STAFF APPOINTMENTS

Leanne Carroll

Amy Dressel

Karen Fanning

-.5 General Worker/Cashier at

HPS

-Effective Date: November

12, 2025

-Salary $17.50 per hour.
-Replacing N.Seelal-Safir

who resigned ($16.73 per

hour).

-.5 General Worker at NMHS

-Effective Date: November 3,

2025

-Salary $16.35 per hour.
-Replacing M.Pulgarin who

resigned ($16.35 per hour).

-.5 Library Clerk at SMS
-Effective Date: November
12,2025
-Salary $20.30 per hour.
-Replacing T.Torre who
transferred to Secretary to
Assistant Principal at SNIS
($19.76 per hour).

147




NON CERTIFIED STAFF RESIGNATIONS

Amy Dressel Bibi Khan
-.5 General Worker at NMHS -.5 General Worker at NMHS
-Effective Date: November 4, 2025 -Effective Date: October 31, 2025
-Salary $16.35 per hour. Resigned due to -Salary $16.35 per hour. Resigned due to
personal reasons personal reasons
INTERNAL TRANSFERS
None

148



New Milford Enrollment Matrix By School
November 3, 2025

Actual Proj Actual XZ’:':;: Actual Proj Actual | variance from I @WH Actual | Total Proj | Actual | variance from
06/01/23 25-26 11/03/25 | projection 06/01/23 | 25-26 |11/03/25 | the Projection (LYY o06/01/23 | 25-26 |11/03/25| the Projection
PK 56] 58] 63] 5 PK 48 45 64 19 PK 104] 103] 127] 24
K 139] 112] 96] -16 K 117] 98] 85] 13 K 256] 210] 181] -29
1 134] 106] 107] 1 1 120] 92] 93] 1 1 254] 198] 200] 2
2 128] 131] 137] 6 2 105] 116] 125] 9 2 233] 247] 262] 15
TOTALS 457] 407] 403] -4 TOTALS 390 351] 367] 16 TOTALS 847] 758] 770] 12
Actual Proj Actual f;:?r:;: Actual Proj Actual | variance from Actual Proj Actual | variance from
06/01/23 ¥ 11/03/25 R 06/01/23 y 11/03/25 | the Projection ¥ 11/03/25 | the Projection
25-26 Proiection | 25-26 ] 06/01/23 25-26 )
3 252] 247] 261] 14 6 281] 269 265] -4 9 293] 288] 269] 19
4 262] 259] 264] 5 7 255] 269] 267] -2 10 334] 248] 255] 7
5 250 235] 240] 5 8 286 | 246] 247] 1 1 302] 301] 300] -1
12 308] 284] 288] 4
TOTALS 764] 741] 765] 24 TOTALS 822] 784] 779] -5 TOTALS 1237] 1121] 1112] 9]
Actual Actual Proj Actual | 2526 | oo oricon of
Variance | 405024 to
06/01/23 | 11/01/24 | 25-26 |[11/03/25 | from the 1012025
Projection
PK-2 847 806 758 770 12 -36
SNIS 764 756 741 765 24 9
SMS 822 794 784 779 -5 -15
NMHS 1237 1155 1121 1112 9 -43
TOTALS 3670 3511 3404 3426 22 -85

LHTC total = 19

149



NOVEMBER 2025 FUNDRAISING REPORT

DEPT EVENT FUNDS USE

NMHS

Boys Soccer Cheedarup.com (crowdfunding) Offset costs of Apparel, Senior Night, Banquet
Girls Volleyball SnapRaise Offset costs of Apparel, Senior Night, Banquet
Girls Volleyball Sale of Cookie Dough Fund Team Activities, Senior Night, Banquet

French Honor Society

Sale of Crepes during Conferences

Senior Scholarship

French Honor Society

Class Royal Tournament

Senior Scholarship

NMHS Chorus

Karaoke Event at All Aboard Pizza

Chorus Events & Banquet

Class of 2027

Cinnabon Fundraiser

Fund Senior Prom & Other Activities

Class of 2028 Bake Sale at Conferences Fund Prom & Other Activities

Class of 2027 Chipotle Fundraiser Fund Senior Prom & Other Activities
Class of 2028 Bake Sale on 10/24/26 Fund Prom & Other Activities & Komen.org
Class of 2028 Savers Clothing Drive Fund Prom & Other Activities
German Honor Society Selling Waffles at Football Game GHS Scholarship

SMS

Drama Club Drama Club Performance Fund Next Performance

SNIS

PTO Welcome Back Foam Fest Fund Field Trips

PTO Boosterthon Fund Field Trips & Author Visits
PTO Boosterthon Banner Sponsorship Fund Each Grade Level

PTO Sale of Items during Lunch Waves Fund Holiday Shop

PTO School Merchandise Store Fund Each Grade Level
GRANTS/DONATIONS

SMS received a grant of $7,000 from the Battell-Stoekel Music Grant to purchase a baritone saxophone & accessories.

150




Approved Field Trips November 2025

Day(s) of the
School Grade/Dept. Trip Date Week # of Students | # of Adults Destination Subs Student Cost
NMHS 11-12 11/17/25 Monday 25 1 Washington Montesorri + Panera Bread 1 7

151




	11.18.25 BOE Meeting Agenda Packet TC
	11-18-2025 Agenda
	11.18.25 BOE Agenda Packet
	10.21.25 BOE Motions & Minutes TC
	11.12.25 Operations Agenda Packet TC
	BOE NOVEMBER 2025 - Budget Position
	BOE NOVEMBER 2025 - Purchase Resolution D800
	BOE NOVEMBER 2025 - Budget Transfer Request
	CURRENT MONTH


	11.05.25 Policy Revised Agenda Packet TC
	11.05.25 Policy Subcommittee Agenda Packet (2)
	1105 Policy and Administrative Regulations Regarding Non-Discrimination (Community) (1)
	Protected Class Discrimination Prohibited:
	Retaliation Prohibited:
	Discrimination on the Basis of Protected Class Association Prohibited:
	Scope and Applicability:
	Definitions:
	Alleged Discrimination/Harassment of Students or Employees:
	Alleged Discrimination/Harassment of Community Members on the Basis of Sex:
	Alleged Discrimination/Harassment of Community Members on the Basis of Disability:
	Reporting to District Officials:
	Reporting to State and Federal Agencies:
	Questions/Requests for Accommodation:
	Protected Class Discrimination Prohibited:
	Retaliation Prohibited:
	Discrimination on the Basis of Protected Class Association Prohibited:
	Scope and Applicability:
	Alleged Discrimination/Harassment of Students or Employees:
	Alleged Discrimination/Harassment of Community Members on the Basis of Sex:
	Alleged Discrimination/Harassment of Community Members on the Basis of Disability:
	Reporting to District Officials:
	Complaint Procedure:
	Complaint Procedure for Superintendent/Board Member Complaints:
	Remedial Action:
	Staff Development:
	Reporting to State and Federal Agencies:
	Questions/Requests for Accommodation:

	4111.1 4211.1 Policy and Administrative Regulations Regarding Non-Discrimination (Personnel) (2)
	Protected Class Discrimination Prohibited:
	Discrimination on the Basis of Erased Criminal History Prohibited:
	Retaliation Prohibited:
	Discrimination on the Basis of Protected Class Association Prohibited:
	Scope and Applicability:
	Definitions:
	Reporting to District Officials:
	Mandatory Staff Reporting for Student Incidents:
	Remedial Action:
	Reporting to State and Federal Agencies:
	Protected Class Discrimination Prohibited:
	Discrimination on the Basis of Erased Criminal History Prohibited:
	Retaliation Prohibited:
	Discrimination on the Basis of Protected Class Association Prohibited:
	Scope and Applicability:
	Reporting to District Officials:
	Mandatory Staff Reporting for Student Incidents:
	Complaint Procedure:
	Complaint Procedure for Superintendent/Board Members Complaints:
	Remedial Action:
	Staff Development:
	Reporting to State and Federal Agencies:





	_4118.113 4218.113 Policy and Administrative Regulations Regarding Prohibition of Sex Discrimination and Sexual Harassment in the Workplace(Personnel) Comparison Document .docx
	Any Board employee in receipt of allegations of sex discrimination or sexual harassment, or in receipt of a formal complaint, shall immediately forward such information to the Title IX Coordinator. Board employees may also make a report of sexual harassment and/or sex discrimination under Title IX to the U.S. Department of Education: Office for Civil Rights, Boston Washington DC Office, U.S. Department of Education, 8th Floor, 5 Post Office Square, Boston, MA 02109-3921 400 Maryland Avenue, SW, Washington, DC  20202-1475 (Telephone: 617-289-0111 (202) 453-6020). 
	 
	SEXUAL HARASSMENT IS ILLEGAL 

	11.18.25 BOE Meeting Agenda Packet TC
	11.18.25 BOE Agenda Packet
	11.05.25 Policy Revised Agenda Packet TC
	11.05.25 Policy Subcommittee Agenda Packet (2)
	5000 Policy and Administrative Regulations Regarding Non-Discrimination (Students) (2)
	Series 5000                                  5000
	Students
	Retaliation Prohibited:
	Discrimination on the Basis of Protected Class Association Prohibited:
	Scope and Applicability:
	Definitions:
	Biased Conduct:
	Reporting to District Officials:
	Mandatory Staff Reporting for Student Incidents:
	Remedial Action:
	Reporting to State and Federal Agencies:
	Questions/Requests for Accommodation:





	11.18.25 BOE Meeting Agenda Packet TC
	11.18.25 BOE Agenda Packet
	11.05.25 Policy Revised Agenda Packet TC
	11.05.25 Policy Subcommittee Agenda Packet (2)
	5000 Policy and Administrative Regulations Regarding Non-Discrimination (Students) (2)
	Protected Class Discrimination Prohibited:
	Retaliation Prohibited:
	Discrimination on the Basis of Protected Class Association Prohibited:
	Scope and Applicability:
	Reporting to District Officials:
	Mandatory Staff Reporting for Student Incidents:
	Complaint Procedure
	Remedial Action:





	11.18.25 BOE Meeting Agenda Packet TC
	11.18.25 BOE Agenda Packet
	11.05.25 Policy Revised Agenda Packet TC
	11.05.25 Policy Subcommittee Agenda Packet (2)
	5000 Policy and Administrative Regulations Regarding Non-Discrimination (Students) (2)
	Staff Development:
	Reporting to State and Federal Agencies:
	Questions/Requests for Accommodation:





	5145.7 Policy and Administrative Regulations Regarding Prohibition of Sex Discrimination and Sexual Harassment (Students) Comparison Document.docx
	Series 5000​​​​​​​​​​5145.7 R 

	11.18.25 BOE Meeting Agenda Packet TC
	11.18.25 BOE Agenda Packet
	11.05.25 Policy Revised Agenda Packet TC
	11.05.25 Policy Subcommittee Agenda Packet (2)
	9125 R Administrative Regulations Regarding Selection and Appointment of Board Counsel.docx


	Memo re Shepaug advisory


	11.18.25 BOE Meeting Agenda Packet TC
	11.18.25 BOE Agenda Packet
	11.12.25 Operations Agenda Packet TC
	BOE NOVEMBER 2025 - Update on Transportation - 4C

	11.12.25 Operations Agenda Packet TC
	11.12.25 Operations Agenda Packet TC


	11.18.25 BOE Meeting Agenda Packet TC
	11.18.25 BOE Agenda Packet
	11.12.25 Operations Agenda Packet TC
	11.12.25 Operations Agenda Packet TC


	11.18.25 BOE Meeting Agenda Packet TC
	11.18.25 BOE Agenda Packet
	11.12.25 Operations Agenda Packet TC
	Operations EE Report 11_12 and BOE Meeting 11_18.docx

	11.12.25 Operations Agenda Packet TC
	11.12.25 Operations Agenda Packet TC
	Enrollment w variance from proj 11.03.2025

	JP Fundraising November 2025
	Sheet1

	Approved Field Trips 25-26 - November '25





